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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Minshang
Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023, together with the
comparative information for the year ended 31 March 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022-23, the external economic environment remains full of
uncertainties, factors such as ongoing outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic,
supply chain disruption, rising of operational costs have brought
unprecedented challenges to the Group’s operations. Nevertheless, the
Group enhanced its efforts in business adjustment and transformation,
and gave greater focus on new development strategies, which allowed
itself to strike a balance between the existing business and to develop
new business opportunities.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has recorded total
revenue of approximately HK$106.6 million and loss attributable to the
Shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$1.4 million which
represented 88.3% decrease and 77.4% decrease, respectively, as
compared to the corresponding period in 2022.

PROSPECTS

In order to cope with the ever-changing external environment
and alleviate the increasingly severe pressure on profitability, the
Company plans to consolidating its resource and focus on the existing
businesses, at the same time keep exploring for new profit drivers.

Looking ahead, we believe that the domestic economy in the PRC
and Hong Kong is gradually recovering, while moving along the path
to normalcey, in particular the government of the PRC and Hong Kong
introduced certain incentives and promotions to stimulate economy, we
remain optimistic on the Group’s long-term prospects.

Digital economy and intellectual economy have become the socio-
economic development direction, and the IT industry is now
undermining how businesses are being promoted and developed more
than ever. Going forward, the Group wishes to focus its resources and
finance the development of the IT solution business which may have
a greater growth potential and align to its strategic corporate goal to
diversify into integrated e-commerce business.
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APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all our
Shareholders, fellow members of the Board and staff of all levels for
their dedication and effort over the years. In addition, on behalf of the
Board, | would also like to express our most sincere thanks to all our
customers and business partners for their continuous support.

WU Jiangtao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBWRE S

During the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Year under Review”),
Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), had three principal
businesses: (i) Viethnamese-style restaurant business; (i) trading
business; and (jii) information technology (“IT”) solution business. The
Vietnamese-style restaurant business was operated in Hong Kong
whereas the IT solution business and trading business were operated in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

REVENUE

Revenue of the Group decreased by approximately HK$803.7 million,
from HK$910.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2022 to HK$106.6
million for the year ended 31 March 2023. The decrease in revenue was
mainly due to the decrease in revenue from both trading business and
Vietnamese-style restaurant business, partially offset by the revenue
generated from our new [T solution business acquired during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

REVENUE OF RESTAURANTS OPERATION

The revenue of restaurants operation decreased by 25.3%, or HK$15.7
million, from HK$62.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2022 to
HK$46.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2023. Such decrease was
mainly due to (i) prolonged negative impact from COVID-19 pandemic;
(i) decrease in number of restaurants operating and (iii) the fierce
competition of food and beverage industry.

REVENUE OF TRADING BUSINESS

The revenue of trading business decreased by 100%, or HK$842.4
million, from HK$842.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2022 to nil
for the year ended 31 March 2023. Further to the reasons as explained
in the Company’s 2022 Annual Report and 2022 Interim Report,
despite the gradual recovery of domestic economy in the PRC, the
overall business environment remains complex and volatile. Given the
profit margin can be generated from the trading business is considered
to be minimal as compared to other business segments of the Group,
the management remains sitting on the fence in respect of the trading
business, and to temporarily re-allocate the available resources to other
business segments of the Group, so as to achieve the best return for
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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The Group’s trading business has been encountering various
challenges. Nonetheless, the Group will continue to develop the trading
business and diversify its products mix should suitable opportunities
arise. It is expected that the global economy will recover gradually,
the Group remains optimistic on the mid to long-term prospects of its
trading business.

REVENUE OF IT SOLUTION BUSINESS

The revenue of IT solution business increased by 918.6%, or HK$54.2
million, from HK$5.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2022 to
HK$60.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2023. Such increase
in revenue was mainly contributed by the new subsidiaries acquired
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

COST OF REVENUE

The cost of revenue mainly comprised of the cost of food and
beverages, the cost of inventories sold and cost of [T solution business.
Cost of revenue decreased by HK$811.7 million, from HK$873.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2022 to HK$61.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 20283. The cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue
decreased from 95.9% for the year ended 31 March 2022 to 57.6% for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

COST OF FOOD AND BEVERAGES

The Group’s cost of food and beverages decreased by 27.1%, or
HK$4.8 million, from HK$17.7 million for the year ended 31 March
2022 to HK$12.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2023. The
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in revenue for the year ended
31 March 2023. As a percentage of revenue of restaurant business,
cost of food and beverage represented 28.5% and 27.8% in 2022 and
2023, respectively.

COST OF INVENTORIES SOLD FROM TRADING
BUSINESS

The Group’s cost of inventories sold from trading business decreased
by 100%, or HK$839.6 million, from HK$839.6 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022 to nil for the year ended 31 March 2023.
Such decrease was in line with the decrease in revenue from trading
business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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COST OF IT SOLUTION BUSINESS

The cost of revenue from IT solution business increased by 207%, or
HK$32.7 million, from HK$15.8 million for the year ended 31 March
2022 to HK$48.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2023. Such
increase was mainly contributed by the new subsidiaries acquired
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

STAFF COSTS

The Group’s staff costs decreased by 4.5%, or HK$1.1 million, from
HK$24.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2022 to HK$23.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023. Such decrease was primarily due to
the closure of restaurants and the decrease in number of headcounts
of the Group.

PROPERTY RENTALS AND RELATED EXPENSES

The Group’s property rentals and related expenses (being the aggregate
of lease rental, depreciation of right-of-use assets and the interest
expenses arisen from lease liabilities) decreased by 6.2%, or HK$1.0
million, from HK$16.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2022 to
HK$15.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2023. The decrease was
mainly due to the closure of restaurants during the year.

SHARE OF RESULTS OF ASSOCIATES

The Group held 50% equity interest in 4t R R & & 2 E T @ 15 A R
/A A] (Beijing Minshang Zhihui E-commerce Co., Ltd*, “Minshang
Zhihui”) through a wholly-owned subsidiary, MSCT Investment Limited
(R Al &% & A BR 2 8]), which was recognised as investment in
associate. Minshang Zhihui was primarily engaged in technology and
e-commerce related business with a focus on its scenario marketing
system and supply chain management capability to provide various
banks, financial institutions and sizable corporations with e-commerce
service. Minshang Zhihui mainly developed and operated e-commerce
platforms for commercial banks in the PRC, and generated profits by
selling goods on platforms developed for large-scale corporation and
platforms owned by Minshang Zhihui (i.e. 3 = 58, E 42 Eand
Ef& /). Share of post-tax profits of Minshang Zhihui increased by
39.3%, or HK$3.5 million, from HK$8.9 million for the year ended 31
March 2022 to HK$12.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2023. The
increase in share of results of Minshang Zhihui was mainly due to higher
profit margin generated by Minshang Zhihui by comparing with the last
corresponding period based on market demand resulted from gradual
recovery of domestic economy in the PRC.

* English name is translated for identification purpose only.
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SHARE STRUCTURE

The Company’s issued share capital as at 31 March 2023 was
HK$2,233,187 divided into 893,274,910 ordinary shares of the
Company with par value of HK$0.0025 each.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

Being affected by the factors referred to above, the loss attributable to
the shareholders of the Company was approximately HK$1.4 million for
the year ended 31 March 2023 as compared to the loss attributable to
the shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$6.0 million for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
HK$9.7 million, representing a decrease of 59.2%, or HK$14.1 million,
as compared with HK$23.8 million as at 31 March 2022.

The issued shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 29 November 2016 (the “Listing Date” and the
“Listing”, respectively). The Group will continue to use the internal
generated cash flows and proceeds received from the Listing as a
source of funding for future developments.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s total current assets and current
liabilities were HK$83.7 million (2022: HK$79.4 million) and HK$43.5
million (2022: HK$31.3 million) respectively, while the current ratio was
about 1.9 times (2022: 2.5 times).

On 11 June 2019, R &I %} (2 )%) & F 8% A R 2 7] (‘Minshang
Ningbo”), has a loan facility from dt R R MBI BRI EBR Q2 5, a
related party of the Group, amounted to RMB11,200,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$12,226,000) with a maturity on 10 June 2022. Such
loan is repayable on demand, bears interest at 7.5% per annum.

On 3 April 2022, such loan was fully repaid by the Group.

As at 31 March 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group was 0% (2022:
0.1%), which was calculated based on total borrowings including bank
and other borrowings, divided by equity attributable to shareholders
of the Company. The net debt to equity ratio which was defined as
total borrowings including bank and other borrowings net of cash and
cash equivalents divided by equity attributable to shareholders of the
Company, was at net cash position as at 31 March 2023 (2022: same).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date
with net proceeds from the global offering of the Shares of HK$70.9
million. As disclosed in the announcements of the Company “Change
in Use of Proceeds from Listing” published on 19 September 2019
and 24 September 2021, having carefully considered the current
business environment and development needs of the Group, the board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”) has resolved to change the
proposed use of part of the Unutilised Net Proceeds in the amount
of HK$20 million originally allocated for broadening cuisine offerings,
to (i) investing in new businesses on supply trading on food and
other consumer goods; and (i) working capital and general corporate
purposes; and further resolved to change the proposed use of part of
the Unutilised Net Proceeds in the amount of HK$10 million originally
allocated for broadening cuisine offerings to working capital and general
corporate purposes.

The use of the net proceeds from the Listing as at 31 March 2023 was
approximately as follows:

LTHRERRFHEAE

BOHREMBHEBRAH LW BHE2EREE
FTEZIEFBEAT00EEE T - AW AR AR
20199 A 19 %2021 49 A24 H T 3wy [ &
ELEWAEREAR|AEMEE  F4HEER
CSEENMNEERENBES K  ARAEES
((BEEg)ERRET RS EFERERENE
XD REAATERIBFEE20H &5 T i
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SHFER  R()AREEEE R —MOERE:
WHE— P RFZEERIADRIEREREMNEN
ZEADARBEAMBRIEFHEIOEE B LT
B LAREEES R —MOEERR -

R202343A31H » LIS RIBFEARA
R IFIAE

Expected
timeline for
utilisation of
Original Revised Amount Amount the Unutilised
allocation  Re-allocations allocation utilised remaining Net Proceeds
ABAFRGRERE
Use of Proceeds FEFERE REDE ENAE EYAE EBRLE BreE BOFARER
(in HKS millior) ~ (in HKS million) (i HKS millon)  (in HKS millon) — (in HKS million)
(B53T) (BEET) (BE3T) (BEET) (BEET)
Maintain and expand Viet's Choice 445 RIB 7S #iks g 16.5 = 16.5 (16.5) - By March 2024
brand restaurants ZE 2024 3 A Al
Broaden cuising offerings BREREMRHES 436 (30.0) 136 (6.6) 7.0 By March 2024
20245 3 Al
Upgrade and expand food processing 74 k% & @ 11T 2.3 - 2.3 0.1) 2.2 By March 2024
centre T 202453 ARl
Upgrade information technology FREARE A 19 - 19 (14) 05 By March 2024
systems 20243 A7l
Broaden the promotion of brand RIREFRRAGE 1.1 - 1.1 (19 - NA
image and recognition TEA
Working capital and general corporate £8E & K —R(c% 55 20.0 255 (23.5) 2.0 By September 2023
pUOSes A 202349 AR0
Invest in new supply chain business X & ¥ EHE %75 0 10.0 10.0 (10.0) - NA
TER
Total Bt 709 - 709 (59.2) 1.7
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The Net Proceeds utilised and the Unutilised Net Proceeds were/will
be utilised according to the proposed application as specified in the
section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus
of the Company dated 17 November 2016 (“Prospectus”), the
Company’s announcement dated 19 September 2019, 13 August 2020
and 24 September 2021.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated 24
December 2021, 31 March 2022, 17 May 2022 and 22 June 2022,
on 24 December 2021, the Group, through one of its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, entered into a sale and purchase agreement with four
independent third parties (the “Vendors”), pursuant to which the Group
agreed to acquire and the Vendors agreed to sell 100% equity interests
in Context Image Holdings Limited (the “Target Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Target Group”), at a maximum consideration of
HK$114,236,118 which shall be settled by way of allotment and issue
of a maximum of 171,783,636 consideration shares by the Company
to the Vendors in three stages at the issue price of HK$0.665 per
consideration share under the General Mandate.

The allotment and issue of the second stage consideration shares and
the third stage consideration shares shall be subject to the following
financial guarantees given by the Vendors and the Vendors’ guarantors
with reference to the audited financial statements of the Target
Group for the financial years ending 31 December 2022 (the “2022
Financial Guarantee”) and 31 December 2023 (the “2023 Financial
Guarantee”), respectively:
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2022 FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

(1)  the audited consolidated revenue of the Target Group (after
taxation and minority interest and exclude non-recurring income,
extraordinary income and non-operating income) (“Audited
Consolidated Revenue”) for the financial year ending 31
December 2022 shall be no less than RMB50,000,000; and

(2)  the audited consolidated net profit of the Target Group (after
taxation and minority interest and exclude non-recurring income,
extraordinary income and non-operating income) (“Audited
Consolidated Net Profit”) for the financial year ending 31
December 2022 shall be no less than RMB5,000,000.

If the Target Group fails to meet the 2022 Financial Guarantee, no
second stage consideration shares will be issued to the Vendors.

2023 FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

(1)  the Audited Consolidated Revenue for the financial year ending
31 December 2023 shall be no less than RMB120,000,000; and

(2)  the Audited Consolidated Net Profit for the financial year ending
31 December 2023 shall be no less than RMB24,000,000.

If the Target Group fails to meet the 2023 Financial Guarantee, no third
stage consideration shares will be issued to the Vendors.

The Target Group consists of the Target Company, CISC (HK) Holdings
Limited and % &= & R (It =) B £ B R 2 7 (Changjing Wanxiang
(Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.*, “Changjing Wanxiang”), and is
principally engaged in the provision and design of SaaS systems and
IT solution services to its customers, including financial institutions and
merchants ranging from the retail, food and beverage, travel, lifestyle
sectors, to build and improve their direct operation capabilities with
their digital users through membership services.

* English name is translated for identification purpose only.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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The Board considers that the acquisition of the Target Group represents
a good investment opportunity for the Company, having considered the
growth potential of the SaaS industry and the business prospect of the
Target Group leveraging on the experience of the management team of
the Target Group in the industry. The directors of the Company believe
that the acquisition of the Target Group enables the Group to diversify
its income stream, thereby enhance shareholders value in the long run.

On 22 June 2022, the Company allotted and issued 34,356,728
consideration shares to the Vendors and the acquisition of the Target
Group was completed, the Target Group becomes the subsidiaries of
the Group since then.

Save for disclosed above, there was no other material acquisitions,
disposals and significant investments during the year ended 31 March
2023.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
() DISPOSAL OF A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY

On 27 April 20283, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party (the “Buyer”), pursuant
to which the Company agreed to sell and the Buyer agreed to
acquire 100% equity interests in Prosperity One Limited and its
subsidiaries (the “Disposal Group”) at a cash consideration of
HK$31 million.

The Board is of the view that The Vietnamese-style restaurant
business has been materially adversely affected by the outbreak
of COVID-19 in the past few years, despite the social distancing
and travel restriction measures having been lifted and the
outbreak of COVID-19 being under control in Hong Kong, with
the negative market sentiment, local consumers’ low inclination to
dine out and keen competition in the food and beverage industry,
it is expected that the Restaurant Business may not have a
significant improvement in its business performance in near to
medium-term.

As such, the Board considers that it is a good opportunity
to dispose of the Viethamese-style restaurant business at a
reasonable price and the proceeds from the disposal can further
strengthen the cash position of the Group and will allow the
Group to focus its resources and finance the development of the
IT solution services business which may have a greater growth
potential.
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()

(1)

SUBSCRIPTION OF 8.5% NOTES

On 2 May 2023, the Company and China Tonghai International
Financial Limited (the “Issuer”, the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 952))
entered into the subscription agreement in relation to the
subscription of bonds by the Company in the principal amount
of HK$10,000,000 issued by the Issuer bearing interest on their
outstanding principal amount from and including the issue date at
the rate of 8.5% per annum, payable on the maturity date of 30
April 2024. The Subscription was completed on 2 May 2023.

EXTENSION OF SHAREHOLDER’S LOAN TO A
COMMONLY HELD ENTITY

On 31 December 2018, MSEC Investment (HK) Limited
(“MSEC HK”) entered into the Shareholder’s Loan Agreement
with Minshang Zhihui (as supplemented and amended by the
Supplemental Shareholder’s Loan Agreement dated 20 March
2019 entered into between the same parties), pursuant to which
MSEC HK as lender conditionally agreed to grant Minshang Zhihui
as borrower the unsecured shareholder’s loan in an aggregate
amount of HK$22,500,000 at an interest rate of 8% per annum
for a term of 24 months from each of the Drawdown Date.
Given that only the conditions precedent to the drawdown of the
First Loan had been fulfilled, an aggregate principal amount of
HK$15,000,000 was eventually drawn down by Minshang Zhihui.

On 14 May 2021, MSEC HK entered into the second
supplemental shareholder’s loan agreement (the “2nd
Supplemental Shareholder’s Loan Agreement”) with Minshang
Zhihui, pursuant to which MSEC HK and Minshang Zhihui agreed
to extend the term of the Shareholder’s Loan from the period
commencing from the relevant Drawdown Date and ending on
the 24th month from the date thereon to a period commencing
from the relevant Drawdown Date and ending on the 48th month
from the date thereon (i.e. 15 May 2023) (the “Extension of
Shareholder’s Loan”).

On 11 May 2023, MSEC HK entered into the third supplemental
shareholder’s loan agreement (the “3rd Supplemental
Shareholder’s Loan Agreement”) with Minshang Zhihui,
pursuant to which MSEC HK and Minshang Zhihui agreed to
extend the term of the Shareholder’s Loan from the period
commencing from the relevant Drawdown Date and ending on
the 48th month from the date thereon to a period commencing
from the relevant Drawdown Date and ending on the 84th month
from the date thereon (i.e. 15 May 2026) (the “Extension of
Shareholder’s Loan”).

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 11 May
2023.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there was no significant events
occurred since the end of the Year under Review and up to the
date of this report.

(IV) PROVISION OF NEW SHAREHOLDER'’S LOAN
TO A COMMONLY HELD ENTITY

On 12 June 2023, MSEC HK entered into a new shareholder’s
loan agreement with Minshang Zhihui, pursuant to which MSEC
HK as lender conditionally agreed to grant Minshang Zhihui as
borrower the unsecured shareholder’s loan in an aggregate
amount of HK$11,000,000 at an interest rate of 8% per annum
for a term of 12 months from the Drawdown Date (subject to
an extension of a further term of 12 months upon service of
the written notice by the parties thereto). On the same date, a
principal amounting to HK$11,000,000 was drawn down by
Minshang Zhihui.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 12 June
2028.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 54 employees (2022: 88
employees). Remuneration is determined by reference to prevailing
market terms and in accordance with the performance, qualification and
experience of each individual employee. The Group also encouraged
employees to enhance their overall career development and knowledge
and skills through continuous education and training courses, so as to
realize their personal potential.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company, with reference to their
respective contribution of time, effort and expertise on the Company’s
matters. The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 8 November 2016 to reward the participants
defined thereunder for their contribution to the Group’s success and
to provide them with incentives to further contribute to the Group. The
Share Option Scheme has become effective on 29 November 2016. In
addition, employees are entitled to performance and discretionary year-
end bonuses.

No share option was granted during the Year Under Review. As at 31
March 2023, the Company had no outstanding share option under the
Share Option Scheme.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any mortgage or charge
over its assets.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Company’s long-term goal is to is to become a diversified
and integrated group of high-efficiency industrial chain and scale
business, while exploring the e-commerce business of other consumer
products with a determination to establish a diversified and integrated
e-commerce platform.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

For the restaurant operation, most of the transactions of the Group
are denominated in HK$. For the trading business and IT solution
business, the Group’s income and costs were mainly denominated in
RMB. The Group was exposed to foreign exchange risk based on the
fluctuations between HK$ and RMB arising from the trading business
and IT solution business in the PRC. The Group does not employ any
financial instruments for hedging purposes. While the Board currently
does not expect currency fluctuations to materially impact the Group’s
operations, the Board will review the foreign exchange exposure of the
Group from time to time as appropriate.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

PROSPECTS

The Company’s strategic goal is to become a diversified and integrated
group of high-efficiency industrial chain and scale business, while
exploring the e-commerce business of other consumer products with
a determination to establish a diversified and integrated e-commerce
platform. In the foreseeable future, we remain confident in the business
prospects of the Group.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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IT SOLUTION BUSINESS

Along with the technological advancement in the last decade,
digital economy has been rapidly developing and becomes
a major trend of interaction between merchants and users.
Meantime, industries and enterprises are facing various
challenges brought by COVID-19 pandemic in recent years,
which has however boosted up the “non-contact” online services
and digital transformation in businesses. The development of
various industries in the current era is focusing on user demand,
offering better end-users experience and providing high-quality
services and products, which is of great strategic significance to
the development of enterprises by gaining end-users’ loyalty to
the brand through digital transformation.

The Directors anticipated that the extensive applications of “non-
contact” online services and digital transformation in businesses
in post-pandemic era would drive the growth of the IT solution
business and bring more business opportunities to the software
and IT solutions projects of the Group. The Company believes
that the SaaS industry in the PRC has a significant room for
expansion with a lot of the Chinese enterprises start to shift
away from hardware infrastructure to cloud-based infrastructure.
Together with the Group’s existing IT solution business, the
Group strives to maintain the existing customers base of its IT
solution business, and aims to further increase its market shares
by exploring the customer and business needs and promoting the
e-commerce platform operations, live broadcast operations and
IT solutions outsourcing services.

In the future, the Group will unswervingly optimise our IT solution
business by continuously enhancing the experience of products
and services to a wide range of enterprises in different industries
in order to create value-added benefits to the enterprises.

TRADING BUSINESS

Despite the challenges the Group is facing under the global and
domestic economy environment and the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Group will continue to develop the trading business and
diversify its products mix should suitable opportunities arise.

RESTAURANT BUSINESS

The restaurant operation has been materially adversely affected
by the outbreak of COVID-19, with the negative market sentiment,
local consumers’ low inclination to dine out and keen competition
in the food and beverage industry in Hong Kong, it is expected
that the Vietnamese-style Restaurant Business may not have a
significant improvement in its business performance in near to
medium-term. As such, the management considers that it is a
good opportunity to dispose of the Vietnamese-style Restaurant
Business at a reasonable price. Yet, the management is still
exploring for new opportunities in the food and beverage industry
and may continue its food and beverage business should suitable
opportunities arise.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EFhEREHEBREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR. WU JIANGTAO

Mr. WU Jiangtao (“Mr. Wu”), aged 47, is the Chairman of the Board
and an executive Director of the Company since 6 July 2018. Mr. Wu
obtained a bachelor’s degree in monetary and banking from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics in July 1998, a master’s degree
of economics from Chinese Academy of Social Science in July 2007
and a Ph.D degree in finance from Jiangxi University of Finance and
Economics in December 2012. Mr. Wu was the chairman of the board
of directors and chief executive officer of Minsheng E-Commerce Co.,
Ltd (REEFEEERE TR F]) from December 2013 to April 2015.
Mr. Wu has been the chairman of the board of directors of Minsheng
E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen) Ltd (“Minsheng E-Commerce”)
since April 2015 until now. Prior to joining Minsheng E-Commerce Co.,
Ltd, Mr. Wu served as the branch manager of China Minsheng Bank
Wuhan Branch from November 2011 to December 2013.

Mr. Wu has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles”). Mr. Wu will receive a director’s remuneration of
HK$10,000 monthly which was determined with reference to his duties
and responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the prevailing
market conditions.

MR. TAO JINGYUAN

Mr. TAO Jingyuan (“Mr. Tao”), aged 38, is an executive Director of the
Company since 6 March 2020 and the chief executive officer of the
Company since 30 November 2022. Mr. Tao received his bachelor’s
degree in Engineering Mechanics at Tsinghua University in July 2007
and his master’s degree in Finance at the University of Hong Kong
in June 2012. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Tao had worked as
senior manager of corporate business department of Harvest Fund
Management Co., Ltd. from July 2007 to July 2010; vice president of
Asia Pacific region business department of Harvest Global Investments
from August 2010 to May 2012; General Manager of private banking
department of China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd Wuhan Branch
from May 2012 to July 2015. After that, Mr. Tao joined Minsheng
E-Commerce in September 2015 and has been serving as vice president
of Minsheng E-Commerce & General Manager of Finance Division and
is appointed as the chief executive officer of Minsheng E-Commerce
since July 2022.
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Mr. Tao has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Tao will receive a
director’s remuneration of HK$10,000 monthly which was determined
with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company, his
experience and the prevailing market conditions, but will not receive
remuneration for his services as the CEO of the Company.

MR. LAI XIAOPENG MICHAEL

Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael (“Mr. Lai”), aged 36, is an executive
Director of the Company since 30 November 2022. Mr. Lai joined
the Group since July 2018, served as deputy general manager of
Hong Kong business department of Minsheng E-Commerce. Mr. Lai
received his bachelor’'s degree in Law at Jiangxi University of Finance
and Economics in July 2012 and has over 10 years of experience in
cross boarder business, specialising in Hong Kong-Mainland China
businesses. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lai worked in China
Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd, Hong Kong Branch, as relationship
manager of commodities and frozen product department from
September 2012 to May 2015, and was promoted as the team head of
cross boarder business department from May 2015 to June 2018.

Mr. Lai has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Lai will receive a director’s
remuneration of HK$10,000 monthly which was determined with
reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company, his
experience and the prevailing market conditions.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR. CHOI TZE KIT, SAMMY

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy (“Mr. Choi”), aged 60, is an independent
non-executive Director and the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company since 6 July 2018. Mr. Choi has over 35 years of experience
in finance and auditing. Mr. Choi has been an independent non-
executive director of Prinx Chengshan (Cayman) Holding Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1809.HK) since 10 September 2018. From October 2016 to
August 2017, Mr. Choi was an independent non-executive director of
Ernest Borel Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1856.HK). From January
2007 to November 2015, Mr. Choi was an independent non-executive
director of Fufeng Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 546.HK) and from February
2016 to February 2017, he was an independent non-executive director
of PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited, the shares of which are
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2078.HK).
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Mr. Choi graduated from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (currently
known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) in 1985. He is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
(“ICAEW”), a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (“ACCA”), a fellow Certified Public Accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), a fellow
member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Choi is now a committee member of Professional Development
Committee and Branding and Communication Committee of the
HKICPA. He has also been a council member of Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Merchants Mutual Assistance Society Limited since October 2013.
He was a council member of The Society of Chinese Accountants
and Auditors from 2010 to 2015. He has been elected as an honorary
financial advisor of Hong Kong and Kowloon Rattan Ware Merchants
Association (Wing Hing Tong) in 2018.

Mr. Choi has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company as
an independent non-executive Director for a term of one year subject
to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Choi will
receive a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000 annually which was
determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the
Company, his experience and the prevailing market conditions.

MR. CHEUNG MIU

Mr. CHEUNG Miu (“Mr. M. Cheung”), aged 53, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 6 July 2018, obtained
a bachelor’s degree in business administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in December 1992 and a master’s degree in
business administration from The University of New South Wales in May
1998. Mr. M. Cheung has years of experiences in the finance industry.
He joined CITIC Capital Holding Limited in 1999 and is currently a
senior managing director and head of structured investment and
finance of CITIC Capital Holdings Limited. He has been appointed as a
director of China National Investment & Guaranty Corporation, shares
of which are listed on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations,
since 25 April 2017. He was employed by Commonwealth Bank of
Australia from January 1998 to May 1999 and his last position with the
bank was as executive in the corporate finance department. He was
the assistant manager of the investment banking department of Societe
Generale Asia Limited from January 1995 to February 1996.
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Mr. M. Cheung has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director for a term of one
year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.
Mr. M. Cheung will receive a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000
annually which was determined with reference to his duties and
responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the prevailing
market conditions.

MR. CHEUNG PAK TO

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To (“Mr. P.T. Cheung”), BBS, aged 74, is an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since 6 July 2018.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of Amasse Capital
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8168.HK) and also an independent non-
executive director of Greenheart Group Limited (stock code: 94.HK).
He was an independent non-executive director of National Agricultural
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1236.HK) from 1 January 2017 to 8
November 2019. Mr. P.T. Cheung holds a master’s degree in public
administration from the University of Hong Kong of which he was
accorded as a distinguished alumnus in 2007. Mr. P.T. Cheung has
extensive management and administrative experiences. From 1969,
Mr. P.T. Cheung had served with the United Kingdom Government,
British Forces in Hong Kong for 21 years, with his final post as a
Civilian Executive Officer. Thereafter from 1989, he was employed by
the Securities and Futures Commission Hong Kong for 20 years, with
his final position as Senior Manager of the Finance & Administration
Department. On the social and community responsibilities front, Mr.
P.T. Cheung was a devoted volunteer officer in the Hong Kong Civil Aid
Service for 30 years during which he was appointed as honorary Aide-
de-Camp to the former Governors Lord Wilson and Mr. Christopher
Patten; and Mr. Tung Chee-hwa, the former Chief Executive of Hong
Kong Government, for 10 consecutive years from 1990 to 1999. Mr.
P.T. Cheung achieved the rank of Assistant Commissioner in the Hong
Kong Civil Aid Service and was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star
by the Hong Kong Government in 2003. Mr. Cheung has been the
chairman of United Services Recreation Club Limited since June 2015.

Mr. P.T. Cheung has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director for a term of one
year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.
Mr. Cheung will receive a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000
annually which was determined with reference to his duties and
responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the prevailing
market conditions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to its
Shareholders and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value
through good corporate governance.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view to ensuring
that its objectives are met. The Board is committed to maintaining and
developing robust corporate governance practices that are intended to
ensure:

satisfactory and sustainable returns to shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded;

- that overall business risk is understood and managed
appropriately; and

- that high standards of ethics are maintained.

The Board is committed to achieving high corporate governance
standards.

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating elements of
good corporate governance in the management structures, internal
control and risk management procedures of the Group so as to achieve
effective accountability.

The Company has adopted and, save for the deviation from code
provision C.5.1 of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) as disclosed in this annual report, has complied with all
applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the Board should
meet regularly and board meetings should be held at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. The Company does not
announce its quarterly results and hence not consider the holding of
quarterly meetings as necessary.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct governing
the securities transactions by the Directors or terms no less exacting
than the Model Code. Following a specific enquiry made by the
Company on each of the Directors, all Directors have confirmed that
they had complied with the Model Code during the year ended 31
March 2028.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of the
Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and ensures
that the requisite financial and human resources support is in place for
the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions performed by the
Board include but are not limited to formulating the Group’s business
plans and strategies, deciding all significant financial (including major
capital expenditure) and operational issues, developing, monitoring
and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance practices and all
other functions reserved to the Board under the Articles. The Board
has established Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference. The Board may from time to time delegate certain
functions to management of the Group if and when considered
appropriate. The management is mainly responsible for the execution of
the business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board and
assigned to it from time to time.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and are
entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense.
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COMPOSITION OF BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company is committed to holding the view that the Board should
include a balanced composition of executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) so that there is a strong
independent element on the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgment.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises the following
six Directors, three of whom are executive Directors and the other three
are INEDs. Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. WU Jiangtao (Chairman)

Mr. TAO Jingyuan (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael (Appointed on 30 November 2022)
Mr. LU Sheng Hong (Resigned on 10 January 2023)

Ms. LI Jia (Resigned on 30 November 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy

Mr. CHEUNG Miu

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report. The relationships between the Directors are
disclosed in the respective Director’s biography under the section
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this Annual
Report. Save as disclosed above, there is no relationships (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s))
between the Board members and in particular, between the Chairman
and the Chief Executive.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The INEDs have brought in a wide range of business and financial
expertise, experience and independent judgement to the Board.
Through active participation in the Board meetings and serving on
various Board committees, all INEDs will continue to make various
contributions to the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company had three or more
INEDs, representing more than one-third of the Board members, which
has exceeded the requirement of the Listing Rules that the number
of INEDs must represent at least one-third of the Board members,
and also met the requirement that at least one of the INEDs has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.
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The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. Based on such confirmation, the Company considers that all
the INEDs are independent and have met the independence guidelines
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31
March 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

The Chairman holds at least one meeting with the non-executive
Directors (including the INEDs) without the presence of the other
executive Director annually.

Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the
Directors has been arranged by the Company.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION

The Company has established a board independence evaluation
mechanism during the year ended 31 March 2023 which sets out the
processes and procedures to ensure a strong independent element on
the Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises independent
judgment to better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement
or further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what
actions of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve the
Board performance, for instance, addressing individual training and
development needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the board independence evaluation mechanism, the Board
will conduct annual review on its independence. During the Reporting
Period, the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the board independence evaluation mechanism and the results were
satisfactory.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each of the Directors has received a formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and business and is fully aware of the director’s responsibilities under
statue and common law, the Listing Rules, other legal and regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.
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The Company will provide briefings to all Directors from time to time to
develop and refresh their duties and responsibilities. All Directors are
also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expense and they have been requested to provide the Company with
their training records.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors were provided
with monthly updates on the Company’s performance and position
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties. All Directors were encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to enhance and refresh their knowledge and
skills.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of
training received by Directors during the year ended 31 March 2023 is
as follows:

ARABBAIRRAL2EBESRRGR FESHS
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Continuous
professional
development

programs
Name of Directors EEHE FEEXRRETE
Mr. WU Jiangtao RILEhE v
Mr. TAO Jingyuan bR B R S A v
Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael FERENS 5 A4
(Appointed on 30 November 2022) (R20224F 11 30 HEZ(T) v
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy 1A v
Mr. CHEUNG Miu SR St A v
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To oK {H PR 5 A v
Resigned: 2T :
Mr. LU Sheng Hong (Resigned on 10 January 2023) BERBAL 4 (R 20234 1 A 10 H B F) v
Ms. LI Jia (Resigned on 30 November 2022) TEL LT (R20224F 11,530 HFF(E) v

The nature of continuous professional development programs includes
attending seminars/conferences/forums or reading newspapers,
journals and updates relating to the economy, general business,
corporate governance, Listing Rules and other laws and regulation
amendments and directors’ duties and responsibilities.

LIABILITY INSURANCE ON DIRECTORS

The Company has purchased insurances for all Directors to
minimise risks that may be incurred in their normal performance of
responsibilities.
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MEETINGS OF THE BOARD AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The Board meets regularly, and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at
least 14 days in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice is given
in a reasonable time in advance. The Directors are allowed to include
any matter in the agenda that is required for discussion and resolution
at the meeting. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on
issues arising at each of the Board meetings and to make informed
decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers are sent
to all Directors at least three days before the intended date of the
regular Board meeting, or such other period as agreed for other Board
meetings. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes.
Draft and final versions of the minutes will be circulated to the Directors
for comments and record respectively within a reasonable time after
each meeting and the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board convened a total of
three meetings in person or by means of electronic communication.
The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and general
meetings of the Company held during the year ended 31 March 2023 is
as follows:
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No. of Attendance/No. of Meeting

Name of Directors BEEMHS HEREGERE
Annual
General Board
Meeting Meeting
BRRAERE Ezgsz
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. WU Jiangtao RIEkE 1/1 3/3
Mr. TAO Jingyuan PRt iR & 1/1 3/3
Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael REREME 5 4
(Appointed on 30 November 2022) (R20224 11 A 80 HEZ(T) - -
Mr. LU Sheng Hong BB LE
(Resigned on 10 January 2023) (R2023F 1 510 A F) 1/1 3/3
Ms. LI Jia (Resigned on 30 November 2022) BELZ LT (R2022F 11 A30 AFFHE) 1/1 3/3
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHITES
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy BAGSTE 11 3/3
Mr. CHEUNG Miu SROB It A 1/1 3/3
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To SRARRE 4 1/1 3/3
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The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by Mr.
WU Jiangtao and Mr. TAO Jingyuan respectively. The Chairman provides
leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning and leadership
of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Company’s
business development and daily management and operations generally.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) in November 2018 setting out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of
Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments will
continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of
diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills and knowledge and length of service.

Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules and Corporate Governance
Guide for Board and Directors issued on December 2021, the Stock
Exchange will not consider diversity to be achieved for a single gender
board. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has a
single gender board of directors. However, the Board is fully alerted
the issue and shall appoint at least a director of a different gender on
the Board no later than 31 December 2024 in order to comply with
the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Board shall also take steps
to promote gender diversity at all levels within the Company. The
gender ratio in the workforce is set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the Company'’s affairs. The
Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties.

The terms of reference of the Board Committee are posted on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are
available to Shareholders upon request.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHOI Tze Kit,
Sammy, Mr. CHEUNG Miu and Mr. CHEUNG Pak To. The Audit
Committee is chaired by Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy who possesses
relevant professional qualification and expertise in financial reporting
matters.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and annual results for the year ended 31 March 2023.
The Audit Committee is of the view that the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the statutory provisions,
and sufficient disclosures have already been made.

The principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee include but are
not limited to:

° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditors, and approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors, and handling any questions regarding its resignation or
dismissal;

° reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards and discussing with
the external auditors on the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences;

e developing and implementing a policy on engaging external
auditors to supply non-audit services and reporting to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed;

° monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, and half-year report, as well as
reviewing significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them;

° reviewing the Company’s financial controls, and risk management
and internal control systems;

e discussing the risk management and internal control systems with
the management to ensure that the management has performed
its duty to have such effective systems;
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ERME

considering major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response to these findings;

where an internal audit function exists, ensuring co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, ensuring that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and reviewing and
monitoring its effectiveness;

reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

reviewing the external auditors’ management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditors to management about the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response;

ensuring that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditors’ management letters; and

considering other topics as defined by the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee convened

two committee meetings. The attendance of each INED at the Audit

Committee meetings is as follows:
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No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings

Name of Directors EEHE HERE SBRH
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy e 2/2
Mr. CHEUNG Miu OBk AE 2/2
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To R1AME & 2/2

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2023, the Remuneration Committee consists of three
members, including two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. CHEUNG Miu and Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, and one executive
Director, namely Mr. WU Jiangtao. Mr. CHEUNG Miu is the chairman of

the Remuneration Committee.
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The principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include but are not limited to:

making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing the remuneration policy;

reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals by reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
the non-executive Directors;

considering the salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment, responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

reviewing and approving the compensation payable to the
executive Directors and senior management of the Company for
any loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with the contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not
EXCessive;

reviewing and approving the compensation arrangements relating
to the dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with the contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Remuneration Committee
convened one committee meeting to review and make recommendation
to the Board on the remuneration policy and remuneration packages
of the Directors and senior management and other related matters.
The attendance of each Director in the capacity of a member of the
Remuneration Committee at its meeting is as follows:

RBE2023F3A3HIEFE FHMEES T
BR-—RZEE8H UEZEFLSMERE
BOFMBRREFNFEREMABEELR
EFeRUEZ -BRESUFMEEENE S
MHFEEGHEZCEMT

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meeting

Name of Directors BENS HERE 2ERE
Mr. CHEUNG Miu RO A A 1/1
Mr. WU Jiangtao RIIEEL 11
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To SRR FE % &= 1/

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the remuneration
offered to employees, including Directors and senior management,
is based on skKill, knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the
Company’s affairs. The remuneration packages of executive Directors
are determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities with
the Company, his experience and the prevailing market conditions.
The remuneration for the independent non-executive Directors mainly
comprises Director’s fee which is determined with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the
prevailing market conditions.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee consists of three
members, including two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To and Mr. CHEUNG Miu, and one executive
Director, namely Mr. WU Jiangtao. Mr. WU Jiangtao, who is also
the Chairman of the Board, and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include
but are not limited to:

. reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually
and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

° identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on

the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

o assessing the independence of the INEDs; and
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° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for the
Directors, in particular, the Chairman and the chief executives of
the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee
convened one committee meeting. The attendance of each Director in
the capacity of a member of the Nomination Committee at its meeting
is as follows:
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No. of Attendance/
No. of Meeting

Name of Directors EEHE HERE BRI H
Mr. WU Jiangtao RIIEEE 1/
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To DRl 1/1
Mr. CHEUNG Miu RBEAE 1/1

The nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) was adopted by the
Company in November 2018. Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, in
evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the Nomination
Committee would consider the following criteria, including, among other
things, character and integrity, qualifications (cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy), any
potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms
of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and diversity, and
willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board and/or Board committee(s).

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt
of the proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship. The Nomination Committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship with a ranking of the candidates (if applicable)
by order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors, which includes but is not limited
to:

° developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board;

° reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

° reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

° reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this report.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Articles.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Articles.

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a causal vacancy shall
hold office until the first general meeting of the Company after his/her
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting and
shall then be eligible for re-election.
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All the Directors, including INEDs, are subject to retirement by rotation
and eligible for re-election in accordance with the Articles. At each
annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”), one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
at the AGM at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout
the meeting at which he/she retires. The Directors to retire by rotation
shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors
to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and does not offer
himself/herself for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be
those who have been the longest in office since their last re-election or
appointment and so that as between the persons who became or were
last re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March
2023 are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2023, RSM Hong Kong was engaged as
the Group’s independent auditor.

The remuneration paid/payable to RSM Hong Kong for the year ended
31 March 2023 is set out below:
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2028.

The Directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance
with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Appropriate accounting
policies have also been used and applied consistently except the
adoption of revised standards, amendments to standards and
interpretation.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In addition, RSM Hong Kong has stated in the independent auditor’s
report its reporting responsibilities on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems through the Audit Committee on an
annual basis. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its
oversight and corporate roles in the Group’s financial, operational,
compliance, risk management and internal controls, while management
designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal
control systems, and provides reports to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of these systems. However, systems
and internal controls can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed
to manage, rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the
Group’s business objectives.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has conducted an
annual review on the effectiveness and efficiency of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems in relation to the financial,
operational and compliance controls, and the results were summarised
and discussed with the Audit Committee and the Board. The Audit
Committee and the Board are satisfied with the effectiveness and
efficiency of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in the review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis. The Directors through the Audit Committee are kept
informed of significant risks (including Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”)-related risks) that may impact on the Group’s
performance.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group to be effective
and adequate. The Audit Committee has reviewed and is satisfied with
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting function, as well
as the Group’s ESG performance and reporting.

The Group maintained effective risk management and internal control in
all material respects, and the Board of Directors was not aware of any
significant or material defects in relation to the risk management and
internal control. The Board of Directors has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group and considered them effective and adequate.

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Group has adopted a risk management policy, the main objectives
of which is to ensure sustainable business growth with stability and to
promote a pro-active approach in reporting, evaluating and resolving
risks (including ESG-related risks) associated with the business. In order
to guide decisions on risk related issues.

The specific objectives of the policy are:

1. to ensure that all the current and future material risk exposures
of the Group are identified, assessed, quantified, appropriately
mitigated, minimized and managed i.e. to ensure adequate

systems for risk management.

2. to establish a framework for the Group’s risk management
process and to ensure its implementation.

8. to enable compliance with appropriate regulations, wherever
applicable, through the adoption of best practices.

4. to assure business growth with financial stability.
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RISK ASSESSMENT PROCESS

Risk identification is based on discussions and interviews with
management from different departments. Risks are preliminary identified
by management from the risk universe which is a collection of risks built
on environmental analysis and external benchmarking that can impact
the Group at the entity or specific business process level. Key risk
factors are then identified by integrating the results of the discussions
and interviews.

Risk evaluation is the second step to assess the relative impact and
likelihood of identified key risk factors. These identified key risk factors
are further assessed by a scale rating process by the management to
evaluate their impact and likelihood.

Risk prioritization is a mapping exercise. A risk map is used to prioritize
the identified key risk factors according to their impact and likelihood.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Group has an internal audit function which is primarily responsible
for developing various internal control manuals and procedures,
conducting reviews on the key operational processes and the
related internal controls to ensure compliance with the Group’s risk
management and internal control policies and procedures. In addition,
the Board conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems, covering all material controls
such as financial, operational and compliance controls. In addition,
internal control review was conducted to review the internal control
systems of the Group on an on-going basis. Such review shall be
conducted annually. The Board considered that the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group for the year were effective
and adequate.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

e the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and the Company’s website;

e the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential
or inside information; and

° the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so
that only the executive Directors, the Company Secretary and
the head of investor relations of the Company are authorised to
communicate with parties outside the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LI Yan Wing, Rita (“Ms. Rita Li”) was appointed as the Company
Secretary. She is currently an executive director of the Corporate
Services Division of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional
services provider specializing in integrated business, corporate and
investor services.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary on corporate governance and board practices and matters.
Mr. Lai Xiaopeng Michael, an Executive Director has been designated
as the primary contact person at the Company who would work and
communicate with Ms. Rita Li on the Company’s corporate governance
and secretarial and administrative matters.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, Ms. Rita Li has undertaken not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training respectively in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

HWEARTRR

AREBENBERBREREOIFMEIZTFNAE
ROV EMARRMEETHNEE  BBERAZ
NBEHBLAEAMRERNE DM - RIER
BMABEEMERF RABERERAT

s AEHEEESHERERENERELMMAA
HTHRBEREARBERESLMEEH
ERZEEN2012F6 ABEMHN [RNEH
BREES

s AKEEBUMBHRE AERAQFMEUL
FRCERAARBRZEIFBREEER - A
Bl EEENTFRERR

s AKECEBMBLREEEEREEHIA
BHE R

s AKHUMIRERNAKESZH L LA
TEERER Bt RERTEE A7
WERARRKREEMEREE T RIRER
AEBSMNBALIER

LFIME

FirRALt ((ZRELL ) BZER/RAWE -
WRBEEBXERBAERARLERE AT
EX - ZARREHENERRBAR  REP
RHAEL  CXRBREESERS -

PREFINCEEUREZTEERLS
HEARMERHEEARRYE -HITEEHEE
BrRECEREESRNRAEEREA - SBLA
REAIGEERARMERTREEEFITAL
TETTERER -

REZE2023F3A31BILFE AEBER FHR
BIZE3 2016 T EMBLLTEEI TP N5
IR R EEE -

REaIRHER AR A A
2023 F 3k

39



40

Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
in November 2018. The policy aims to allow the Shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst preserving the Company’s
liquidity to capture future growth opportunities. The Board intends to
recommend an annual dividend which would amount in total of not
less than 30% of the net profit from ordinary activities attributable to
Shareholders for full financial year but subject to, among other things,
the Company’s operational needs, earnings, financial condition, working
capital requirements and future business plans as the Board may deem
relevant at such time. Such intention does not amount to any guarantee
or representation or indication that the Company must or will declare
and pay dividend in such manner nor declare and not pay any dividend
at all. Cash dividends on the shares of the Company, if any, will be paid
in Hong Kong dollars.

The Company may from time to time consider paying interim dividends
and special dividends. The Board has complete discretion on whether
to pay a dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable.

The Board will review this policy from time to time and may adopt
changes as appropriate at the relevant time.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to make proposals or move
resolutions at the AGMs under the memorandum of association and the
Articles of Association of the Company (the “M&A”) or the laws of the
Cayman lIslands. Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move
a resolution may, however, convene an extraordinary general meeting
(the “EGM”) in accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to
convene an EGM” set out below.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
AN EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than 10% of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to require an EGM to be called by the Board or the
Company Secretary for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition, including making proposals or moving a resolution at
the EGM.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM for the purpose
of making proposals or moving a resolution at the EGM must
deposit a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong (presently Unit 4203, 42/F, Tower One Lippo
Centre, 89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong) for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

The Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding in the Company,
the reason(s) to convene an EGM and the proposed agenda.
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The Company will check the Requisition and the identity and
shareholding of the Eligible Shareholder(s) will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong.
If the Requisition is found to be proper and in order, the Company
Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM and/or include
the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) at the EGM within 2 months after the deposit of the
Requisition. On the contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as not
in order, the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of the
outcome and accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM nor include
the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) at the EGM.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible
Shareholder(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO SEND
ENQUIRES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong, presently at Unit 42083, 42/F, Tower One Lippo
Centre, 89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong, by post or by email at
ir-hk@msok.com, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Upon receipt of the enquiries, the Company Secretary will forward the
communications relating to:

1. the matters within the Board’s purview to the executive
Directors;
2. the matters within a Board committee’s area of responsibility to

the chairman of the appropriate committee; and

8 ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, enquiries
and client complaints to the appropriate management of the
Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication policy
with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders will have equal and
timely access to information about the Company in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow
them to engage actively with the Company. The Company has reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the above Shareholders’
communication policy during the year ended 31 March 2023 and is
satisfied that the policy has been implemented effectively.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders through the
Company’s financial reports, AGMs and other EGMs that may be
convened as well as all the published disclosures submitted to the
Stock Exchange.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, the Company has amended its Articles of
Association to (i) bring the existing articles in line with the amendments
made to the Listing Rules, in particular Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules
regarding the core shareholder protection standards which became
effective on 1 January 2022; (i) incorporate certain consequential and
housekeeping amendments; (iii) provide greater flexibility in relation
to the conduct of general meetings by allowing general meetings to
be held by means of a physical meeting with one or more than one
location(s), as an exclusively electronic meeting and/or as a hybrid
meeting where the shareholders of the Company may attend remotely
through telephone, electronic or other communication facilities in
addition to purely as a physical meeting; and (iv) update and clarify
provisions where it is considered desirable. Details of the amendments
are set out in the circular dated 27 July 2022 to the Shareholders. An
up to date version of the Articles of Association is also available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT AND OUR MANAGEMENT
TO ESG ISSUES

REPORTING SCOPE AND BOUNDARY

This is the seventh Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
Report (“this Report”) of Minshang Creative Technology Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively, “the Group”). The purpose
of this Report is to provide an overview of the Group’s ESG poalicies,
management approaches and initiatives. The Report has included
quantitative performance indicators to demonstrate the Group’s efforts
in managing material ESG matters.

This Report covers the Group’s operation of restaurant chains in Hong
Kong and IT solution business in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 (“the reporting period”),
unless stated otherwise. During the reporting period, 6 restaurants
were closed down. As of the date of this Report, the restaurant chains
consist of 3 restaurants located across Hong Kong.

For the restaurant business, as it was disposed of after the Reporting
Period, it will remain covered in the reporting scope of this Report. In
addition to the Group’s restaurant business, the Group has a wholly
owned subsidiary, R 81 #l (2 )%) & F % 8 R 2 & (‘Minshang
Ningbo”) in the PRC, which focuses on B2B business offering of 3C
electronic products, frozen foods and grain & oil products sourced from
manufacturers or wholesalers to distributors. As the trading business
of the Group has been slowing down, the Board of Directors of the
Group (the “Board”) considered that the ESG risks of this subsidiary
are limited and decided not to cover this subsidiary in this Report. On
the other hand, as Context Image Holdings Limited is a newly acquired
subsidiary, the ESG disclosure for this subsidiary will be included in
ESG Report 2023/24. The Group will continue to review the business
and market trends to identify any ESG matters that significantly impact
our operations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

REPORTING STANDARDS

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) in Appendix 27
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEX”). Given the reporting principles
that underpin the preparation of ESG Report as required by HKEX, the
report content has been determined and summarised by the principles
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HEEA

ARENKBEETBHERSABRAR ([BX
Frl)@BEHF EmARAME-_+HCGRE HERE
amEEs) ([HE5l)) #E - ERBRAREER
B HEREARSHEENERRAY  HREAND
ERBEEN B FEN—ZMENRAEE

of Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency.

e Alist of material ESG aspects was identified through a sophisticated
review of the Group’s business, market development and
stakeholders’ concerns and served to determine the focus of this
Report.

o FAUAKEMNER MHERRSOHEMIZEETEZEEN M
BRABERE HERELITOEE  WARBEEARENES -

Materiality
EEH

e Quantitative data on the Group’s social and environmental
performance was disclosed with multiple-year comparisons and
discussions on the trends observed.
BEAREM S FIRERRTHENTEEHIE - WETSFLERR &
RETERR B MBS o

Quantitative

Eft .

e Apart from the achievements attained, rooms for improvement in the
Group’s ESG management was also discussed in this Report.
BRATEVSECRIN - TFERARETRAEERE R ERE 1B
FHEBSEZRER e

Balance

=il :

e Consistent methodologies were used for the compilation of
environmental and social metrics as far as possible. Annotations
added to information indicated changes of calculating
methodologies, basis and factors affecting consistent disclosure and

a meaningful data comparison presented.
e ERBRRMFIEERFDRAEER —BAE - HERM Lz &7+
EXATE - BEBERMEINEEEHBRERIGTERE & %

REZES -

SOURCE OF DATA AND RELIABILITY

This Report contains information that has been obtained from the
Group’s internal documents, statistical reports or relevant public
materials. This Report has been prepared by the Group with a
commitment to ensuring that it does not contain any false information,
misleading statement or material omission. The Group takes full
responsibilities for the authenticity, accuracy and completeness of the
report content.
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BOARD STATEMENT

The Board recognises the significance of implementing sustainability
practices and is committed to incorporating ESG systems into their
decision-making process. The Board holds the ultimate responsibility
for overseeing the Group’s ESG-related risks and opportunities, creating
and approving the ESG-related strategy and objectives, assessing the
progress made towards achieving the Group’s ESG-related targets and
goals.

The Board conducts regular evaluations to identify and assess the risks,
including those related to ESG factors. The Board also ensures the
Group has established effective risk management and internal control
systems to address these risks. Regular meetings and discussions are
held by the Board to assess the effectiveness of these systems. By
implementing appropriate ESG governance practices, the Group can
enhance its long-term business sustainability and effectively meet the
expectations of its stakeholders.

The Board recognises its overall responsibility for overseeing and
directing the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting. This Report was
reviewed and approved by the Board on 30 June 2023.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

During the reporting period, the Group has reviewed the list of material
issues that are relevant to its business and stakeholders by staying up-
to-date with the latest regulatory development, market trends, internal
policies and development roadmaps.

In addition, we have taken into account the business operations and
priorities of the Group when reviewing the material topics. Based on
the analysis of the industry’s development and external environment,
we have summarised a list of ESG topics that are considered the most
material and may have a significant influence over the Group’s ESG
performance during the reporting period.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY BEHhESHEHEEENHTMG

ASSESSMENT

ESG topic
RE #HERERRE

Why is this relevant
BEAREEAENER

Food safety and quality
RmxaREE

We deliver food as one of our major products and services to our customers, and
we are responsible and accountable for any safety and quality issues that may
arise from it. Our brand value could be significantly damaged by any food safety
or quality incidents caused by an insufficient internal control system.
ERmARMMEPRENTFEEMREE . — HMYHEELNETALZSE
EmEREER BMOGBREEAEEAANBEZERA I TEMERNE
MEMEEImBEERNMIINKRERE -

Our responsibility is to ensure that all food preparation and delivery processes are
as safe as possible in order to prevent any type of food contamination.
EMHBETRERFMEBERMEBRRINBEEAELE - B IEERERDY

A =3
Rm5# o

Occupational health and safety

Bx@EEkLE

The food and beverage industry is labour-intensive and, thus, upholding high
occupational health and safety standard is a top priority to our management team
and operation agenda.

ERTEBLSHNEERNTE At #FSKFRBRERERZZREMN
EREKREENEERE

Providing employees with protection measures and exposing them to the
least amount of health risks at work is critical to maintaining a healthy work
environment.
RETREREREBYFERERFETIEPEENERRRRENEFER
NIEREEMEE -

Employment relationship

ERREA&

Maintaining a stable workforce is integral to maintaining a busy operation and
maintaining the quality of products and services, as well as reducing recruitment
and training costs.

RERBRENETIHEREFELEB LRITEMMNREE E A RZEBEN
SRR AN B 40 AR A ©

Waste management, with a focus on food
waste and use of disposable utensils
BEVMER SHARMBYR R
AAREA

The management of waste remains a major sustainability challenge for Hong
Kong, with food waste accounting for a significant portion of the waste disposed
of, as indicated by statistics provided by the Hong Kong Government. Hong
Kong’s waste management system may also be burdened by disposable food
packaging and utensils.
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ESG topic
BIE HEREREE

Why is this relevant
BEAREBEEBNRE

Water Management
RKER

As water is a critical resource for a restaurant’s daily operations, from food
preparation to cleaning and sanitation, restaurants have a significant impact on
water usage and conservation. Effective water management practices can help
reduce operational costs, mitigate business risks, and improve brand reputation.
KREZEBEELENMRER ARVMEGIFEFE  EERUNAKKE
KBEEARZEN - At BREVKEEEEEBFEREERER BRI EHEEA
iR = R R o

Intellectual Property Right
B ENE

As our IT solution business provides and designs Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”),
membership benefits solution services, software customization services and IT
solution services, we embrace our responsibility to respect and protect everyone’s
intellectual property rights.

BB AR AR T REBR M RRARMARE ([SaaS)) - & BR@F#E
RITERTE - SR ME AR ER S RZRT - HKPIERAEEE R
REMBANMNBERNEME -

Customer Data Privacy

EFERLE

As an IT solution services provider, the Group respects customer data privacy and
understands that any leakage of customers’ information may negatively affect its
operation and reputation and result in potential financial losses for the customers.
ER—REMMERAFTRBRGRMEE ASEEEEFPEHLE - WIER
FREFPERMNRROAREECERBEEABATE  YENEPNE
TR TR o

In addition, we also consider the following ESG topics relevant to our gEoN - BT T HIRIE - t e REARBER A

operation:

BEMMEER SRR :

e Customer services and complaint handling o  BERRBRKFEE

° Procurement

o Energy consumption

o Climate Change

e KRB

s  RERER

. RBERE

e  Compliance in managing emissions and discharge o EEHBMMEHREBER

This Report focuses on the disclosure of our management approach AREFTERFERMBEALAZENERFE
and performance of the aforementioned topics. R o

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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OUR MANAGEMENT ON ESG ISSUES

During the reporting period, the senior management team of our
restaurant chain subsidiaries oversees the day-to-day management
and internal controls of the aforementioned material topics under the
supervision of the Board. Monthly meetings are arranged to enhance
communication between senior management and store managers,
which aims to discuss various operational matters such as key
regulatory updates, performance in service quality, occupational health
and safety alerts. Moreover, regular store inspections are performed
to guarantee the effective implementation of ESG internal control
measures.

PRODUCT AND SERVICE RESPONSIBILITY

Seeking high-quality products and services is critical to the Group’s
sustained success in the long run. We strive to innovate and create a
delightful experience by continuously improving the flavor of the food
while protecting our customers’ health and safety.

CUSTOMER HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group continued to implement a series of preventive measures to
safeguard the health and safety of customers and prevent the spread of
the COVID-19, including adhering to the latest Hong Kong Government
regulations and operational recommendations. During the reporting
period, which was under the prevalence of the COVID-19 pandemic,
we have strictly abided by the Prevention and Control of Disease
(Requirement and Directions) (Business and Premises) Regulation (the
Regulation) (Cap. 599G and 599F). In compliance with the regulations,
the seating capacity of restaurants has been restricted to 50%, and
tables have been spaced at least 1.5 meters apart. We also placed
transparent partitions to avoid the direct face-to-face contact of
visitors, and limited the number of customers at each table. Moreover,
visitors to our restaurants were required to undergo a temperature
check upon entry, with hand sanitiser offered to them accordingly as
a precautionary measure. Our restaurants enforced a mask-wearing
policy for staff, customers and visitors, except for when customers
were enjoying their meal. As of March 1, 2023, the government
has implemented relaxation measures. However, we continued to
prioritize the cleanliness and sanitation of our catering environment. We
regularly clean and disinfect areas with food contact surfaces and high
touchpoints, such as tableware, doorknobs and tabletops, to maintain
a sanitary and hygienic catering environment to our customers.

During the reporting period, we did not observe any violations or
complaints in relation to the Prevention and Control of Disease
Regulation.
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FOOD SAFETY

We value food safety and are committed to maintaining high food safety
standards. To operate a hygienic, safe and legal restaurant business,
we obtain and renew all necessary operating licenses regularly,
including general restaurant licenses and restricted food permits,
which are issued by the Food and Environmental Hygiene Department
(“FEHD”) and Centre for Food Safety of the Hong Kong Government to
ensure compliance with the relevant food safety standards.

Food safety is the top priority of the Group. We have developed
Restaurant Operation Manual, Food Safety Manual and other guidelines
in accordance with the requirements listed on the codes and material
published by the FEHD. The guidelines outline procedures related to
food safety matters, including procurement, storage and food delivery.
Our respective guidelines also cover instructions on hygiene, sanitation
and proper waste disposal. To ensure compliance with all applicable
regulations, our Food & Beverage (“F&B”) Operations Department
oversees the implementation of the guidelines. Moreover, the F&B
Operations Department is responsible for staying up-to-date with the
latest food safety and hygiene regulations and regularly update their
guidelines to ensure compliance with these regulations. To facilitate
a smooth standardisation, regular meetings are arranged among
all businesses in the Group to reach a consensus on food safety
requirements.

To ensure the quality of the food ingredients, we have established
strict policies and procedures on food safety and quality control. Food
ingredients are separately stored at a specific temperature to keep them
at an optimal temperature. A first-in-first-out approach is adopted and
a maximum shelf-life for different types of food is established to avoid
deterioration of food ingredients. All food containers are also clearly
labelled to avoid mixing and cross-contamination. Additionally, it is
mandatory for all the staff to wear gloves, masks and hats appropriately
when they are handling food.

To ensure our employees adhere to our hygiene requirements, the
Operations Director, F&B Operations District Managers and assigned
Hygiene Managers conduct site visits and inspections regularly. We
also appoint at least one senior staff in each restaurant as the health
supervisor upon the completion of a training course certified by the
Hygiene Manager and Hygiene Supervisor Scheme of the FEHD. We
review and update the appointment on a regular basis to promote
employee engagement in performing food and hygiene control duties.
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The Group has strictly complied with the “Food Safety and Hygiene
Advisory for Food Premises on the Prevention of COVID-19” issued by
the FEHD and Centre of Food Safety during the reporting period. While
the restaurant managers actively monitor the sanitary conditions, regular
cleansing and sterilisation are being conducted in kitchens and general
areas to ensure hygiene standards are met. Appropriate food handling
practices have been adopted in accordance with the suggestions
made by the Hong Kong Government. In addition, we require all staff
to use hand sanitiser and wash their hands with soap and water before
entering the kitchen. Such practice has ensured a hygienic environment
for processing foods.

During the reporting period, the Group operated in compliance
with the Food Safety Ordinance (Cap. 612), the Public Health and
Municipal Services Ordinance (Cap. 132) and other applicable laws
and regulations regarding food safety, as well as the conditions stated
under the operating license.

PRODUCT QUALITY AND CUSTOMER
SATISFACTION

The level of customer satisfaction is a crucial factor that drives our
ongoing efforts to improve our services. With our primary objective to
enhance its comprehension of customer requirements concerning food
quality, customer service, and dining experiences, we strive to satisfy
these demands by implementing appropriate measures to show an
outstanding performance in customer satisfaction.

To standardise the food processing procedures and provide our
customers with excellent and consistent food quality, we have
established a receipt form which serves as a guide for kitchen staff at
the restaurants. Regular communication is maintained with the front-line
staff concerning the standardised specifications, including temperature,
taste, and presentation, which ensures our employees to possess a
satisfactory comprehension of the food preparation process and are
able to execute it in accordance with the specifications. Moreover, the
F&B Operations District Managers and relevant personnel conduct
quality checks on a regular and ad-hoc basis. Third-party mystery
customer surveys are also conducted in selected stores to obtain
impartial and unbiased feedback. According to the company policy,
in the event of unsatisfactory performance, the store is required to
complete a review of its food processing procedures and implement
improvements under the guidance of the Operations Director
accordingly.
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We conduct market and food quality research to stay up to date
with the latest market trends and consumer preferences. Based on
the findings, we update our menus, services, and prices periodically.
As we highly value our customers’ feedback, we conduct customer
satisfaction assessments in form of customer feedback form regularly.
By taking into account customers feedback, various restaurants have
developed and executed plans and programs to enhance the food
quality, service standards, hygiene, and dining environment. Moreover,
we conduct taste evaluations on new dishes at selected restaurants
prior to officially introducing them to the market.

We aim to improve customer experience by actively soliciting feedback,
identifying areas for improvement, and taking appropriate measures to
address any issues raised by our customers. Valuing our customers’
opinions, a system of formal channels and procedures has been
established to manage customer complaints and our customers are
encouraged to report any unsatisfactory dining experience to the
staff on duty at the restaurants. We have set a process in place for
handling customer complaints. Most of the complaints are successfully
resolved at the store level, while the unresolved complaints are
escalated and managed by a designated officer at the administrative
office for further management. The team is also accountable for
addressing issues brought up through various channels such as the
customer service hotline, government authorities and mass media.
Meanwhile, the store managers are responsible for consolidating and
reporting the complaints received to the administrative office through
internal communication channels in a timely manner. After receiving
the complaint, our team conducts an inspection and substantiation
process, and provide reasonable solutions which include providing
redress to affected customers.

Our IT solution division has maintained a continual improvement
process in our products and services to ensure our customers to
receive high-quality service. A number of security measures have been
implemented, including the installation of firewalls, regular backup of
data and adoption of intrusion detection systems to strengthen our
response to data security accidents and enhance our ability to detect
abnormalities and defend against malware.

To maintain close communication with our customers, we engage
with customers through different channels, including email, customer
service hotline and customer satisfaction survey to identify areas for
improvement and collect feedback from them. We are also committed
to enhancing the customer experience as part of the Group’s
continuous business development. As such, we provide after-sales
service supports to our customers, including operation training, on-site
maintenance and on-site inspection.
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During the reporting period, 14 customer complaints were recorded,
representing a 56% decrease compared to last year. All customers
complaints were properly followed up and resolved.

The Group reviews the records of complaints filed on an ongoing basis
and discusses with frontline staff during monthly meetings to increase
staff awareness and achieve continuous improvement.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The role of suppliers is crucial in maintaining a secure and stable supply
of food, packaging materials, and other essential resources necessary
for our daily operations. As such, the Group is committed to engaging
our suppliers and building long-term and mutually beneficial business
relationships with them.

An effective supply chain management strategy has been implemented,
which includes a supplier selection program and a comprehensive
list of approved suppliers. A series of pre-approval procedures
are required for potential suppliers. The supplier selection process
involves the assessment of various documents such as operation
licenses and product origin. Additionally, factors such as food quality,
consistency, and delivery time are also evaluated during the process. It
is recommended that suppliers provide product samples for testing to
ensure the quality of products.

In the course of day-to-day management, we evaluate the performance
and relationship of our suppliers on an ongoing basis. The Group
continuously monitors by the performance of our engaged suppliers.
Our staff at the restaurants conduct inspections on the quality,
freshness, temperature, and packaging of incoming goods. Return
or exchange of order will be issued if the incoming goods are in
unacceptable condition. Suppliers who provide unsatisfactory goods
or have inappropriate conduct repeatedly may be subject to contract
termination.

In addition, we encourage our suppliers to incorporate ESG-related
initiatives into their business practices, including those related to
environmental protection and sustainability. The Group’s standard
procurement contracts contain sustainability-related terms that require
suppliers to comply with environmental and occupational safety and
health regulations.
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Anti-corruption

The Group’s philosophy places integrity and ethics at its core. As such,
the Group is committed to complying with all laws and regulations
concerning anti-corruption. We are aware of the inherent risk of
corruption in the procurement and quality control procedures and have
taken measures to address this issue. We have developed a Code of
Conduct to provide guidance on achieving ethical business operations
and maintaining business integrity. It is required that all directors,
officers, and staff adhere to the principles outlined in the Code of
Conduct, as well as all relevant laws, regulations, and rules relating to
anti-corruption. Moreover, the Group strictly adheres to the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance provisions. It is strictly prohibited for all staff
members to engage in any form of corrupt practices.

During the reporting period, there were no confirmed cases regarding
corrupt practices of legal proceedings, claims or disputes brought
against the Group or its employees. Although the Group did not
organise any anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff
during the reporting period, we acknowledge the need to improve our
training curriculum and strive to enhance our training on anti-corruption
in the future.

PROTECTION OF CUSTOMER DATA PRIVACY
AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

While the Group has acknowledged its responsibility and implemented
procedures to protect and enforce intellectual property rights, it has also
put in place specific procedures and safeguards to protect customers’
information from unauthorised access, usage and leakage and to
maintain their data privacy. We protect our intellectual property rights
by requiring our employees and business partners to sign confidentiality
agreements to ensure they keep sensitive information confidential.
Meanwhile, we also hire legal advisors to provide legal advice for the
protection of our rights. The Group manages sensitive information with
caution and fully complies with Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in
Hong Kong and Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China.
During the reporting year, there was no incident of non-compliance with
data privacy reported and no material infringement of our intellectual
property rights.
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HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

The Group believes that employees are the cornerstone for our long-
term business success. Our employees play an important role in
supporting both of our office administration and frontline restaurant
operations. As such, we invest significantly in providing our employees
with a competitive remuneration package as well as a safe and healthy
working environment.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

We place a high priority on the well-being and safety of our employees.
As such, we are committed to minimising Occupational Health and
Safety (“OHS”) risks in our overall operations and maintaining high
standards in fostering a secure and positive working environment for
all employees by developing internal safety guidelines and conducting
on-site inspections. We continuously identify, evaluate and address
potential OHS risks in both of the workplace and restaurants.

Our employees have been trained on work safety through on-the-job
training to ensure they possess the required safety knowledge and
awareness. OHS training is designed and arranged for new hires to
enhance their awareness of health and safety risks and precautionary
measures to equip them with the necessary skills to operate various
appliances and machines correctly. In addition, operating guidelines
and safety tips issued by the Occupational Safety and Health Council
are displayed as reminders at prominent places in high-risk areas, such
as outside the refrigerator and near machines, which serve to reinforce
the standard operating procedures and protect them from injuries
due to improper practices. Moreover, we provide personal protective
equipment and auxiliary tools, including heat-resistant gloves, masks,
trolleys and safety ladders, to ensure the safety of our employees while
performing their daily duties.

Over the years, the Group has taken numerous steps in minimizing
occupational health and safety (OHS) risks. Our restaurants have
automated most of the cooking procedures to reduce our employees’
exposure to open flames and knives. A protection shield has been
installed on machines and equipment to provide additional safety
measures for employees responsible for operating the related
machines. As we understand the importance of fire safety, we ensure
the compliance with regulatory requirements by conducting regular
third-party inspection and maintenance of fire equipment on a regular
basis and preparing appropriate and adequate fire extinguishers.
Additionally, our employees are well aware of the evacuation process.
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During the new wave of the pandemic, we continued to implement a
series of precautionary measures to minimise the health risks of our
staff. We adopted work-from-home practice and arranged flexible
working hours to further enhance social distancing where possible
for our employees in PRC. We provide the following guidelines
on pandemic prevention and control to our employees during the
pandemic:

1.

Provide alcohol sanitisers, masks and antigen test kits to our
employees;

Set up transparent partitions to minimise face-to-face interaction
between customers and our employees;

Conduct frequent disinfection and cleaning especially for common
high-touch areas, such as kitchens and floors;

Require our employees at the restaurants to receive three doses
of the COVID-19 vaccine;

Require all customers to wear a mask, check their body
temperature and scan the “LeaveHomeSafe” mobile application
when entering the restaurants;

Keep employees informed of the latest pandemic developments
and Hong Kong Government announcements. Enrich our staff’s
hygiene knowledge by providing quick tips. Provide mental health
care and support to assist employees in addressing employees
concerns over quarantine or anxiety caused by the pandemic.
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The Group strives for zero accidents for all employees involved in
daily operations and is committed to addressing and managing work-
related injuries and accidents in a timely and appropriate manner. All
accident cases must be reported to the administrative office for further
investigation and proper documentation. The Group also provides
an effective insurance policy to employees who are involved in work-
related injuries. In the event that there are instances of concern, we will
take necessary steps to thoroughly investigate and report the situation
to ensure all actions taken are in compliance with the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) and the Factories and
Industrial Undertakings Ordinance (Cap. 59). The work-related injured
employees will be provided with corresponding insurance coverage and
entitled to sick leave. During the monthly meetings, the F&B Operations
Department and store managers will discuss work-related injury cases
and preventive measures to avoid recurrence. In the future, the Group
will protect employees from potential occupational hazards in the
workplace and provide a safe working environment for all employees
through upscaling our efforts in implementing OHS control measures
continuously.

During the reporting period, there were no work-related fatalities or
reported case of work injuries, resulting in a total of O lost day.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group keeps cautious and operates with a strong commitment to
integrity and therefore has established policies on labour protection,
working conditions, prevention and protection from occupation
hazards that have a significant impact on the Group to comply with the
“Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57)” of Hong Kong and the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China (FF 2 A R K FE 45 &)%) and other
relevant labour laws and regulations in regions we operated in FY2022.
These policies are clearly outlined in the staff handbook and/or policies
and are strictly implemented in our operation. In addition, we review
our employment arrangements including working environment, terms of
employment, working hours, rest days and holidays on a regular basis.

To combat illegal employment of child labour and forced labour, the
Group’s recruitment team has formulated stringent internal policies
to standardise the recruitment and employment process. During the
recruitment process, all job applicants are required to provide valid
identification documents and residential address documents to ensure
that they are lawfully employable prior to the confirmation of any
employment. If the Group discover any case which fails to conform
to the relevant labour laws and regulations, the relevant employment
contract will be terminated immediately.
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Being an equal-opportunity employer, we are dedicated to creating
and maintaining a fair, diverse and inclusive working environment that
is free from discrimination. The Group does not tolerate any form of
discrimination related to age, race, gender, religion, family status and
harassment and upholds its anti-discrimination culture in all human
resources and employment decisions.

The employee work schedule at our restaurants is arranged according
to the businesses’ operational requirements. To safeguard our
employees’ entitlement to statutory rest days, we obtain employees’
confirmation and consent on all arrangements through effective
communication. In accordance with relevant labour laws and
regulations, the Group also arranges suitable rest periods and rest
days. To minimise the financial impact on our employees as a result
of the closing down of restaurants, we do our utmost to reallocate the
affected staff to other operating locations.

During the reporting period, the Group operated in compliance with
the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57), Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance, Equal Opportunities Ordinances and other applicable laws
and regulations regarding employment matters. The employee work
schedule at our restaurants is determined according to the operational
requirements of the business.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

We attach great importance to the staff development and aspire to
grow with our employees. As such, we continuously invest resources in
employee training and development plans in helping our employees to
enhance their professional knowledge and skills for performing duties at
work and promoting their all-round development, thereby to provide our
customers with better quality of products and services. We encourage
continuous education by providing induction training and regular on-
the-job training for our employees to develop practical knowledge
and skills. In the restaurant division, all employees are required to
participate in food safety and hygiene training, which encompasses a
range of topics such as food temperature, dish ingredients, foodborne
ilnesses, personal hygiene, and other operational practices. As part
of the Group’s communication strategy, regular operation meetings
are scheduled to ensure the accurate dissemination of information to
different departments, stores, and employees.

As for the IT solution division, we provide on-the-job training program
for our employees to enable them to gain hands-on experience in
developing and implementing cutting-edge technology solutions for
clients. The program has provided our employees with a valuable
opportunity to enhances their technical skills through gaining practical
experiences in a real-world setting.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Through years of engagement in environmental protection practice,
the Group endeavoured to show an outstanding performance in
environmental protection. To preserve our natural environment,
we focus on optimizing resource consumption and preventing and
controlling emissions and pollution. In FY2023, the Group was in
compliance with related environmental laws and regulations and had
a proper implementation of environmental protection measures in our
operations regarding energy and GHG emissions management, air and
water pollution control, and waste management and reduction. Through
continuously engaging our employees and customers, the Group
strives to create long-term environmental values for its stakeholders
and society.

The Group’s operation does not create significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

WASTE MANAGEMENT AND REDUCTION

The Group has implemented a holistic waste management approach to
address waste management, which enables the Group to handle the
waste generated from its operations effectively. During the reporting
period, the Group did not produce nor discharge any hazardous wastes
(solid waste or sewage) to the environment as a result of its operations.
As for the non-hazardous wastes generated by the restaurant business,
it mainly comprised of kitchen food waste, meal leftover, waste cooking
oil, packaging materials and other general waste. For our [T solution
business, due to its business nature, the operation does not involve
significant waste. With our goal to reduce waste disposal in landfills, we
encourage the adoption of recycling and reuse practice. We engage in
sustainable practices by recycling carton boxes and reusing appliances
and equipment that are in good condition whenever possible in its
operations.

Food waste

A variety of measures have been implemented by the Group to manage
different types of food waste as part of our efforts to reduce the
amount of food waste produced. We implement inventory monitoring
to prevent excessive procurement and minimize wastage of unsold
prepared food. Moreover, we promote the reduction of wastage by
encouraging employees to utilize all ingredients and supplies with care
and encouraging customers to request smaller portion of meal in order
to prevent leftovers.
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To foster food waste recycling, we give full support to the stores
operating in shopping malls with a food waste recycling program in
place by diligently following the instructions and separating the food
waste as directed to facilitate its handling.

Waste Cooking Oil

As we are aware of the importance of sustainable waste management
to our business development and natural environment, the Group
has taken steps to manage waste cooking oil, which is a significant
consumable ingredient in our restaurant business. We have opted
to sell the waste cooking oil to qualified parties under the Waste
Cooking Oil Recycling Administrative Registration Scheme to minimise
its adverse impacts on the environment. The recycled oil will then be
utilized to produce industrial products that are both practical and high-
value, including biodiesel and soap.

Packaging Material

Under the impact of COVID-19, we are aware of the rising importance
of take-away and delivery business in the catering industry. As such,
we strive to contribute to the sustainable development of our planet and
thus have implemented various measures to reduce packaging waste
due to the environmental impacts caused by the excessive use of
disposable food containers and utensils. We provide takeaway orders
to our customers without disposable utensils and drinks consumed in-
store without plastic straws unless they request. To raise the awareness
of the public towards an environmentally friendly lifestyle, we encourage
our customers to bring their own reusable containers when ordering
takeaway. On the other hand, we continuously explore the feasibility
of adopting more environmentally friendly and sustainable packaging
design and materials.

During the reporting period, the Group’s operations comply with the
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354). There was no violation or
punishment filed by the relevant regulatory authorities. In its efforts to
comply with waste charging regulations, the Group will closely monitor
the development of the waste charging scheme and respond to the
regulations proactively by implementing new initiatives.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

SRRERMEMEY RAZ2NIXEFEEAL
SFENRMEYEOKEE - BHERBEEN
Y IR IE R R BEY) ) B A JT (B 32

BEER MM

KMERBAREEMERHRMEBEREE
RERRENERNE  WAKRBERIEREE
BRERRH ERRMEREBNIEZSHRER
M ZRPERERB(EERABDEKITHRE
LA EDKEERMBAE T AT REERK
HURFOAMPE - DUCHEREBNEE
EREREENTXER BREMHTEE -

BEMH

H2019EMMERTE T RMAXSEBEINE
REEBEERELFNERE - Bt - B
NWBHWIRAFKERRELER YO RRER
HERLBRER AERIBEERINER
MEBREEHRBENNTE - BRIFBER
HEFR - TRIFATERINER EREINREL
BT ERERRMIBELBHRE - BRI DRY
BRREDZEENED BRMAXBBEEBEINE
BEBMAR: - »— 7 H  BRATERRRA
FRARNMAIFEERNBERG MM EH AT -

RBEHE  AEEN2EER(EMEE FR)D
34T WERFEBEEAPIEEERK
BEE] RN BT RWE LR BIET - A%
B ZERRREFENERBR  BE
HEITH AR EEIR -

—

[



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENERGY AND GREENHOUSE GAS MANAGEMENT

The electricity consumed by the restaurant business comes from the
operation of electrical devices and equipment for the daily operational
procedures of refrigeration, cooking and other routine operational
requirements. Besides, a small percentage of restaurants primarily rely
on towngas as their fuel source for cooking. For IT solution business,
the electricity consumption includes electricity consumed by central
office air-conditioning, lighting and other electronic devices.

Our restaurants have implemented several energy-saving measures to
improve their energy efficiency performance. Apart from the installation
of LED lighting at all restaurants, our staff are regularly reminded and
provided with constant reminders and tips relating to consuming energy
wisely and preventing unnecessary energy use during their daily duties.
Strategy has been implemented to decrease energy consumption
during daily operations. This involves scheduling the use of energy-
intensive equipment during specific timeslots for mass processing to
achieve high energy efficiency comparing with the round-the-clock
approach. For the IT solution division, our measures to improve the
offices’ energy consumption and efficiency including the promotion
of use of energy-efficient appliances, implementation of a time zoning
system to turn off non-essential lights after business hours and
arrangement of work-from-home practice for employees.

Apart from our continuous efforts in reducing electricity usage, we also
assign the F&B Operations Department and store managers at each
store to monitor and review the effectiveness of its initiatives and the
reduction progress in energy consumption regularly. In the event that
discrepancies are found between energy consumption records and
observed business performance, appropriate follow-up actions and
rectification measures will be taken. The company has been focusing
on enhancing the environmental consciousness of its employees
through internal training and communication. With the aim of reducing
air pollutant emissions through go-green initiatives, the Group’s senior
management is committed to oversee and assess the current emission
patterns.

For the long term development of its business, the Group will monitor
its performance on non-hazardous waste generation and explore
opportunities to enhance its waste management system through
innovative technologies.
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AIR AND WATER POLLUTION CONTROL

Given the Group’s restaurant business nature, it acknowledges the
air and water emissions that result from its operations. To minimise
adverse environmental impact and related public health issues caused
by pollution, we have implemented various preventative measures.

As the main sources of emissions originate from the cooking process,
to effectively capture cooking fume emission from food preparation,
we have installed range hoods and hydrovents in the food processing
centre and all restaurants. Moreover, we have also installed grease
traps to remove grease and other oily substances in wastewater and
liquid food waste during different food preparation processes. The
grease trap is regularly cleaned by our kitchen staff to avoid the leakage
of grease and oil into the wastewater stream.

The Group has implemented strict measures to regulate its emission
and discharge activities in compliance with the operating licenses of
its operations. Our staff are instructed to remain vigilant about any
abnormal conditions at emissions outlets and report any known or
suspected violation of regulations related to the hazardous discharge of
air and water in a responsible manner.

During the reporting period, the Group operated in full compliance with
the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311) and Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Cap. 358). There was no violation and punishment
filed by the relevant regulatory authorities.

RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group is aware of the global climate change and acknowledges
that its business is inevitably being affected by different potential
scenarios, such as shifting weather patterns and extreme weather
events. As such, we will stay up to date on climate change and make
ongoing improvements to its operation manuals. We will also formulate
and monitor our adaptation measures for responding to severe weather
conditions such as typhoons or flooding and enhance our employees’
environmental awareness and ability to handle climate-related
emergencies.

To reduce the exposure to increasing environmental and regulatory
risks and enhance its business value, the Group will continue to monitor
the development of Hong Kong Government policies and is in the
process of incorporating climate change into risk management and
formulating guidelines and measures on climate resiliency to ensure
climate risks and related opportunities are appropriately managed.
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The Group has set the following environmental targets in order to
demonstrate its commitment to combating climate change and
reducing its environmental impact:

- Minimising greenhouse gas emission;

- Enhancing energy efficiency by upgrading thermostat controlled
and energy efficient air conditioning; and

- Increasing employee’s awareness for energy saving and
environmental protection.

Currently, Minshang has taken appropriate measures to mitigate
climate-related risk, believing that the aforementioned potential impacts
on our operations won’t be material. We will continue to monitor
and assess the latest climate-related developments and formulate
appropriate mitigation measures to minimize our exposure to the
climate-related risks.
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Type of Climate Risk Specific Risk Potential Impact Our Response
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Acute Physical Risk Risks that are driven by These risks may increase The Group has formulated

S EEER extreme weather events, the possibility of health and ~ operational procedures in
such as, typhoon, heavy safety hazards to our staff relation to rainy season and
rainfall, and floods. and consumers, increase extreme weather events
B Rim AR E o2 a@Ek - insurance premiums and safeguard the health and
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Chronic Physical Risk Risks associated with Longer-term changes inthe  Energy-saving initiatives are
181 R R b longer-term shifts in climate climate, such as increasing being implemented by the
patterns, such as sustained mean temperatures at our Group in order to minimize
high temperature, change in business locations may the impact of sustained higher
precipitation patterns. increase operating and temperature.
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BE - HgRERHRS

Type of Climate Risk
R & B 38 5

Specific Risk
B 88 = ks

Potential Impact

BEXE

Our Response

ALk ES

Transition Risk — Policy and
Legal
R [ — R ROE R

New policies and regulations
relating to a low-carbon
economy transition proposed
by the government.

BT 4 H B ik A 42 B E
BT BUR SOEHR o

More stringent policy
requirements towards
decarbonisation may cause
higher capital investment and
other non-compliance fines.
52 D0 BRAE A R B BRUSR AR 5E AT
REEERESNEAKRER
Hih A& REK

Our finance and legal
departments keep abreast

of the latest regulatory
development to ensure
compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations in the
jurisdictions that we operate.
BB A AERFIEE®
MEERSFNEEERE
NERESTEANRMES
B RDERE R 2ERTER

Transition Risk — Reputation
BERR-BE

Increasing public expectation
on lower-carbon economy
transition may cause
reputational impact on the
business.

AR RS EEINHE Y
KHE - AlRegHeENBE
BT E -

The Group’s reputation would
be adversely affected if it does
not take proactive steps to
address climate change and
meet the public expectation.
il T ERERAR 12 15 it 4 SR 1k
BleRmERARHAE K&
WEEERITREE -

The Group is exploring the
opportunities of transforming
its operations into low-carbon
operation to avoid negative
perception of the organisation
due to lack of progress.
REBEERRBHERE
BRERESHES - #
% PR = HE R T 31 4 338K
BHEHR -

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group strives to promote inclusiveness and demonstrate respect
towards different community groups. Not only providing customers with
high-quality food and services at reasonable prices, but also creating
a barrier-free dining environment by designing our restaurants in
accordance with the “Design Manual: Barrier Free Access 2008” under

HERE

the Building (Planning) Regulation and providing sufficient assistance to

customers with special needs.
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To promote corporate social responsibility, we strive to create a
better community and continue to participate in various community
engagement activities and support social development, including
participation in community services, charitable sponsorships, education
programmes, cultural and sports activities and environmental protection

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

initiatives. In the future, the Group will actively explore opportunities in
encouraging its employees to devote time and effort to support and
spread warmth to our local community.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

CEEEET
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE RIBEAN
Unit 2021/22 2022/23
B 2021/22 % 2022/23 F
Air Pollutants’
ERIEEY
Nitrogen Oxides (‘NO,”) emissions Gaseous fuel consumption Kg 6.27 5.37
RAAIIEN REEELEE Tr
Sulphur Oxides (“SO, ") emissions Gaseous fuel consumption Kg 0.03 0.08
el e REEIAELEFE T=
Greenhouse Gas Emissions?
BERBHEK?
Scope 1 Emission Stationary combustion of tonne CO, equivalent 83.37 71.41
Towngas
#E 15 BRE M_SftiREE
Fugitive emissions (HFC and tonne CO, equivalent 4.24 -
PFC) from use of refrigerant®
FRYELBESREMHER (T M_attREE
AR EamRERMRKY)
Total tonne CO, equivalent 87.61 71.41
we WS thEE
Scope 2 Emission Purchased electricity*® tonne CO, equivalent 520.45 379.11
#E 25K HNBEE 40 WM-StikE =S
Purchased Towngas?®® tonne CO, equivalent 19.33 16.11
SMEERE 26 WM_ftikE e
Total tonne CO, equivalent 539.78 395.23
we WS thEE

REaIRHER AR A A
2023 F 3k



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BE - HgRERHRS

Unit 2021/22 2022/23
B 2021/22 2022/23 F
Total greenhouse gas emissions Total tonne CO, equivalent 627.40 466.64
mERBAHNE we WS tREE
Intensity tonne CO, equivalent per 10.12 4.38
HKD million revenue
BE M_ftREE / BEE
T AR
Waste Generation’
=27)-3 44
Non-hazardous waste generated Food waste disposed® Kg 6,370 4,485
BEENELS RERmEY® TR
Waste cooking oil recycled® L 12,249 8,896
EERMABEKE® #
Office paper purchased'® Kg 130 125
WRERBES T=
Resources Consumption
BIFEE
Direct energy consumption Purchased Towngas® MWh 435.5 373.0
=R SNBSS KBS
Indirect energy consumption Purchased electricity® MWh 1,369.2 9721
ks HNEE 77 K LB
Total energy consumption Total MWh 1,804.6 1,345.1
BEFME He JEEL B
Intensity MWh per HKD million 29.1 12.6
revenue
BE kEK,/BEBTHE
Water consumption' Total ms3 31,106 22,100
FKE we MK
Intensity m?® per HKD million 501.7 207.3
revenue
BE VAR BEETHES
Packaging material consumption' Plastic bag (Take away)™ tonne 1.3 1.1
BEMEERE? BEE(NE)® I
Foam/Plastic food container®  tonne 14.6 11.8
TEBBHRRAES [
Total tonne 15.9 12.9
HE W
Intensity tonne per HKD million 0.3 0.1
revenue
BE M,/ BEATHE
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Remarks:

The Group’s air pollutant emission was calculated based on “Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by the HKEX.

Greenhouse gas emissions of the Group included carbon dioxide (“CO,"),
methane (“CH,”), nitrous oxide (“N,0”) and hydrofluorocarbons (“HFCs”).

Emission data relating to HFC emissions for refrigeration was based on the
“Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes)
in Hong Kong” issued by the Environmental Protection Department and the
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department. The significant decrease on
fugitive emission was due to no purchase of refrigerants during the reporting
period.

Figures were calculated based on the carbon emission factors per unit of
electricity sold published by the CLP Group in 2022.

The Scope 2 emissions and indirect energy consumption from purchased
electricity decreased due to the closure of some restaurants and the impact of
COVID-19 and its related restrictions.

Figures were calculated based on the carbon emission factors per unit of gas
production published by the Hong Kong and China Gas Company in 2022.

Due to the business nature of the Group, hazardous waste is not considered
as a material topic to the Group’s operation. Thus the quantity of hazardous
waste generated is not disclosed.

Figure was calculated based on an estimation with reference to the average
daily food waste generated from restaurants. The decrease in food waste was
mainly due to the closure of some restaurants, and the reduction of overall
sales volume.

Figure was calculated based on the waste cooking oil recycling records
provided by the restaurants. The decrease in waste cooking oil recycled was
mainly due to the closure of some restaurants and the reduction of overall
sales volume.

The office paper purchased has decreased due to the closure of some
restaurants.

The decrease in water consumption was mainly due to the closure of some
restaurants.

Figure is compiled based on the purchase records of packaging materials.
The consumption of plastic bag (take away) and foam/plastic food container

decreased due to the closure of some restaurants and the reduction in overall
sales volume.

(i

BE - HEgkELAHRS

AER B ZE 5 R B BE THAR SRS 22 A T35 A0 Kt
% REMRABIERERESDE -

REBENRERBHREE ik (=& i) -
(Rl  ftaR((EEER]) RERHRL
v ([ Eauml) -

HEEUL B DA PERE B HERBUR IR IEE
BRERESHARETRETNEN(EEREY (7
% EERALAE) AR E R B ORER 12
BEMBEESDEE - ARUEFREXRBRD - 5
FE R RS R I AR AR BLUS BIPTER -

ZEHFHRET EREAR2022F F MM E L
EEMRIERE FETHE

F BB 53 B BB B B A} 201978 ik 75 & 77 I EL AE R
R E  wEE 2PN RINEE N RE IR
HRERTRD

ZEHFHIREFTEFERRERAQAN2022F
BMHFEMERNBRBEREFE -

MR ARENEBEE  EEERDTHARAE
BLENEEFR -Elt YERBEMEENES
BERYBE -

i3

ZHFHIRE2EEREELNTFHERRBENE
TOEEFE - REEYRD DI EHN D EE
RARA R BB IHE R -

El

ZEF IR B AR A0 B B R Fh O R Et
H-BEERAMEKERD AN EREREMHR

HRED BB RAKKBEBAMIRD

FRERD T EEHAN D EERMA -

ZBFHIREEEM MO RBLEAR -

HRE D EEREE R EEHEND  BHR(ONE)
REAE EHRRDEEEERRL o

REaIRHER AR A A
2023 F 3k

67



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BE - HgRERHRS

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE it B
Unit 2021/2022 2022/2023
B 2021/2022 F 2022/2023 &
Total Workforce'® Number 78 100% 59 100%
EEHEH S A8
By Gender Male Number and percentage 17 22% 18 31%
14 RIE 5 S AE KBS
Female 61 78% 41 69%
g
By Age Age 30 or below 7 9% 7 12%
RERE D B0ARE AT
Age 31-50 25 32% 25 42%
31-5075%
Age 51 or above 46 59% 27 46%
5183 A £
By Employment Type Permanent 73 94% 52 88%
REREREE S KA
Part-time 5 6% 7 12%
FeHL
By Employee Category  Senior management 5 6% 7 12%
RERERIZ S RREEAE
Middle management 6 8% 6 10%
HRERAR
Frontline staff 67 86% 46 78%
RIARE T
Average monthly employee turnover rate'® Percentage - 8.9% - 7.2%
FIHAERERAES Batk
By Gender Male Percentage — 16.0% — 6.2%
RIERIE 5 B Bt
Female = 7.4% = 7.6%
pegid
By Age Age 30 or below - 25.5% = 6.4%
REWRE D 30BRBIA T
Age 31-50 - 13.6% - 6.9%
31-50 5%
Age 51 or above = 4.9% = 7.4%
513 £
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Employee development and training'’

EERREREIN

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HERERHE

Unit
B

2021/2022
2021/2022

2022/2023
2022/2023

Percentage of employees trained
XilEEBA DL

Workforce trained by gender
REREsNZIES

Female

ZE

Male

S

Workforce trained by employment category
RERERNEINZIEES
Senior management

SRERAE

Middle management

HRERAR

Frontline staff

HIARE T

Average training hours received by employee
EEEZNFHEIEH
Average training hours by gender
R85 #Y T H 1E I R
Female

e

Male

&

Average training hours by employment category

RERER 8 5 0 Fi9EIRH
Senior management
RREEAE

Middle management
REREEAE

Frontline staff

RIARE T

%
%

%

%

%
%

hours
NS

hours

AN

hours
AN

31%

67%

33%

0%

0%

100%

0.31

0.26

0.47

0.36

42%

72%

28%

0%

0%

100%

0.42

0.44

0.39

0.54

RERIFHERER AR

2023 F 3k
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERERE

Unit 2021/2022 2022/2023
B 2021/2022 F 2022/2023 F
Health and Safety
BREHRZE
Work-related fatalities Number and rate — 0% — 0%
ETERRIET AR AB K b=
Lost days due to work-related injury Number of calendar day 127 N/ATiE A - N/ATEA
EITBERIIERE HEXE
Product and service-related complaints Number of cases 32 N/ATER - N/ATEA
BT 2E o S IR TS BV # 5F ESVE6 s
Products sold or shipped subject to recalls for Number and Percentage = 0% = 0%
safety and health reasons’”
E&aiEREmmARKNE &k HFERBD
BEEXEmM"

Charitable donation HK$ 5,250 N/ANiE A - N/ATEA
BRERE B TT
SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT HESER

Unit 2021/2022 2022/2023

B 2021/2022 F 2022/2023 F
Total number of suppliers Number 151
HIE R A E #HH
Number of suppliers by geographical region
iR & o e e #
Hong Kong Number 30
BB o gE|
Mainland China Number 121
H B K [ #HHE

15.  Workforce indicators refer to the number of employees as at the end of the

Group’s financial year.

16.  Monthly employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the leavers of each
month by the month end employee number of that month. The Average
monthly employee turnover rate is calculated by averaging the monthly

employee turnover rate of all 12 months in this financial year.

17.  The methodology adopted for reporting on employee development and training
data set out above was based on “How to Prepare on ESG Report — Appendix

3: Reporting Guideline on Social KPIs” issued by HKEX.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BERERE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HERERHE

B FTESGH &HIESIRB R

Reference Chapters and Remarks

EHRMERS

Governance Structure
BRI

Reporting Principles
g RA

Reporting Boundary
HREHE

Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs

BE - —REBERERENER

About this Report and Our Management to ESG Issues
BARAmMEUARKMENRE e REREEALER
About this Report and Our Management to ESG Issues
BARAREUARBMAERERR HeRhEEEZER
About this Report and Our Management to ESG Issues
BRAREUARBMERRE HEREGEEIER

Reference Chapters/

Description Remarks
i BH MR

A. Environmental

A RER

Aspect A1: Emissions
BEAT: By

General Disclosure
— B EE

KPIA1.1
FASAE ISR AL

KPIA1.2
FAS A IEIRAL2

KPIA1.3
BASERRUIEIRAT.S

Environmental Protection
IRIBRE

Information on:

(@ the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous

waste.

EHERMAEREER  MAKREIHOHES EEREE

R R EEFH

@ BE: K

(b)) BETFHBOTATEATENHEEERERRM

B &K

The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Key Performance

PR AR B BB - Indicator
B2 AE BUEAR

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas  Key Performance

emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity. Indicator

B (8E1) kegRAEE (SE2) ) REREHNE (LAETE) BEREZIER

K (M@ER) BE -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Key Performance

appropriate, intensity. Indicator
FTEAAEREZYES (LWMEHE) & (WER) BE - BB E RS

REaIRHER AR A A
2023 F 3k
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BE - HgRERHRS

Aspects,

General Disclosure, KPIs
BE —REERBARERIER

Description
it

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B MRS

KPI A1.4
FASRAEMIEIRALA

KPI A1.5
FASEMIEIRALS

KPI A1.6
FASAEMIEIRALG

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 : ERERA

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPI A2.1
PSR MBI A2.1

KPI A2.2
FASAE ISR A2.2

KPIA2.3
FASAEMIEIRA2.3

KPI A2.4
RS AE IR IZEA2.4

KPI A2.5
FASAE MR A2.5

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity.

FEARZEZYESE CAEAE) R(NER)BE -

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

HAPAET BN E B R R REDEL B EMRIMA LR -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are

handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

HlREAEERBEZTEEMN A RO SZARREER
BEREIELBRAMRRE TR -

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.

BERERER(BREER - KEEMEME) EE -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total (kWh
in ’000s) and intensity.

RENESHMERER SEERREREE UTETRRE)
REE -

Water consumption in total and intensity.
BREKERFE -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

FEA AT 2 B0 BE IR R A R Es B IR R R iE B 5 i B IR FTER ALY
g

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

0 SKEGE R KR £ AT AA E IR - A M PTRT S Bk s
ARk REDEL B FMRINTR -

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
YR MATAREMANEE (EETE) R (MER) B4EES

f15E -

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023

Key Performance
Indicator

RS A MUIE R

Environmental Protection
B RE

Environmental Protection
RIZIRE

Environmental Protection
IRIBIRE

Key Performance
Indicator

RA S A R AR

Key Performance
Indicator

RRER A IR IR

Environmental Protection
RIFIRE

Environmental Protection
IRIBRE

Key Performance
Indicator

RS A UE R



Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm- - —REERERENER

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HERERHE

Reference Chapters/

Description Remarks
it B MR

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBEA3: RERKXRER

General Disclosure
— MR E

KPI A3.1
BASE AR RIEIR AT

Aspect A4: Climate Change
BHEA4 : RIFEL

General Disclosure
— R

KPI A4.1
PSR AR SR A4.1

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the Environmental Protection
environment and natural resources. RIGRE
BIRBITABRERRAEREKERNZEHBE -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the Environmental Protection
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to IRIBRE

manage them.
B R EHIRBRAARBERNERAZEREERNERS
MR 2H1TE o

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- Environmental Protection
related issues which have impacted, and those which may RIFIRE

impact, the issuer.

BRI REHEC ARG HBETAEEXENEARIZEH

EHMOBGR -

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have  Environmental Protection
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the IRIBIRE

actions taken to manage them.

HME RSB TAEETENEARGHEBEE -

NEHITE -

REaIRHER AR A A
2023 F 3k

73



74

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BE - HgRERHRS

Aspects,

General Disclosure, KPIs
BE - —REERBARERIER

Description
it

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B MRS

B. Social
B.#t®

Employment and Labour Practices

ERERETIER

Aspect B1: Employment

EEB1 : fEfE

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B1.1
PSR A M IE1R BT

KPIB1.2
FASAENIE1RB1.2

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promation,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

B LR E  BEREF  TESHE BRE - FEEKS

Z it - RIERIA KB iE KA A

@ BX: k&

(b)) BETFTHBTATEATENHEBEERERRI
MBS -

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and

geographical region.

RIER - BEEL  FhAFNSREADNESRE -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical
region.

RIER - FirAh RMES S HEERKLE -

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Human Resources
Management
ANEBRER

Key Performance
Indicator

RS AU

Key Performance
Indicator

RA B A R AR



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HERERHE

Aspects, Reference Chapters/
General Disclosure, KPIs Description Remarks
BEH —REERBEREAREE HL B8, MR

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EEB2: REHEZZE

General Disclosure
— MR E

KPI B2.1
RS 4E IR IZEB2.1

KPI B2.2
FABARIEIRB2.2

KPIB2.3
BABARIEIRB2.3

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

FARELZE2TIERERREREERABEEEEN

@ XK

) BFHBITABERZENRBEREKRAR

BWEH -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of

the past three years including the reporting year.
BE=F (BRERFE)BFAITHHAB KL E -

Lost days due to work injury.
EIBERTEHE -

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.
Fa Al T ER AN BV B SR R FR B 2 B4 it - DA AR T SR BE R 0%

Aspect B3: development and Training

[EE B3 : & KIE

General Disclosure
— MR R

KPI B3.1
BASEAR I 1R BS.1

KPI B3.2
BASEARIE1RB3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BHRARTEEBRITIIEBRE N MBS BR - il
JEED ©

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category.
RERREEERESNZIEEBTDLL

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.
BRMFIREEEMNED  BEEETHEINFHRE -

Human Resources
Management
ANEBRER

Key Performance
Indicator
B B2 48 BUE R

Key Performance
Indicator
R A IR R

Human Resources
Management
ANERE R

Human Resources
Management

ANBRER

Key Performance
Indicator

RASR A R IR

Key Performance
Indicator
B B2 4B IR R

REaIRHER AR A A
2023 F 3k
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERERE

Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs Description
BEH —REERBEREAREE HL

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B MRS

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : & T#E

General Disclosure Information on:
— MR E (@) the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

BRAD 1L E T ko845 THY

@ BxX: X

(b)) EBTFHETABERTZENE@ER KRB

H)E R} o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to
RS AE I IZE B4 avoid child and forced labour.

fatag T BB Gl e AR R 2 T R oR &5 T -
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
A AE IE1ZEB4.2 discovered.

MR ERBERAREREBERARIA SR -
Operating Practices
ERED
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEBS : ftrEEEE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
— MR supply chain.
EREEENRERAERRBUR
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.
B B2 48 R 1R B5.1 Rilm B D EHEEEE -
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number
a8 B RUEIEBS.2 of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how

they are implemented and monitored.

AR A HEERMED - AERTAEBELNHEREE -

AN BAEIT REER G -

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

Human Resources
Management
ANEBRER

Human Resources
Management
ANEBRER

Human Resources
Management
ANEBRER

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmkREEE

Key Performance
Indicator

R AR IR

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmkREEE



Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm- - —REERERENER

Description
it

Environmental,; Social and Governance Report
BRI HEREARS

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B MRS

KPI B5.3
PSRN 515 B5.3

KPI B5.4
FAS/RIE1RB5.4

Aspect B6: Product responsibility

[EEB6: Em&EE

General Disclosure

—MRIXE

KPI B6.1
A 4E M 515 B6.1

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and

monitored.

Tt A R A8 B €1 FE B B (EER AT AV IR 35 At @ L

KRBT RERTTA -

2 BB B -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

i ERE R B R EZ RIRREm MR EH -

HERTRERGE -

Information on:
(@ the policies; and

AR

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and

safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to

products and services provided and methods of redress.

BRAMREHERMRGNRERZE  BES  RELALES

B ARG AR
@ BxX: X

b) BETFHBETABERZENEBEZLRM

HEF -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls
for safety and health reasons.

BEREEX

BT AL R EEFERMARRNE DL o

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmRkREEE

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmkRFEEE

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmkRFEEE

There has been no
incident of non-
compliance with
regulations and/

or voluntary codes
concerning the health
and safety impacts of
products and services.
R A A B E MRS
HERIRZEEBRTE
MR HERERE
MESF AR FAF o

REaIRHER AR A A
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BE - HgRERHRS

Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm- - —REERERENER

Description
it

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B MRS

KPI B6.2
PSRN 515 B6.2

KPI B6.3
PSRN 515 B6.3

KPI B6.4
FAS AN 515 B6.4

KPI B6.5
R4 WIE1EB6.5

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
EEB7 : RES

General Disclosure
— B EE

Number of products and service related complaints received
and how they are dealt with.

BREANEmLRGORFEB AREEHE X -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.
B A R FE AN B E RS A IE R -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
HilEEsREBRERERBIKERT -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
how they are implemented and monitored.
HEEEERHRE RFLBBE - ARAEERITRERFE -

Information on:

(@ the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

@ Bk
(o) BTFEHBITABERTEMNBBRERZRIED
KB R o

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmMREEE

Protection of Customer
Data Privacy and
Intellectual Property
Rights
RERZFERLERM
AR

Not a material topic to
Minshang since majority
of business is about IT
solution and restaurant,
and there is no product
recall from its operation.
HEMBIBNIIEE KHE
B AEBBARE D
REREHR R T R &
ER MAZEPITE
AT E B -

Protection of Customer
Data Privacy and
Intellectual Property
Rights

RIE % P &KL & A0
BN

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmkREEE



Aspects,
General Disclosure, KPIs

Bm- - —REERERENER

Description
it

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HERERHE

Reference Chapters/
Remarks

B MRS

KPIB7.1
PSR A M IE1R BT A

KPI B7.2
R AR WIEIZEBT.2

KPIB7.3
BASARIEIRBT.3

Community
HE

Aspect B8: Community
investment

EEB8: HERE

General Disclosure
— MR R

KPI B8.1
B AE M 515 B8

KPI B8.2
RS AN IE1R B8.2

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices

There has been no legal

brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting cases regarding corrupt

period and the outcomes of the cases.

practices brought

RERANAETANEESRENEFSENESHARY  against the Group or its

BB KRR -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
AL S s e BRI 0 LA RARRERIT RER L o

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and

staff.

fREERE TRENREFEI

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its

employees.
IR B EHAEE L EE
BIREMESHADERMY -

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmkRBEE

Product and Service
Responsibility
EmkREEE

Community Investment

HERE

activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

BRANHRSERTREEMELRTZMERE RS

SEBALRANSHOBE °

Focus areas of contribution.

EXTERER

Resources contributed to the focus area.

EEISREMBAER-

Community Investment
HRIKRE

Community Investment
HERIRE

REaIRHER AR A A
2023 F 3k
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Directors’ Report

EFERE

The Directors present this report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2028.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in the operation of Viethamese-style casual dining
restaurants with 3 restaurants in Hong Kong, trading business and
information technology (“IT”) solution business in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) as at 31 March 2023. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements. The segment information of the operations of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 is set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023,
including (i) a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
by the Group; (ii) an indication of likely future developments in the
business of the Group; (i) an analysis using financial key performance
indicators; (iv) a discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance and (v) an account of the Group’s key relationships with
employees, customers and suppliers, is set out in the sections headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of this annual report, respectively. These
discussions form part of this annual report.

Details for the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group and the
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the financial year are set out on page 92 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 104 and 105 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2023.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2023 are
set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, was approximately HK$169.7 million inclusive of share premium
and accumulated losses.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2023 are set out in
Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreement during the
year ended 31 March 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles and
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 207 and 208 of this
annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the shares during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Directors’ Report

BEEeRs
REFEERTHRG
REE2023F3A31 B IEFEBEITRMD A
B RS ISR R M 5E30 »
A] & il & fis

MR2023F3H31H - BERSHERGEFE
NARANRAIH DR EEL A169.7H 875 T (8
ERDRERZFTERE) -

SETERREMMER

R2023F 3 31 B AEBERNFBHNLES
P HRERMEE27 ©
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RKARREE2023F3A31 HILFEWLERT L
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EiBERE

ERATNTEELEERNRAEAREREX
BRETYEHZSZENORS  REANRAA
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MEBE

AEBRBESETRFENEEAREERE
B EFH R ARFHRE 207 X 208 & °

ME HERXREFELF EHES
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EEERE

DONATION

The Group did not made any donation during the year ended 31 March

2028.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 8 November
2016. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 29 November
2016 and its principal terms are summarized below:

(1

(2

(3)

PURPOSE

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Board to grant options to Eligible Persons (as defined below)
as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group and to recruit and retain high calibre
Eligible Persons and attract human resources that are valuable to
the Group.

ELIGIBLE PERSONS

“Eligible Persons” refer to (i) any employee or proposed employee
(whether full time or part time, including any director) of any
member of the Group or invested entity; and (i) any supplier
of goods or services, any customer, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support,
any shareholder or other participants who contributes to the
development and growth of the Group or any invested entity.

TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE FOR
ISSUE

A maximum of 80,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue on Listing Date (representing approximately
8.96% of the issued shares of the Company as at the date of
this annual report) and the subdivision of shares of the Company
approved on 24 August 2018 and become effective on 27 August
2018, which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH ELIGIBLE
PERSON

Unless approved by the Shareholders in general meeting and
subject to the following paragraph, the maximum number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme to any one person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from
time to time.

Options granted to a substantial Shareholder or an INED or any
of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number of
Shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5 million, must be approved by the Shareholders in general
meeting in advance.

OPTION PERIOD

Subject to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, an option may
be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee at any time before
the expiry of the period to be determined and notified by the
Board to the grantee which in any event shall not be longer than
ten years commencing on the date of the offer letter and expiring
on the last day of such ten-year period.

MINIMUM VESTING PERIOD

No minimum period for which an option must be held before the
exercise of any option save as otherwise imposed by the Board in
the relevant offer of options.

PAYMENT ON ACCEPTANCE OF THE OPTION

Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to submit
to the Company a duly signed offer letter within 21 days from the
offer date together with a payment in favour of the Company of
HK$1 per option as the consideration of the grant.

(4)

(®)

(6)

()

Directors’ Report

EEERE

BEEERATHEELIR

BRIEER RN R AR E#E KRR T X
EZBET - RME 1218 A #E A E R &
IEARRET Bl MR — & A 3% A BB AR i
(BIEEITE  BaFiE RHARITERERE)
BITEMBITRE TETNRSROEE
NEBBIRFEEITROA1% o

A—BEERRK—BBEILIFRTESL
EARESENBHBEAL (EER LMRAD
BhzBRE  WRBERL B (BEZ
B) EEA+—EABHEEAEES %
TRRAD BRI 0.1% ¢ K (D) RE K H B &Y
BB ESENBERAAEET
AZEBRENR L ASCERRIE R
RE L#fE -

B IR R

RIFEARETBNRA ARATRES
AT R AE AR AR H [ JE R A BE B

DE L EDITIERR AR - MR R I
ARGRBEL LB BETF 1
RETFHRE—BERM
REEBYE

SROFEZ S ERBREZOMAITRE
PR IAE R A1 TRE AT BT A S AS A -

EpBEREANRE

BRE N2 EERANELN R HEF 21
BARARFEXLEARENEGKMT
WRAARE N EREREE T KA
TERREBEERRE -

REaIRHER AR A A
2023 F 3k

83



84

Directors’ Report

EEERE

8

©)

BASIS OF DETERMINING THE EXERCISE PRICE

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such
price as determined by the Board, and shall be at least the
highest of:

()  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date (the
“Offer Date”), which must be a trading day, on which the
Board passes a resolution approving the making of an offer
of grant of an option to an Eligible Person;

(i)  the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share on the Offer Date.

REMAINING LIFE

Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting
or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme, after which period no
further options shall be granted. All options granted and accepted
and remaining unexercised immediately prior to the expiry of the
Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no option has been
granted under the Share Option Scheme. Therefore, no option was
exercised or cancelled or lapsed during the year ended 31 March 2023
and there was no outstanding option as at 31 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date
of this report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WU Jiangtao (Chairman)

Mr. TAO Jingyuan (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael (Appointed on 30 November 2022)
Mr. LU Sheng Hong (Resigned on 10 January 2023)

Ms. LI Jia (Resigned on 30 November 2022)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy
Mr. CHEUNG Miu
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation and shall be subject to re-election at each
AGM, provided that every Director shall retire at least once every three
years.

Accordingly, Mr. LAl Xiaopeng Michael, Mr. CHEUNG Pak To and Mr.
CHEUNG Miu shall retire from office at the forthcoming AGM and being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 18 to 21 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. WU Jiangtao, Mr. TAO Jingyuan and Mr. LAl Xiaopeng
Michael, being the executive Directors, has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of one year, which will continue
thereafter unless terminated by either party giving to the other not less
than three months’ notice in writing.

Each of Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy, Mr. CHEUNG Miu and Mr.
CHEUNG Pak To, being the Independent Non-executive Directors, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one
year commencing on 6 July 2018, which is renewable automatically for
successive terms of one year commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of his appointment, and
either the Independent Non-executive Directors or the Company may
terminate the agreement by giving the other party not less than one
month’s notice in writing.

None of the Directors, including those are proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM, has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors and chief executives
of the Company had any interests or short positions in any shares
or underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) of the Company which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which
were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements,
there was no contract of significance (whether for the provision of
services to the Group or not) in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any controlling Shareholder had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY AND OTHER PERSONS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware of as at 31 March 2023, the following
corporations and person (not being a Director or the chief executive
of the Company) had an interest or a short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO, as follows:

ERFEERRREMAL
78 2 4 7] Bx 13 B 481 BR BX {5 &Y
gERRRE

MEBEFTANE > R2023F3H31H AT EE
MAL (YHFEERARFNRSTHAE) R
MDA D P EE RIEEFREHEEHIEXV
HE2RID G BETHEENERIAR -
SRERR AR AR E 5 R S 15555 336 15 2
HEATEZELMRmESSORAE DT ¢

Percentage of

Number of Number of the Company’s
Ordinary Derivative Issued
Name of Substantial Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Shares Shares share capital
YN
BRTRA
TERRAE 5,/ ERtE BERHE TEROHE BAk
MSEC Holdings Limited (‘MSEC Holdings”) (Note 2) Beneficial owner 556,298,182 (L) - 62.28%
MSEC Holdings Limited ([MSEG HoldingsJ) (F{5£2) EnEAA
RUNMING International Limited (‘RUNMING”) (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation  556,298,182(L) = 62.28%
HHEBERAR AR (TE#E]) (HE2) R EE RS
Shanghai Yingzhao Investment Management Company Interest of controlled corporation 556,298,182L) = 62.28%
Limited* (“Shanghai Yingzhao”) (Note 2)
FERBREEEERAR ([ LEBRB]) (f:E2) REEE RS
Zhuhai Minshang Hongbo Technology Company Limited*  Interest of controlled corporation  556,298,182(L) - 62.28%
(“Minshang Hongbo”) (Note 2)
WERBBBHMRAERAR ((RERE]) (F2) X EE R
Minsheng E-Commerce (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation  556,298,182(L) - 62.28%
R4EER (Fz2) R LB ER
CIKZ Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 126,518,648 (L) = 14.16%
CIKZ Holdings Limited ERBEAA
ZHONG Kaixin Interest of controlled corporation 126,518,648 (L) - 14.16%
E1em R LB ER
CHEN Jiliang Interest of spouse 126,518,648 (L) = 14.16%
BRAE S R BER

* English name is translated for identification purpose only.
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Notes:
1. The letter “L.” denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares.

2. As at 31 March 2023, 556,298,182 Shares were held by MSEC Holdings.
MSEC Holdings is wholly-owned by RUNMING which is in turn wholly-owned
by Shanghai Yingzhao. Shanghai Yingzhao is wholly-owned by Minshang
Hongbo which is in turn wholly-owned by Minsheng E-Commerce. As
such, Minsheng E-Commerce, Minshang Hongbo, Shanghai Yingzhao and
RUNMING were deemed to be interested in the Shares interested by MSEC
Holdings.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors and the chief executive
of the Company are aware, as at 31 March 2023, no corporation/
person (not being a Director or the chief executive of the Company)
had any interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares,
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which was recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 20283, no Director had interest in any
business apart from the Group’s business which directly or indirectly
competed, or was likely to compete with the business of the Group.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year or at the end of the year was the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, or the holding company
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted the following
continuing connected transactions:

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 8 October
2021, the following transactions of the Group constituted continuing
connected transactions for the Company:

PROVISION OF LOANS

Loan agreement 1

On 8 October 2021, A& R &I R F R ORI AR A 7] (Qianhai
Minshang Creative Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited*, “Qianhai
Minshang”), the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary established
in the PRC with limited liability entered into a loan agreement with
FY|Z=E £ B AR A B A & (Shenzhen Tai Rui Financial Services
Company Limited*, “Shenzhen Tai Rui”), the Group’s fellow subsidiary
established in the PRC with limited liability, pursuant to which, Qianhai
Minshang agreed to provide a credit line up to RMB8,200,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$10,000,000) (“Credit Line 1”) to
Shenzhen Tai Rui for a term of 3 years, expiring on 7 October 2024 and
carry interest of 8% per annum from the drawdown date. Shenzhen Tai
Rui was given unlimited guarantee by &N R & g & R GR A A
(Quanzhou Minshang Financing Guarantee Company Limited*), a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of Minsheng E-Commerce established in the
PRC with limited liability.

As at 31 March 2023, the outstanding principal was approximately
HK$9,315,000, and the associated interest income of Credit Line 1 for
the year ended 31 March 2023 was approximately HK$636,000.

Loan agreement 2

On 8 October 2021, the Company entered into a loan agreement
with RUNMING, an intermediate holding company of the Company,
pursuant to which, the Company agreed to provide a credit line up to
HK$10,000,000 (“Credit Line 2”) to RUNMING for a term of 3 years,
expiring on 7 October 2024 and carry interest of 8% per annum from
the drawdown date.

As at 31 March 2023, the outstanding principal was HK$8,100,000,

and the associated interest income of Credit Line 2 for the year ended
31 March 2023 was approximately HK$777,000.

English name is translated for identification purpose only.
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The Company’s auditor, RSM Hong Kong, was engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The Board has confirmed that the auditor has issued
an unqualified letter in respect of the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Rule 56 of Chapter 14A under the
Listing Rules and reported the results in this letter to the Board. A copy
of the auditor’s letter was submitted to the Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions
had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) according to the agreement governing them on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

Certain related party transactions set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements constitute de minimis continuing connected
transactions and are fully exempted from the connected transaction
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than the related party transactions disclosed in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or his/her connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, was entered
into or subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The five largest customers in aggregate and the single largest customer
of the Group accounted for approximately HK$37.2 million or 34.9%
and HK$19.2 million or 18.0% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2023 respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, purchases from the Group’s five
largest suppliers and the largest supplier accounted for approximately
HK$50.2 million or 47.1% and approximately HK$34.0 million or 31.9%
of the total purchases of the Group’s total purchase respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
issued Shares) had interest in any of the above five largest customers
and suppliers of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a public float of no less than 25% of the issued shares as at the date
of this annual report, which was in line with the requirement under the
Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, during the year ended 31
March 2023, the Group complied in all material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Material subsequent events after 31 March 2023 and up to the date of
this annual report are disclosed under the sub-section “Events After the
Reporting Period” under the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis”.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the applicable laws and
regulations, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty,
or supposed duty, in their respective offices. Such permitted indemnity
provision has been in force throughout the year ended 31 March 2023.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares. If the
Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing,
holding, disposing of, dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation to
the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional advisers.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers has resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 19 October 2022 as the Company could not reach
a consensus with PricewaterhouseCoopers on the audit fee for
the financial year ended 31 March 2023. The Directors, with the
recommendation from the Audit Committee, has resolved to appoint
RSM Hong Kong as the new auditor of the Company with effect from
19 October 2022 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of
PricewaterhouseCoopers and to hold office until the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”). The
Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by RSM Hong
Kong, who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for reappointment
at the upcoming AGM. A resolution will be proposed at the upcoming
AGM to reappoint RSM Hong Kong as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

WU Jiangtao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
3L % BB 3R

To the Shareholders of Minshang Creative Technology Holdings
Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Minshang
Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 104 to 206, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023,
and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. The key audit matters we identified are:

1. Accounting for the acquisition of subsidiaries

2. Goodwill impairment assessment

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B R

Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
MBS NAEERRESEE

Accounting for the acquisition of subsidiaries
WEMEL RN EE

Refer to Note 4.1(g) and Note 33(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.
B2 B4R G MR M T 4.1(0) R KEFE33(0) ©

On 22 June 2022, the Company allotted and issued
34,356,728 consideration shares to acquire 100% equity
interest of Context Image Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively “Context Image Group”). The maximum of
171,783,636 consideration shares is contingent on the
achievement of specified performance targets in future periods
as detailed in Note 33(b).

R2022F 6 H22H » & A A AL % & % 1734,356,728 IR X
B A% {7 - LA UK BE Context Image Holdings Limited & £ K &
A 7 (%7 [ Context Image Group J) #1100% % # - &% %
171,783,636 R EBRHBURR AR PEF EXEBENE
B FIBHOMIEES3(0) ©

Management engaged an independent external valuer to
assist them in identifying the intangible assets, and to perform
the valuations of the contingent considerations and the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Context
Image Group, based on which, management performed a
purchase price allocation for the acquisition, which resulted
in recognition of intangible assets of HK$7,263,000 being
the identified IT platform of HK$3,514,000 and non-compete
agreement of HK$3,749,000.

EEERFE LINIBEERN BOREELEE UH
Context Image Group Fy sk AR E - B AT &5 & E K
EENEEETHE BEBEGEAR BEEEHRESE
ETWBES S mABPEERT263000F T &EF
EH M EMEE T & R3,514,0008 7T « k5 F R A
3,749,000/ 7T °

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Our audit procedures in relation to the accounting for the
acquisition of subsidiaries included the following:
BMEKBENEARN S REFMNEAEFBENUT
=

° Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating the
design and implementation of the internal control and
assessment process of the fair value of the contingent
consideration and the purchase price allocation for the
acquisition;

e THUEBFEIAREAABERUBEZESONR
i R AT - W AT E R AT EE

° Assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors;

s BREERMEIMEMEBEEREMEERERKREZE -
BREEDNEE SN0l EN o

o Evaluating the independent external valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;
o FMEBIMNBEERERE S EEHETEM

° Assessing, with the assistance of our in-house
valuation experts, the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies for the contingent consideration and the
intangible assets, and the integrity of the calculations
adopted in the valuation report;

e HEAMHEEZERNMBT SIEIARBRELE
ENGHERENGREN  UARGERSPAKAG
BEHER TR
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
MBS NAEERRESEE

Accounting for the acquisition of subsidiaries (Continued)

W BB B B D R B R E ()

Significant judgements and estimates has been involved by
management in estimating the fair value of the contingent
consideration, and the identified IT platform and non-compete
agreement. These significant judgements and estimates
include the adoption of appropriate valuation methodologies
and the use of assumptions in the valuation, such as the
probability on the achievement of specified performance
targets for the valuation of the contingent considerations,
and the revenue growth rate, gross profit margin, discount
rate, and expected useful life of IT platform and non-compete
agreement for the valuation of the identifiable intangible assets
acquired.
EREEMGAHIARBAREHANOERRRFERTER
FIHBORABERIELERHAE K& - ZFERAE
Rt ERBEENHET ERERETERRKRE I
WHXARENEEBRETERFEXREEROME - AR
MBI R BRI BV EEMERERAEBRE  EF= .
MREREMBMR TR RERFHENTERERFH -

We identified accounting for the acquisition of subsidiaries as
a key audit matter because the significant judgements and
estimates were required to determine the fair value of the
contingent consideration and the fair value of the identified IT
platform and non-compete agreement, and the recognition of
goodwill arising from the business combination.
HREEHIAREUARE BN EMBE & R AEF
FOAREBE UWREREXBEHELNBEFT2FELE
AN A E R st - RPEWEIE QRN & RIS AR
BAHEE-

Challenging the reasonableness of the management’s
key assumptions for the valuation of the contingent
consideration, such as the probability of the
achievement of specified performance targets, based
on Context Image Group’s profit forecasts for the
relevant years and our knowledge of the business and
industry; and

1R # Context Image Group #8 @8 F /£ &9 s 71 78 8] LA &
BB EBRITENTH HEERBHIAREM
ENERBR(WERFEXEEERNEXR)NAIE
MIRHER &

Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
for the valuation of the identified IT platform and non-
compete agreement, such as the revenue growth rate,
gross profit margin, discount rate, and expected useful
life of IT platform and non-complete agreement for
determining the fair value of the intangible assets based
on our knowledge of Context Image Group’s historical
performance and future plans.

A 3 19 %} Context Image Group K i 52 2 45 & oK 2k
PRI T R BEBRNEAMKRTFERIEREFT
FNEEMPENBRERROSIEMREE R f
WRANEEETLEEAABENRAERE -EHX -
MBREUAREMARRTFaRFERFHBRNOTALREA
FH -
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Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
MBS NAEERRESEE

Goodwill impairment assessment

B R E R

Refer to Note 4.1(e) and Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
B2HERE

B2E BTSRRI st 4.1(e) R FHEE16 -

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had recognised goodwill
of approximately HK$8,807,000 relating to the acquisition of
100% equity interest of Context Image Group. The goodwill is
tested for impairment at least annually or whenever there is an
impairment indicator.

BEiE202343A31H - HHEC #RHEYE Context
Image Group 100% Hx # 18 B #) 7 2 49 4% 8,807,000 /8 7T ° 7
22V EBFNERBRRERTRETRENH -

Management has engaged an independent valuer to
determine the recoverable amount of Context Image Group
cash-generating unit (“CGU”), being the value-in-use.
Management concluded that there was no impairment of
goodwill as at 31 March 2023.

EILERESE B G ERD -+ LAMEE Context Image Group 33 &
ELEEM((REELEEM) WA @KEE  BIEREE-
ERERAEE2023F3A31 A ELERE -

The assessment required significant management judgment
with respect to the key assumptions, such as the revenue
growth rate for each of the forecast five years ending on 31
December 2023 to 31 December 2027 and the discount rate.
ZahEEEEEHARBRETERAE - HIATERE
£2023F 12 A81HE2027F 12 A AL AFRNFEFH
WA RE R EK o

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Our audit procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment on Context Image Group CGU included the
following:

3 1F9 42 &5 12 J8 ¥ Context Image Group I8 & 2= 4 B i H) R (E
AHEE B FEEUATRIE

° Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating the
design and implementation of internal control and the
management’s process of the goodwill impairment
assessment;

e THWEEEMNBBRENGBRE LFBHERAR
B

° Assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors;

e BBEERMNTHEEUREEREMANERREER
K - wTAE B K 8RR R 1 [E) A =L B

° Evaluating the independent external valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

o FHEBIMIMNBEERNERE S EEETEIE

o Reviewing the cash flow forecast prepared by
management, discussing with management on the
key assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecast
and checking arithmetic accuracy of the forecast
calculation;

e RUEEERHENRSATRA HEEENRES
i BRI AR B R A B R R AR ]HA BRI ENEM

R
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
MBS NAEERRESEE

Goodwill impairment assessment (Continued)

B R E AT G ()

We identified the goodwill impairment assessment as a
key audit matter because the estimates of the significant
assumptions involve a significant degree of management
judgement and may be subject to a degree of management
bias.

BB EN S RESMN S —EERESTH BAE
ERERDRAIBANEE MARBBERAELARENR
REEFEFEHERHE RER -

Challenging the reasonableness of the forecasted
revenue growth rate by comparing the budgeted sales
against the historical results and reference to our
knowledge of the business and industry;
BECREHEREFELEELETHR  A2EH
PERBERITENTFE HRARAERRNEGIE
MR B 5

Assessing, with the assistance of our in-house valuation
experts, the appropriateness of the valuation models
used, the discount rate and the integrity of the valuation
model;

NHBEEEROHE T - A EANEEER L
BB MMREURGERE O TEMNL

Assessing management's sensitivity analyses on the
key assumptions to evaluate the extent of impact
of these assumptions on the recoverable amount of
Context Image Group CGU; and

I EIRE SRR BRRETHEURME DN - AGEE
% 55 1B 3R ¥ Context Image Group 8 & &= 4 B {i7 7] [@
WEBHNTZEREE &

Evaluating the sufficiency of the disclosure of
impairment assessment by management in the
consolidated financial statements.

HEEEEESAMBHRERP RERMENENTIE

REaIRHER AR A A
2023 F 3k

929



100

Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B R

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Wo Cheung.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants
29th Floor, Lee Garden Two
28 Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

29 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FERREMZEREE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

2023 2022
2023 2022 FF
Note HK$’000 HK$000
M5 FHET FHEIT
Revenue from principal activities: FEEKRE 5
— Viethamese-style restaurant business — BB 46,446 62,075
— Trading business —B 5% - 842,384
— Information technology (“IT”) solution — BB (&R ) iR
business FRERS 60,143 5,872
106,589 910,331
Cost of food and beverages B G AR AR (12,899) (17,733)
Cost of inventories sold from trading BoEBDEFTERAN
business - (839,615)
Cost of IT solution business BB R R T R E TR A (48,530) (15,753)
Employee benefit expenses EERAMHAZ 9 (23,106) (24,227)
Depreciation and amortisation ITE N 8 (10,613) (13,227)
Property rentals and related expenses YIRS MIEBEMAY (5,556) (3,364)
Fuel and utility expenses MmNk AFREERY (1,942) (2,266)
Advertising promotion and marketing B R REERY
expenses (192) (235)
Impairment losses on property, plantand  #1% « BE &R B2 REEE
equipment 14 - (36)
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets £ A& & Z 2 R EEE 15(a) - (806)
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment 4 @& &R E B EE T CRE
losses) on financial assets Ei8) 75 (175)
Other provision H b 26(iv) (4,882) -
Other operating expenses Hhe g (17,956) (18,051)
Share of post-tax profit of associates DR EEE A A 2 BRE 1% & A 18 12,437 8,940
Other income and other (loss)/gain H MU AN E b (B518) Uz 6 2,850 9,958
Finance income, net BhE WA FEEE 7 2,355 1,544
Loss before income tax BRAT B R Al & 1E 8 (1,370) (4,715)
Income tax expense FifisfiiAx 11 @ (1,338)
Loss for the year FREE (1,372 (6,053)
Other comprehensive loss: HM2HEERE :
ltem that may be reclassified to profitor ~ FAIfEEF N A EBRZIEE ¢
loss:
Exchange differences on translation of BB GINEFS EERIE X =58
foreign operation
_ e _kEE (1,961) 1,195
— Associate — B QA (4,359) (133)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRAZHEEIEAEE (7,692) (4,991)

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meRERAMEZERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

2023 2022
2023 2022 FF
Note HK$’000 HK$000
Bt FET FHEIT
Loss attributable to: U AT REMEEE -
Shareholders of the Company. RAaE R (1,363) (6,029)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R M = 9) (24)
(1,372) (6,053)
Total comprehensive loss LWTATEEZEEE
attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company NN 423 (7,691) (4,962)
Non-controlling interests FEE R 1) (29)
(7,692) (4,991)
Loss per share attributable to shareholders 7/ &% 5 fE {5 &% &5 48
of the Company
Basic and diluted loss per share BREARREEEE
(HK cents per share) (=FR&EAL) 13 (0.15) (0.70)

REaIRHER AR A A
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEMBERAER

As at 31 March 2023 202343431 H

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 &
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M FET FHE T
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BE k& 14 723 53
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 15(a) 7,961 9,997
Intangible assets B EE 17 6,024 1
Goodwill Bk 16 8,807 =
Investments in associates REEE R AR E 18 99,498 91,420
Loan to an associate m—EHEQRREER 18 15,000 15,000
Rental and utilities deposits He Rk AHEEEZS 21 2,546 2,730
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTSTREE 28 24 =
140,583 119,201
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 5E 19 2,841 111
Trade receivables B 5 W IE 20 28,597 339
Prepayments, deposits and other FEMRIA -« e M EMmEWFIE
receivables 21 24,258 44,882
Loan to an intermediate holding company A — & fF 42 iR A iR &5 22 8,281 10,204
Loan to a related company ) — B A AR E R 22 9,878 -
Current income tax asset BNERFR1S T B B 111 111
Cash and cash equivalents Be MRS EEY 24 9,736 23,790
83,702 79,437
Total assets HEE 224,285 198,638
Equity s
Equity attributable to shareholders of  Z<2 5] IR 3R FE (G #E %5
the Company
Share capital [N 30 2,233 2,147
Other reserves H fth (& 170,156 156,085
(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings ~ (2&HE1E) R 2B &7 (1,084) 279
171,305 158,511
Non-controlling interests IR fE (109) (108)
Total equity MR 171,196 158,403
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 March 2023 202343431 H

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M5 FHET T
Liabilities =R
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Other payables and accruals HMENFRIERESE A 26 300 573
Lease liabilities HEARE 15(a) 2,503 4,488
Deferred income tax liabilities EIEFTISTRAE 28 6,781 3,893
9,584 8,954
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade payables =) ANE e 25 21,896 577
Other payables and accruals H b HIE R ERTE A 26 13,486 13,783
Contract liabilities aHaE 29 1,101 5,936
Other borrowing HEMER 27 = 111
Lease liabilities HEBE 15(a) 6,101 9,875
Current income tax liabilities BNERFRS B E 921 999
43,505 31,281
Total liabilities Pl =R 53,089 40,235
Total equity and liabilities HERREE 224,285 198,638

The consolidated financial statements on pages 104 to 206 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2023 and were signed

on its behalf.

Wu Jiangtao
RIE
Director

EZE

£104 E 206 B M4 & B 5 & E 720234 6 A
RREESHETHUTRREE -

Tao Jingyuan

MR =
Director

EF

REaIRHER AR A A
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FeHRERR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

LINGE LN
Equity Retained
component earings/ Non-
Share Share  of contingent Capital  Exchange (accumulated controlling Total
capital premium  consideration reserve reserve losses) Total interests equity
IRRE RERA/
R RiteE  HREHS RAGE Eiff  (ZHER) gt FERER fes
(Note 30) (Note)
UiR) (Bist)
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS'000
Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thm
At 1 April 2021 R F4R1R 2,147 152,633 - 342 2,043 6,308 163473 19 163,394
Loss o the year ERER - - - - - 6029 6029 o4 6059
Other comprehensive income/oss); 2 ENE / (BE) -
Curency ranslgtion diference.  EHASZE - - - - 1,067 - 1,067 B 1,062
Changesinequiy for theyear ~ ERRAZ - - - - 1,067 (6,029 (496 29 (4,997
At31 March 2022 and 1 Apri 2022 2022F3A31B R
202%4518 2,147 152,633 - 342 3,110 219 158,511 (108) 158,403
Issue of shares upon acquistion of  WEMBA AEZTRG
subsidares (Note 3p) (H233p) % 18123 2276 - - - N - NS
Loss o theyear ERER - - - - - (1,369 (1369 0 1372
Other comprehensive income/oss); 2 EUE / (BE) -
Curency transiaion dfference ~ ERMEZS - - - - (6,328) - (6,328) 8 (6,320)
Changes in equy for the year ERpAE 86 18,123 2,216 - (6,328) (1,369) 12,7% (1) 12,793
At 31 March 2023 R23E3IAA 2,233 170,756 2,26 342 (3218 (1,084) 171,305 (109) 171,196

Note: Capital reserve represents the difference between the share capital of the
operating subsidiaries acquired, pursuant to the reorganisation, over nominal

value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M5 FHET T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations KEMBIIRE 33(a) 2,198 7,087
Interest received B W F 2 2,089 2,273
Hong Kong profits tax refund REBRBREMN = 16
The PRC profits tax refund/(paid) BiRE (B RBEFEH 1,015 (2,724)
Net cash generated from operating KL EB SIS )F 5
activities 5,302 6,652
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHRBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB ¥12 - = & & & (856) =
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets H EZ# KX AT EZ S REE 2
at amortised cost Fr1S 38 - 25,000
Loan advanced to an intermediate holding [ — &/ 32 A% A Rl HE 2 B 3Kk
company - (10,000)
Proceeds from loan to an intermediate m—EREERARREZERZ
holding company FriSs8 1,900 =
Loan advanced to a related company M — A AR E 2 ER (9,315) =
Net inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries U8 M & A Rl FT1S3R € R A F 58 33(b) 2,390 -
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing #% & &8 (FT ) /P8R &
activities FER (5,881) 15,000
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank borrowing RITE KIS KB 33(0) - (11,819
Repayment of bank borrowing EERITEK 33(0) - 11,392
Repayment of other borrowing EEEMERK 33(c) (111) (11,283)
Interest paid ERFE 33(c) (274) (897)
Repayment of principal element of lease EEREEBEZ AL I H
liabilities 33(c) (13,078) (17,903)
Net cash used in financing activities BB EE TR € F 5 (13,463) (30,510)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH H&RESEEYRLFE
EQUIVALENTS (14,402) (8,858)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT HFHR&RBESZEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 23,790 32,287
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE EXSHHRERREEEY
CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH E2
EQUIVALENTS (12) 361
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT &XRBEERRESEEY
THE END OF THE YEAR 24 9,736 23,790

RERIFHERER AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M WMRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 14 April 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of
business is located at Unit 42083, 42/F, Tower One Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the operation of restaurant chains in Hong Kong,
trading business and information technology (“IT”) solution
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (HK$’'000), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The consolidated
financial statements are for the Group consisting of the Company
and its subsidiaries.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).
HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard
(“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”);
and interpretations. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provision of
the Rules Governing Exchange and with the requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has early applied the Amendments to
HKFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021, for the year ended 31 March
2022.

The Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 April 2022 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37  Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfiling a
Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 3  Reference to the
Conceptual
Framework

Annual Improvements Annual Improvements

Project to HKFRS Standards

2018-2020

Amendments to Accounting Merger Accounting for
Guideline 5 Common Control
Combination

The Group did not change its accounting policies
or make retrospective adjustments as a result of
adopting the abovementioned amended standards
or annual improvements. The application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

2. BEXEHBUREE @

2.1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2. BEXEHBUIREE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b)

21 wEE%E (@)

(b) EEM1E R RERBFHE

gﬁj%@ﬂ%ﬂéiﬁﬁﬂ%i&%%
I

AEBEBHAEHAEZHER
2022%F 4 A1 HABNIBRFE
M R A R R (Efa] T 5T 22 R - 2%
ST 2t o a8~ %
BRI R 2 EEEA T IR
REBEBE -

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not applied any new standard,
amendments to standards and interpretation that have
been issued but are not yet effective for the financial
year beginning 1 April 2022. The new standard,
amendments to standards and interpretation include
the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUT RSN Z2%&
RS R ER

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

BREGEUF 1R (BTN - RAEIBR/RBHIFRD

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

ARG EF 1R EFIA) —MZENIFRBAE

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure of Accounting

Policies
BB ERFE 1R RN EREERNELBRE2R (B514N) —S5THEN

Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of Accounting Estimates

BAREGTEAF SR (BFIA) —SFHEFTNER

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising
from a Single Transaction
BREGHERF 125 (BRI A -~ BB FELNEEN A EBBHELTHRE

Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability in a Sales and Leaseback
BEMBRELNFE 165 (BFIR)—RNEREQNEEARE

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

BB BHRELERF105E KB AT ERF 285 (BT AR) — 1R E & HEH &
RAKEERRIZENEELESTE

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

BEREEST (2020F) — B MRV 2N —ERAHE SR RERGERD
EHERNSHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these amendments and new
standards is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION AND
EQUITY ACCOUNTING

(i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred assets. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of financial position
and consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

2. BEXEHBUREE @
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION AND
EQUITY ACCOUNTING (Continued)

(ii)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at the acquisition-date fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued,
liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses
in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum of the
consideration transferred in a business combination
to calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non- controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2, EXEHBREE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION AND
EQUITY ACCOUNTING (Continued)

22 GMEREZESTELE @

EKREHRBE @

(i) Business combination and goodwill (ii)

(Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is allocated to each of the
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within
the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. Goodwill impairment
reviews are undertaken annually, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU
containing the goodwill is compared to its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use and the
fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is
recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION AND
EQUITY ACCOUNTING (Continued)

(ii)

Business combination and goodwill
(Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is nor remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages.
the Groups previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control).
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss or other comprehensive income,
as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in
the acquiree prior to the acquisition (late that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be
accounted for on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination
is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs. the Group reports
provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement
period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition late that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised at that date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION AND
EQUITY ACCOUNTING (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case when the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting (see (iv) below), after
initially being recognised at cost.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee
in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements
in other comprehensive income of the investee in
other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate. The carrying
amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for
impairment in accordance with the policy described in
Note 2.8.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

2. BEXEHBUREE @

22 HEREZEELR @)

(iii)

(iv)

N

BE AR BITEASEEAHE
BEIEE AR E B EiE R
S HFAEGFENERE - — KRB
MR AEBE B 20% E50%
WERE - REE R WRER
MEERAEKACKAERS
TR IEEARR (R 3Cii) °

R

REEZGE  KEDIE A
PXARHER - HRETHBAR
BaBERAKRENEREHR
R B R E M S & 1R - W E
feERmERNEE DR
EHSHMEMEEKREES -
B W sk e s B A R RO B BT
RSREREEHR - A%
BoEBERRNERENL
BB L rED (B
o] A S K 1 PR W ORD - B
B FEAS &= B X R % Bt 2 % A AR
BrERNEEETRELAR
BRAETEERE—TEBRE-
BREGEAREMNRERT
EREMT 2.8 A7 it ) BUSRHETT
BRI o

RERIFHERER AR

2023 F 3k 117



118

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

24

SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries and associates are accounted
for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries and
associates are accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investment in subsidiaries and
associates is required upon receiving a dividend from the
investment if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary and the associate in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of
the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

(@) Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$, which is the Company’s functional currency and
the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

(b)
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at year end exchange rates are generally recognised
in profit or loss.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on a net basis within
“other operating expenses”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
(Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

U

(i)

(i)

assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect to the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expense are translated at the date of the
transactions), and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities
are recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss,
as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6

SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (the “CODM?”). The CODM has been
identified as the executive directors of the Company who
are responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, who make
strategic decisions.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the
reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Restaurants and kitchen Shorter of lease term or

equipment 5 years
Computer equipment Shorter of lease term or
5 years
Furniture and fixtures Shorter of lease term or
5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or
10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

2.7

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with carrying amount and are recognised
within ‘other income’, in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(i)

(ii)

Trademarks

Separately acquired trademarks are shown at
historical cost. Trademarks have a finite useful life and
are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of trademarks over their
estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are
initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition
date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at revalued amounts, being their fair
value at the date of the revaluation less subsequent
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible
assets that are acquired separately. Intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(ii)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination (Continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised.

T platform

Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”) related system
acquired in the course of business operation is
recognised as IT platform. The SaaS related system
have a finite useful life that is dependent to the SaaS
interactive marketing business of the Group and
is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected useful life of the SaaS
related system, which is estimated to be 5 years.
The expected useful life is determined based on
management’s best estimate of the total period from
which the benefits will be derived from the SaaS
related system and will reflect the consumption of
future economic benefits from the SaaS related
system in the Group’ s SaaS interactive marketing
business, taking into account (1) the typical term of
the service contracts; (2) the business expansion plan
of SaaS interactive marketing business formulated by
the management; (3) the capability and functionality
of the SaaS related system; and (4) technological
obsolescence.

Non-complete agreement

Non-compete agreement acquired in a business
combination is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. The non-compete agreement has a
finite useful life and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate its cost over the term
of the agreement, which is 5 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups
of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities
in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income or
through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. For assets
measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income. For investments in equity instruments that are
not held for trading, this will depend on whether the
Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FvoClI).
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at
fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the investments
have expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit
or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement categories into
which the Group classifies its debt instruments:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2, EXEHBREE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(Continued)

29 eRMEEREE®@

(i) Measurement (Continued) (iii) 5TE @

Debt instruments (Continued)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is recognised as finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss and presented in ‘other (loss)/gain’
together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OClI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in other gains/(losses) and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in the statement of
profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period
in which it arises.
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in “other gain” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables. For other financial
assets, the Group applies the general approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires the 12-months
losses when there is no significant increase in credit
risk since origination. See Note 3.1(c) for further
details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXEHBREE @
POLICIES (continued)

2.10INVENTORIES 21078

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost comprises invoiced cost less purchase
rebates. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

2.11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows
and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. See Note 20 for
further information about the Group’s accounting for trade
receivables and Note 3.1(c) for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

2.12CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 30).
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

2.14TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

These amounts represents liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer).
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade
and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.15BORROWINGS

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid
on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this
case, the fee is deferred until the drawn down occurs. To
the extent there is no evidence that is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised
as prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party
and the consideration paid, including any non-cash
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as finance costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXEHBREE @
POLICIES (continued)

2.15BORROWINGS (Continued) 21518 K (&)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period which they are incurred.

2.16 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted
by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable
to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and considers whether it is probable that a taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The
group measures its tax balances either based on the
most likely amount or the expected value, depending
on which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX
(Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in subsidiaries
and associates where the company is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX
(Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

2.17EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a)

(b)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect
of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected to
be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities
are presented as current employee benefit obligations
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Pension obligations

For Hong Kong employment, the Group contributes
to the mandatory provident fund scheme for eligible
employees, the assets of which are held in a separate
trustee-administered funds.

For the PRC employment, it is covered by various
government-sponsored pension plan under which
the employees are entitled to a monthly pension
based on certain formulas. The relevant government
agencies are responsible for the pension liabilities to
these retired employees. The Group contributes on a
monthly basis to these pension plans.

e MBRRME
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Pension obligations (Continued)

The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense when
they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Long service payments

In Hong Kong, employees who have completed a
required number of years of service to the Group are
eligible for long service payments under the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance in the event of the
termination of their employment, provided that such
termination meet the circumstances specified in the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

Provision for bonus plans

Bonus payments to employees are discretionary
to management. Bonus payments are recognised
in profit or loss in the period when the Group
has formally announced the bonus payments to
employees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXEHBREBEm)
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 PROVISIONS 2.18% &

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.19REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenues are recognised when
goods are transferred or services are rendered to the
customer.

Depending on the terms of the contract, service may be
provided over time or at a point in time. Service is provided
over time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

If service transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the
period of the contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the goods or service.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on one of the
following methods that best depict the Group’s performance
in satisfying the performance obligation:

° time-based measure of progress; or

° the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation

If contracts involve the provision of multiple performance
obligations, the transaction price will be allocated from each
performance obligation based on the relative stand-alone
selling prices.

Before determining the transaction price to be allocated
from different performance obligations, the Group first
determines the service fees that the Group entitles in the
contract and adjusts the transaction price for variable
considerations and significant financing component, if any.
The Group includes an amount of variable considerations
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that a significant reversal in amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for the services that the Group has transferred
to a customer. In addition, incremental costs incurred to
obtain a new contract, if recoverable, are capitalised as
contract cost and subsequently amortised when the related
revenue is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2, EXEHBREE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.19REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued) 219 s R (|)

Contract assets are assessed for impairment under the
simplified approach which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance.

A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to deliver the
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration from the customer. A contract
liability is recognised by the Group when the customer
pays consideration but before the Group deliver the goods
or services the service to the customer. Contract liabilities
mainly included the advance payments received from the
trading business provision of initial set up services for the
customers using the Group’s software.

The following is a description of the accounting policy for
the principal revenue streams of the Group.

(i) Revenue from Vietnamese-style
restaurant business

The Group operates a chain of restaurants. Revenue
from restaurants operation is recognised at a point in
time when catering services have been provided to
the customers.

(ii) Revenue from trading business

In accordance with the principal versus agent
considerations prescribed by HKFRS 15, the Group
evaluates whether it acts as the principal or agent in
revenue from trading business to determine whether
revenue should be recorded on a gross or net basis.
The Group is acting as the principal if, individually or in
combination, it controls the specified good or service
before being transferred to the customer, is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the contract, is subject to
inventory risk, and has discretion in establishing
prices. An agent arranges for goods or services to
be provided by the principal to its end customer,
which normally receives a commission or fee for
these activities. Revenue from trading business is
recognised at the point in time when the control of the
merchandise has been transferred when the goods
are delivered.
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

(iii)

Revenue from IT solution business

The Group’s IT solution business includes provision
and design of SaaS system, software customisation
services and IT solution services in the PRC.

Under the SaaS arrangements, the Group licenses
the software platform for the customers’ use and
provides data management services to the customers
throughout the contract period. Service fee derived
by the Group from the SaaS arrangements are
determined based on the transaction volume of the
software platforms licensed and are recognised over
the service period.

Under the software customisation service agreement,
the Group customises the software based on the
requirement of the customers. Revenue is recognised
when control over the customised software has been
transferred to the customer. The customers cannot
receive and consume the benefits simultaneously
from the Group as well as control the customised
software until the software delivered to the customer.
The customised software generally has no alternative
use for the Group due to contractual restrictions.
However, an enforceable right to payment does not
arise until customised software transfer to customer.
Therefore, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customised software is passed to the
customer.

Other IT solution services

Revenue of other IT solution service fees for value
added solutions, such as online advertising, is
recognised over the service period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXEHBREBEm)
POLICIES (continued)

2.20INTEREST INCOME 2.20 % B2 WA

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes and financial asset at amortised
cost calculated using effective interest method.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset, after deduction of the loss allowance.

2.21LEASES

As a lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 3 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real
estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not
to separate lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21LEASES (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group
where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXEHBREE @
POLICIES (continued)

2.21LEASES (Continued) 2217 E (&)

As a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,

o any initial direct costs, and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the

shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

2.22GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
values when there is a reasonable assurance that the grants
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

2.23DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared,
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the
discretion of the Company, on or before the end of the
reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner. Because of the simplicity of the financial
structure and the current operations of the Group, no
hedging activities are undertaken by management.

(@) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the
PRC for the year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the individual group companies and net

investment in foreign operations.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, most of the financial
assets and liabilities of the Group’s subsidiaries are
denominated in their functional currencies. Hence, the
directors of the Company consider the Group does
not have any material foreign exchange risk exposure.

No sensitivity analysis is presented.

(b) Cash flow and fair value interest rate

risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the
impact of rate changes on interest-bearing assets and
liabilities. Financial assets and borrowings obtained
at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. In the opinion of the directors, the expected
change in fair values as a result of change in market
interest rates will not be significant, thus no sensitivity

analysis is presented.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

3. eMEAREER
31 eWmEREZX

AEENEBTEEYZEHEA
% s LR (B 18 FNE & B e A 2
Rk - EERRRESDERR K

%E’\J?&ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁuf%ﬂﬁ&ﬁ’\ﬁmﬁ

T 3% B9 71 B T8RN I B ) R & 2 R

HEHAREENBREBNEETNZE -

EEEEEREZZERBARRE

RA MR EZEHEE - AR AEED

MBEBRBTREEBEE  WE

BERETE G o

(@) IMNE R B

R EE 2023 F % 2022 F 3 A 31
Elmir*; ZSEIIEEA?
R B IE o HINEE R BR E A B
ﬂi?ﬁ?ﬁ% % LMI%IJ%%I
A EENIINEBITEZE
BREERABBNREINEE
BB S -

2023 F k20223 31 8 -
AEEHRBARZKEMBD &
BENABHUHEE KT
B Bt RRBAEZRA
7N 52 B 3 B A AT (0] B K SME
B o SR 2 DI BRRE DT o

b) BERERAALBERNR
Ak
AEBAGFEEERABENF
R EMAT N ERRE -
ZETHEESHESREEK
fﬁﬁk/?\ﬁ%lﬁﬁuuﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ

cEERB lﬁ%ﬂ
T“@J%ﬁﬁ’]i‘ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁ
BRI EEN AL EZ7
BRRE DT o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk (Continued)

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that changes
in market interest rates will impact cash flows arising
from variable rate financial instruments. The Group’s
assets and liabilities, which bear variable interest
rates, mainly include bank deposits. Other Group’s
assets and liabilities, including loan to an associate,
loan to an intermediate holding company, loan to a
related company and other borrowing, bear fixed
interest rates.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, if interest rates
had been 100 basis-points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, loss for the year would
have approximately HK$64,000 lower/higher (2022:
approximately HK$54,000 lower/higher). The Group
regularly monitors its interest rate risk to ensure there
are no under exposures to significant interest rate
movements.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, loan to an associate, loan to
a related party and loan to an intermediate holding
company included in the consolidated statement
of financial position, which represent our Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets. Management has a credit policy in
place to monitor the exposures to these credit risks
on an ongoing basis.
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has credit policy to monitor the level of
credit risk. In general, the credit record and credit
period for each customer or debtor are regularly
assessed based on the customer’s or debtor’s
financial condition, their credit records and other
factors such as current market condition. The Group
applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables and contract assets from third
parties.

Trade receivables are mainly related to the trading
and IT solution businesses in the PRC.

(i) Trade receivables (Vietnamese-style restaurant
business)

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables was assessed individually on their
recoverability based on their credit profile and
forward-looking factors. The trade receivables
of restaurant business amounting to HK$1,000
(2022: HK$271,000) are mainly due from
payment channel agent. Based on their credit
profile and historical settlement records, the
directors believe there is no material credit risk
to these balances and the expected credit loss
of trade receivables was minimal for the year
ended 31 March 2023 (2022: minimal).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Trade receivables (trading and IT solution
businesses)

To measure the expected credit losses (the
“ECL”), trade receivables related to the
trading and IT solution businesses, amounting
to HK$28,597,000 (2022: HK$1,301,000),
were individually assessed for recoverability
based upon their respective credit profiles and
forward-looking factors.

As at 31 March 2022, the directors of the
Company are of the view that after providing
for ECL of HK$1,233,000 for a credit-impaired
trade receivable, the ECL for the remaining
trade receivables was close to zero.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group calculates the
ECL for the trade receivables using two main
components: the probability of default (the “PD”)
and the loss given default (the “LGD”). The
lifetime ECL is determined by multiplying the
adjusted PD and the LGD by the gross amount
of the trade receivables as at 31 March 2023.
Initially, the unadjusted PD was obtained from
an external credit research report which provided
PDs of different industries. The directors of the
Company applied the appropriate PDs to trade
receivables based on their assessment. These
PDs were then adjusted using forward-looking
factors correlated with China GDP per capita,
resulting in adjusted PDs ranging from 0.29%
to 7.98%. As for the LGD, it represented the
expected losses on the gross carrying amount
of trade receivables in the event of default, with
reference to the recovery rates of subordinated
bonds extracted from the external credit
research report.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Trade receivables (trading and IT solution
businesses) (Continued)

The directors of the Company are of the view
that the lifetime ECL for the trade receivables
related to the trading and IT solution businesses
to be minimal, and no provision was made as at
31 March 2023 (2022: HK$1,233,000).

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables,
management makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment
on the recoverability of deposits and other
receivables based on their credit profile,
historical settlement records, past experience,
and forward-looking factors.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, other
receivable of HK$763,000 (2022: Nil) for trading
business was written off as the recoverability
was low. The directors believe that after the
written off of such receivables balances, there is
no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition for the remaining deposits and other
receivables and therefore the loss allowance
was measured at an amount equal to 12-month
expected credit losses. As at 31 March 2023,
the loss allowance for trading and IT solution
businesses amounted to HK$139,000 (2022:
HK$214,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

()

(v)

Cash and cash equivalents

To manage the risk arising from cash at banks,
the Group only transacts with reputable banks
which are all high-credit-quality financial
institutions. There is no recent history of default
in relation to these financial institutions. The
12-month expected credit loss was minimal as
at 31 March 2023 (2022: minimal).

Loans to an associate, a related company and
an intermediate holding company

The credit quality of loans to an associate, a
related company, and an intermediate holding
company has been assessed with reference to
historical information about the counterparties
default rates and financial position of the
counterparties. Given the track record of
repayment in full, the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the risk of default by
these counterparties does not significant
increase since initial recognition and the
expected credit losses are limited to 12-month
expected credit losses. The 12-month expected
credit loss for the balances is assessed to be
insignificant and no provision was made as at
31 March 2023 and 2022.

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash to
meet its liquidity and working capital requirements.
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity reserve which comprises cash and cash
equivalents (Note 24) on the basis of expected cash
flows. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements, to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 2202343431 H 1F F/&
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the end of each financial
reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows, except for other borrowing
with a repayment on demand clause that is included
in the “on demand” time band. Balances due within
twelve months equal their carrying amounts, except
for lease liabilities, as the impact of discounting is not

3. RMEEER @\
3.1 £@ERREE @

(d) REME R (&)
TRUZEERESHBRE
IR = AT B & F & 2R
P =B BER NS HE
BEESIT -RRFMEBRSE

RBKARBER

A s =
SrAy)==}

A at

ATRER|BSHEE 2 AFK
2 RAZIE R 2 B A AEFKERIN

RRERY E B

REKR - &

HERGBN R+t _EARE
M GBS NEERmE -

significant.
Between  Between
On Lessthan 1and 2 2and 5
demand 1 year years years Total
BREX LR-F -ZME MZILE @zt
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
AT THIT FTHET THET FTHET
At 31 March 2023 H2023F3 31 B
Trade payables EC e = 21,896 = = 21,896
Other payables and accruals HipENREREFER 2,013 3,915 - = 5,928
Lease liabilities HEAE - 6,231 2,516 - 8,747
2,013 32,042 2,516 - 36,571
At 31 March 2022 R2022%63A31H
Trade payables B oA - 577 - - 577
Other payables and accruals HiENFERESER 5,845 4,383 - - 10,228
Other borrowing Hifa 111 - - - 111
Lease liabilities HERE - 10,076 3,985 566 14,627
5,956 15,036 3,985 566 25,543
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. RMEEER @\

3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued) 3.1 £RERREE @

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) REDMEE B ()

The table below summarises the maturity analysis of TERBABRBEER BHEME 2
other borrowing (subject to a repayment on demand HEERERR 2 EMER(Z
clause) based on agreed schedule repayments set out RERKERIERRR) 25 E D
in the loan agreement. The amounts include interest M- ERSBREFEAELHT

payments computed using contractual rates. EAERF BT o

Between Between
Less than 1and 2 2and 5 Over
1 year years years 5 years
PR—F —EWE WMELF HEBIF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHTT FHETT FHET FHTT

At 31 March 2022 R20224%3 A31H 111 - = =

3.2 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32 EXEBER

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the total
borrowing to total equity ratio, which is expressed as a
percentage of total borrowings (including other borrowing)
less cash and cash equivalents over total equity as shown
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group is in net cash position
(2022: net cash position).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3

3.4

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

The carrying values of the Group’s financial assets,
including loan to an associate, loan to an intermediate
holding company, loan to a related company, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents, and financial liabilities, including trade
payables, other payables and accruals, other borrowing and
lease liabilities approximate to their fair values due to their
short-term maturities. The fair value of financial liabilities
for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the
future contractual cash flows at the current market interest
rate that is available to the Group for similar financial
instruments, unless the discounting effect is insignificant.

OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

There is no material offsetting, enforceable master netting
arrangement and similar agreements as at 31 March 2023
and 2022.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

4.1

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue recognition of trading
business in the PRC

The Group considers itself as a principal for trading
business in the PRC as the Group obtained control
of the specified good before being transferred to the
customers because (i) the Group demonstrated its
primarily responsible for fulfilling the trading contract,
(i) the Group was subject to inventory risk as the
Group control of the goods before transferring
to customer, and (iii) the Group had discretion in
establishing prices in the contract agreed with
customer.

During the year, Nil (2022: HK$842,384,000) of
revenue from trading business was recognised.

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation expense for its
property, plant and equipment by reference to the
estimated periods that the Group intends to derive
future economic benefits from the use of these
assets. These estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
Management will adjust the depreciation expense
where useful lives are less than previously estimated.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful
lives. Periodic review could result in a change in useful
lives and therefore depreciation expense in the future
periods.

e MBRRME
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(c)

Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets
and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets
and right-of-use assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
The recoverable amounts of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets
have been determined based on the higher of its
value in use or its fair value less costs of disposal,
taking into account latest market information and past
experience. These calculations and valuations require
the use of judgements and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an
event has occurred that may indicate that the related
asset values may not be recoverable; (i) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair
value less costs of disposal or net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and
(i) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in
the cash flow projections, could affect the net present
value used in the impairment test and as a result
affect the Group’s consolidated financial position and
results of operations.

The carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets as at 31 March 2023 are HK$723,000 (2022:
HK$53,000), HK$6,024,000 (2022: HK$1,000) and
HK$7,961,000 (2022: HK$9,997,000) respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Impairment allowances for trade
receivables

The loss allowances for trade receivables are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the customers’
credit profile, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Please refer to Note 3.1(c) for more details.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is HK$28,597,000 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of Nil) (2022: HK$339,000 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of HK$1,233,000)).

Impairment of goodwiill

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill
has suffered any impairment. Goodwill is also
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Determining whether goodwiill
is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of CGU to which goodwill has been allocated,
which is the higher of the value in use or fair value
less costs of disposal. The calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from CGU and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected or change in
facts and circumstances which results in downward
revision of future cash, a material impairment loss/
further impairment loss may arise. Details of the key
assumptions in assessment are disclosed in Note 16.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill
is HK$8,807,000 with no impairment loss recognised
during the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(f)

(9)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.
During the year, HK$2,000 (2022: HK$1,338,000) of
income tax was charged to profit or loss based on the
estimated assessable profit.

Determination of fair value of
contingent consideration, and the fair
valuation of intangible assets

As stated in Note 33(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group was required to determine the
fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
in Context Image Holdings Limited (“Context Image”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively “Context Image
Group”) in accordance with HKFRS 3 “Business
Combination” on acquisition date. The Group makes
judgements and estimates in relation to the fair value
allocation of the purchase price and the fair value of
contingent consideration as part of the consideration
of the business acquisition. The intangible assets
identification, and the valuation process for intangible
assets and the contingent consideration requires
significant judgement by management in respect of
estimates of future cash flows, associated discount
rates and the probability of the achievement of
specified performance targets to ensure the valuation
techniques and inputs used are reasonable and
supportable. Where there are any changes on inputs
of valuation, a change on the goodwill may arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. EXEEHAH R FIER @)
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

4.1 EXRETHEF RER @

(h) HPEEERES ([EXFH

(h) Provision for PRC corporate income tax

(“CIT”) and penalty on transfer of equity
interest

As stated in Notes 26(iv) and 33(b) to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest in Context Image Group during the year,
leading to an equity transfer of a PRC incorporated
subsidiary. The Group has not yet reported the
indirect equity transfer of a PRC incorporated
subsidiary and not yet paid the CIT to the PRC tax
authority as at 31 March 2023. Accordingly, the
PRC tax authority would demand the vendor for the
settlement of CIT and impose a penalty ranging from
50% to 3 times of the unpaid CIT on the Group.

As at 31 March 2023, a provision of HK$4,882,000
were recognised in relation to the non-withheld
CIT and the relevant maximum penalty based on
the management’s best estimation. Significant
judgements and estimates are required in determining
the aforesaid provision. Where the final outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
consolidated profit or loss in the period in which such
determination is made by the PRC tax authority.

BB R REEERI R
&

M ANER & B 7 R 2k Bt 5 26(v) &
33(b) Pt - AR R B F AU EE
Context Image Group 9 100% %
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company, who are the CODM
of the Group, review the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on reports reviewed
by the executive directors of the Company that are used to make
strategic decisions.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of profit/(loss) before income tax.
The measurement basis excludes the effects of non-recurring
expenditure from operating segments.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group is organised into the following
reportable segments:

(i) Vietnamese-style restaurant business in Hong Kong;
(i)  Trading business in the PRC; and

(iiy 1T solution business, including provision and design of SaaS
system, software customisation services and IT solution
services in the PRC.

The trading business in the PRC has experienced a
slowdown, primarily due to (i) the change in the major
shareholder of the largest customer of the Group, resulting
in alternations to the cooperation between the Group and
the customers; (i) the outbreak of COVID-19 in various cities
in the PRC in 2022 and the COVID-19 pandemic quarantine
measures leading adverse effects to the supply chain as
well as the logistics operations; and (i) the softening of
market demand due to the decrease in the consumers’
desire of consumption. Given the above-mentioned reasons
and the profit margin can be generated from the trading
business is considered to be minimal as compared to
other business segments of the Group, the Group’s trading
business has encountered various challenges. The Group
will continue to develop the trading business and diversify
its products mix should suitable opportunities arise.

As at 31 March 2023, other segment was re-presented
as IT solution business segment due to the new operation
segment acquired. There was no change in the grouping
of unallocated corporate expenses, unallocated corporate
assets and unallocated corporate liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. @RS EBEH @)

(Continued)

(@) SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS (a) PHBUEREE

The table below shows the segment information of revenue
and results and there were no revenue or other transactions
between the business segments for the year ended 31

March 2023 (2022: same).

For the year ended 31 March 2023

TRERDSIREREEER @ RE
FE2023F3HABIHILFE Ko
B 2 N U R ok H At 22 5 (2022 4F

RLE) -

BE2023F3A31HLFE

Vietnamese-
style
Trading restaurant IT solution
business business business Total
BB
EZEK UXBEER BRFR st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FTEx TERx FET FEx
Segment revenue VAl - 46,446 60,143 106,589
Segment cost of revenue 2 B UL 2 B AN - (12,899) (48,530) (61,429)
Reversal of impairment losses/ SREEZREBE
(impairment losses) on financial B[/ CREEE)
assets 158 - (83) 75
Depreciation and amortisation & R#H - (8,500) (1,058) (9,558)
Finance income/(cost), net BEWA/ (KA)FE 5 (215) 638 428
Others Htt (834) (27,092) (6,156) (34,082)
Segment results DEpEE (671) (2,260) 4,954 2,023
Share of post-tax profit of (YN ol TR
associates i A 12,437
Unallocated corporate expenses A2 B ¥R X (15,830)
Loss before income tax Bk TS i Al 5 18 (1,370)
Assets and liabilities BEERARE
Segment assets for reportable ARES B BEE
segments 15,277 16,358 58,269 89,904
Unallocated corporate assets AOBRCEEE 134,381
Total assets BEE 224,285
Capital expenditure BEARY - 837 - 837
Segment liabilities for reportable  AI¥RED L2 HEHEE
segments 1,022 12,446 24,839 38,307
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOEEEXEE 14,782
Total liabilities mafR 53,089

REaIRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z202343 /31 H 1 F/Z

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

5 BWak5%BEFH

(@) SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS (@) DW= RFEE @\
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZE2022F3A31HILEFE
Vietnamese-
style
Trading restaurant
business business [T solution Total
B
Bo5% WAEEEHR S Bat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT TAT T
Segment revenue oR= 0Lt 842,384 62,075 5,872 910,331
Segment cost of revenue A EW AR (839,615) (17,733) (15,753) (873,101)
Impairment loss on property, plantand %1%  BER&EZ
equipment REEE - (36) - (36)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets £ EAE 2 B EE R = (806) - (806)
Provision for impairment losses on SREEZNBEBERE
financial assets (175) - - (175)
Depreciation and amortisation e R - (11,980) (1,247) (18,227)
Finance income/(cost), net MERA/ (RA)FE (378) (480) 2,402 1,544
Others Hif 614) (30,397 20 (30,991)
Segment results Db EE 1,602 643 (8,706) (6,461)
Share of post-tax profit of AME—REE AR Z
an assoclate BRAt 125 A 8,940
Gain on deemed disposal of subsidiary & {EH EHIE A 7l 2 Wi 1,442
Unallocated corporate expenses AOEEERAX (8,636)
Loss before income tax BRETERATEE (4,715)
Capital expenditure BARY
Assets and liabilities BERERE
Segment assets for reportable ARED Bz HBEE
segments 26,501 24,798 6,726 58,025
Unallocated corporate assets ARG EEE 140,613
Total assets BEE 198,638
Segment liabilities for reportable AREDHzHBEE
segments 1,464 22,276 5,936 29,676
Unallocated corporate liabilties AOEGEER 10,559
Total liabilities BER 40,235

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS
(Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
results represent the loss incurred by/profit earned by each
segment without allocation of central administration costs,
depreciation and amortisation, directors’ emoluments,
finance income/(cost), net and foreign exchange differences,
net. Segment assets represent the assets recorded by each
segment without allocation of corporate assets, investments
in associates, loan to an associate and loan to an
intermediate holding company. Segment liabilities represent
the liabilities recorded by each segment without unallocated
corporate liabilities and lease liabilities. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for purposes of resources allocation
and performance assessment.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Revenue by geographic areas is determined based on the
location of customers. The following tables present revenue
from external customers and certain non-current assets
information for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022,
by geographical area.

(i) Revenue from external customers

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

5. KR 9EEHE @

(a)

(b)

P L 69 E S AC )

RED B ST EREREEET K
RHER - D EEERSDBELENE
B/ RBREER - WED P RITH
AR FTENEH E=ME  BE
WA (BRAR) FREIMNEER =5
FE - DHEERSDEBRBNEE -
TEESIRRADENAREE - 1B
ERAMRE - A—EBEQBRER
ER AP EZERARREER -
DHMBERESEDMEENARE T
BRANPENARBEREERE - It
TIERDELRRBFERTIERLSE
REBERENTIE

i E &R

T &) 5 2 Was TR IR = P e i
EBE - NRE5HZE2023F Kk2022
F3A31 HIEFEZHIE S H BN
BREWERETIERBEEER -

i) HEREF U

2023 2022
2023 F 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T T

Hong Kong BA 46,446 62,075
The PRC e 60,143 848,256
106,589 910,331
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z202343 /31 H 1 F/Z

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. k@R 7EEHE @)
(Continued)

(b) GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (Continued) (b) HEEF (&)

(i) FRBEE

(ii) Non-current assets

2023 2022

2023 2022 £

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET T T

Hong Kong BB 10,819 12,424
The PRC s 112,194 89,047
123,013 101,471

LAERBEEERTIREE
EMGENETAEL TEFEREL
FRISIREE - [A— B E Q7]

REEFRESRAREEES -

The non-current assets information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes deferred
income tax assets, loan to an associate and rental
and utilities deposits.

(c) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

() EFENkE DT

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 &
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHE T
Vietnamese — style restaurant M EEER

business 46,446 62,075
Trading business CES - 842,384
IT solution business BB EBRA ST RER 60,143 5,872
106,589 910,331

Of which revenue is recognised: E etz AN 5 iR
— at a point in time — PR [ 2 86,438 904,459
— over time — ek AR 20,151 5,872
106,589 910,331
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR
CUSTOMERS

Certain customers of IT solution business contributed more
than 10% of the total revenue of the Group during the year.
The amount of revenue of these customers are disclosed as
follows:

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

5.

&k 588 F (a)

d EEXEEFZEH

FR-BEARBEBRAREHZET
EFRERAKEAYSHEIB10% © 5%
FRPZWESHEEENT

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 &

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FH&TT

Customer A ZEA 19,152 N/A T3 F
Customer B* EFB* N/A T3 A 664,764

Revenue from this customer represented sales in trading
business, which amounted to less than 10% of the total revenue
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

TRANSACTION PRICE ALLOCATED TO THE
REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION
FOR CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at year end and the expected timing of recognising
revenue as follows:

RENBFFHKREEZEBHE
EARNEBEHZE2023F3 31 B IEFE
BUES DR 10% °

() THREEFENRTEBINEMR
MR 5 E

RERDEERTEOEE CRETT
KA RETT) MR 5 ERERKE
MR RN

2023 2022

2023 2022 &

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FET

Within 1 year 1FR 1,101 5,936

REaIRHER AR A A
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AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

6. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER (LOSS)/GAIN 6. Htlg AR (R e

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 &

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T T

Government subsidy (Note (i)) BT 7 B (BT (1)) 1,774 4,627

Rental concession related to COVID-19 2019 @Ak B &k 2 11 & i % 638 511

Others Hph 1,561 3,378

Other income EH g A 3,973 8,516

Exchange loss, net SNDE B 1R R (360) -

Written-off of other receivables L i e U TE i 5H (763) =
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary R{EHE—RHHB AR 2

& - 1,442

Other (loss)/gain H o (E518) Wz (1,123) 1,442

Other income and other (loss)/gain H g A R E A (B51E) WS 2,850 9,958

Note:

(i) The amount represents the subsidy granted by the Hong Kong
Government under the Anti-Epidemic Fund.

7. FINANCE INCOME, NET

7. MEKAREH

ZEREEERNRHRAEESET
By 28 -

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T

Finance cost from RE N FIEZ B E KA
— bank borrowing —RITER - (304)
— other borrowing —HEfbfEa = (74)
- lease liabilities —HEAaE (274) (533)
(274) 911)

Finance income from RENUNTZIEZBERA
— bank deposits —RITIF 16 24
— loan to an associate —m—EEERRIREER 1,200 1,200

— loan to an intermediate holding —[A— M EZERAFER

company 777 204
— loan to a related company —m—EEEs A RREER 636 277
— financial assets at amortised cost — BB EN AR eREE - 750
2,629 2,455
Finance income, net RUE WA FEE 2,355 1,544
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e ERRME
For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. MM AIEGE
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
ihg=3 FHBT T T
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B A 357 B
— Audit services — AR 1,600 2,700
— Non-audit services — TR 300 422
Advertising promotion and marketing & &5 & & B R 2
expenses 192 235
Amortisation of intangible assets EEEHE 17 1,052 2
Cost of food and beverages B i A 8RR B A 12,899 17,733
Cost of inventories sold from trading ~Z Z %52 EF SR A
business - 839,615
Cost of IT solution business BB R R 7 R ETSR A 48,530 15,753
Delivery charges XKEEB 1,867 2,359
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BERERETE
equipment 14 206 888
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 15(a) 9,355 12,337
Employee benefit expenses EERAMAX 9 23,106 24,007
Exchange loss, net SNBE B 18 58 6 360 =
Expenses relating to short-term leases E242 A & #8738 2 5952 15(b) 2,933 89
Impairment losses on property, plant ~ ¥13 « &= MR E 2 REEE
and equipment 14 - 36
Impairment losses on right-of-use EREEERIEEE
assets 15(b)(ii) - 806
Legal and professional fee EREREEE 4,353 1,957
(Reversal of impairment losses)/ SRMEEZ CREEERE),
impairment losses on financial REEE
assets (75) 175
Rates and management fee EMRERE 2,623 3,275
Repairs and maintenance e R HEE 550 607

RERIFHERER AR
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FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z202343 /31 H 1 F/Z

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9. EERFIAXZ(BEEEME)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FE T
Basic salaries, bonus, allowances and HAFH® 64l 2K
other benefits in kind H b E Wta A 21,991 23,185
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 3R R & Ak 24~ — 5 7 2t 2l 1,115 1,042
23,106 24,227
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS TEERESHFMAL

The emoluments payable to the five (2022: five) individuals whose
emoluments are the highest in the Group during the year are as
follows:

AEERAE(2022F : AR) AEEBES
HIMATRAOFHFMAOT

2023 2022
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx T T
Salaries, bonus, allowances and other e JEAL  EER K

benefits in kind HithEWE T 3,148 2,684
Pension costs — defined contribution plans & k& A 2N — 5 5 7k 5t 2 200 89
3,348 2,773

The emoluments fell within the following bands: B RFATEHE :
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$1 to HK$500,000 17870 2 500,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 7% 7T 2 1,000,000 T 5 4
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e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 10. EFiRfIRFI&

(a) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (a) EE#ME
The remuneration of every director during the years is set FA SEFZ2HMEFWOT -
out below:
Employer’s
retirement
Allowances benefit
Salaries  and benefit Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances in kind bonuses contributions Total
Ex
BER BIREH

e HeRE  BWEN  BERL HEER E
HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TER TR TER TER TER

Year ended 31 March 2023 HZ2023F3A31H
LEE
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Wu Jiangtao (Chairman) RIDERE(XR) - 120 - 10 7 137
Mr. Tao Jingyuan BEEL A (THAR)

(Chief Executive Officer) - 120 - 10 7 137
Mr. Lai Xiangpeng (Note (i) RERELAE () - 40 - - 2 42
Mr. Lu Shenghong (Note (i) BRA A (FREG) - 93 - 10 5 108
Ms. Li Jia (Note (i) T (MRE (i) - 80 - - 4 84
Indepencient non-executive directors B HHTEE
Mr. Choi Tze Kit Sammy BTHEEE 360 - - - - 360
Mr. Cheung Miu RBLE 360 - - - - 360
Mr. Cheung Pak To, Patrick RAWEE 360 - - - - 360

1,080 453 - 30 25 1,588
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Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z202343 /31 H 1 F/Z

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(a) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

10. EEEFRFR @

() EEM< @

Employer's
retirement
Allowances benefit
Salaries  and benefit Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances in kind bonuses - contributions Total
Ex
2E R R
we  HeEM  EPET  BERL HERX st
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TET TET
Year ended 31 March 2022 HZ2022%3831H
LEE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Wu Jiangtao (Chairman and RIBEE(FRR
Chief Executive Officer) TH#) - 120 - 10 7 137
Mr. Tao Jingyuan BEELE - 120 - 10 7 137
Mr. Lu Shenghong EBAEE - 120 - 10 7 137
Ms. Li Jia FERL - 120 - 10 7 137
Non-executive director HHTEE
Mr. Wong Stacey Martin (Note iv)) =5t & (Bi&E(v) 340 = = = = 340
Indlependent non-executive directors B/ FHTEE
Mr. Choi Tze Kit Sammy BIRERE 360 - - - - 360
Mr. Cheung Miu WA 360 - - - - 360
Mr. Cheung Pak To, Patrick EElptes 360 - - - - 360
1,420 480 - 40 28 1,968
Notes: BisE

(i

(V)

Appointed as the executive director of the Company with
effective from 30 November 2022.

Resigned as the executive director of the Company with effective
from 10 January 2023.

Resigned as the executive director of the Company with effective
from 30 November 2022.

Resigned as the non-executive director of the Company with
effective from 30 April 2021.

No directors waived any emolument during the year (2022: Nil).

No emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person
accepting office as a director are to be treated as emoluments
paid or receivable in respect of that person’s services as a
director.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND
TERMINATION BENEFITS

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits or termination benefits in respect of their services
to the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

CONSIDERATION PROVIDED TO THIRD
PARTIES FOR MAKING AVAILABLE
DIRECTORS’ SERVICES

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company did
not pay any consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services to the Company (2022: Nil).

INFORMATION ABOUT LOANS, QUASI-
LOANS AND OTHER DEALINGS IN FAVOUR
OF DIRECTORS, CONTROLLED BODIES
CORPORATE BY AND CONNECTED
ENTITIES WITH SUCH DIRECTORS

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
entered into by the Company or subsidiary undertaking of
the Company, where applicable, in favour of the directors,
or body corporate controlled by or entities connected with
any of the directors at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2022: Nil).

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2022: Nil).

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

10. EFEARFR @

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

EERNREBARKILEF

B E2023F3HA31BILFE  #E
EERERAAEEREZREmE WK
B sk 45 U5 B ] 2R K 48 1) sk 4% L 4R A
(20224 : £®) o

RENEERBERFE=HEMH
R1E

MREBE2023F3A31BIEFEE - K
N ERERAR A2 EERER
EME =7 I AEMRAE (2022 4F :
/) o

LEE  ZEEEWZEFE
ErREEEAREANE
FEERREMXZHER

RAFEERIANFREEMER AR
Al ARBIME AR (@A) &
FRIMAEIAEE R EMZ T EFIES
ZEBRAEERRIBEANER
EERNEMRZ S (20226 : &) -

BEERRE  ZHIASHHH
EW L

Brir & SRR L2 R EE S -
ARABRERTZ BARE XK AR -
MARAEENEFHEEANE (T
mEZENEE)  ARAFERIAK
FEEARBNDATFENEMNEAR
5 R RAHK (20224 « &) -

REaIRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of tax charged/(credited) to profit or loss as following:

11. B RAX
RIBEHE, Gt AN) ZBIESENT -

2023 2022

2023 & 2022 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T
Current income tax expense BIVERFR 15 7 2

— The PRC corporate income tax bl e k)

— Provision for current year —ARFEEAE 20 543

— Over-provision in prior year —BEFEBREEE (1,113) (4)
Deferred income tax expense BEIEFTB T

— The PRC — 1,095 799

2 1,338

Hong Kong profits tax is levied at progressive rate of 8.25%
on the estimate assessable profit below HK$2,000,000 and
thereafter at a fixed rate at 16.5% for a qualifying entity in
Hong Kong. For other Hong Kong entities, the estimated
assessable profit is taxed at a fixed rate of 16.5% for the
year (2022: same).

The PRC corporate income tax represents taxation charged
on assessable profits for the year at the rates of taxation
prevailing in the cities in the PRC in which the Group
operates. The tax rate applicable to the subsidiaries in the
PRC is 25%, except for certain subsidiaries of the Group
subject to reduced preferential CIT rate ranging from 5% to
15% (2022: 5% to 15%) for Small Low-profit Enterprises.

According to applicable tax regulations prevailing in the
PRC, dividends distributed by a company established
in the PRC to a foreign investor with respect to profits
derived after 1 January 2008 are generally subject
to a 10% withholding tax. As at 31 March 2023, the
Group recognised deferred tax liabilities amounting to
HK$5,275,000 (2022: HK$3,893,000) of the withholding tax
on undistributed profits of the PRC associate.
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ERBNEHRIREBCEREREER
2,000,000 JT 2 {& &1 & &R Bt i Al i
RET EK8.25% UK + T HE R ILE E
TRE16.5% B - HEMBBEREM
= FAGEERTOG FIRE E B R
16.5% % (2022 4F : 18R o

PEEEAEREFRRASERF
B SR 75 P AE 35 (B T 3R 1T % R B FE aR

Tt MUK 2 B IR © 8 R AP B Y
RAIZHER25% » RS EETH

BAR AB/NARE D EmaEN T
5% %= 15% (20224 : 5% &= 15% ) 2
BEEEDEMEHRE AT -

RIERERITERANRBHEE - RH
Bl X 32 B R &) 3B INE B E IR R
200841 A1 A & Bk B A F )8 pr &=
EMRE - BEBK10%HEN -
R2023F3A31H  AEE B
BN R 2 R 9 R Al 2 TR A R
iE HE 7 78 B & 5,275,00078 7T (2022
4 : 3,893,000/ 7T) °



11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax differs from the

12.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

11. IS RAX @)

SEBRBANERN, (E18) B e Bl fE B R

theoretical amount that would arise using the respective tax rates RAEENEEEEANERSETR 0T
as follows: FRR
2023 2022
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEx T T
Loss before income tax B 5 AT E5 48 (1,370) (4,715)
Calculated at respective tax rates LB EGE (215) (2,062)
Income not subject to taxation BB A (291) (633)
Over-provision in prior year BEFEBEEE (1,113) @)
Expenses not deductible for taxation R
purposes 780 516
Unused tax losses for which no deferred  3If7 4 f& 52 4 JiE 7 78 & = K
tax assets has been recognised RE) AT IEE R 3,517 3,726
Utilisation of tax losses for which no I e SRR E B IE 2 BHIR
deferred tax has been recognised Es18 &) A (1,210) -
Temporary difference for which no N7 £ B SRR E A TE & EE Y
deferred tax asset has been recognised ~ E k=58 (2,848) (1,003)
Temporary difference of undistributed R B S AR 2 R DK
profits of the PRC associate recognised it Al ) & B = %8 1,382 799
Income tax expense TSR X2 2 1,338

DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for

the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

12. 2

BEC N EANEE2023FE3A31HIEE

BIRMEMEE (20224 : F) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B mRME
For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z
13. LOSS PER SHARE 13.

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable
to shareholders of the Company is based on the following data.

(a) BASIC LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to shareholders of the Company by the

wBRER

AR R FRER RIS BB R
AT BURE H -

(@) BREAXEE

BEREANEREARRBREMRER
BRAFEAD ETE B N

weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during TE
the year.
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEx FEIT
Loss attributable to shareholders AR R FE(GER
of the Company (HK$’000) (F#&m) (1,363) (6,029)
Weighted average number of ordinary B 317 B AR g I 8
shares in issue (thousands) (F1) 885,556 858,918
Basic loss per share SRR ENEE
(HK cents per share) (RS (0.15) (0.70)

(b) DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company had no
dilutive potential ordinary shares, thus the diluted loss per
share presented is the same as the basic loss per share
(2022: Nil).
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

14. W% - BERKE

Restaurants Furniture
Leasehold  and kitchen Computer and
improvements  equipment  equipment fixtures Total
2ER
HE#E BEXE Eii%E HAREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THT THT THT
At 31 March 2021 MW2021 38310
Cost AR 10,014 6,618 816 6,217 23,665
Accumulated depreciation and 2 MERRE
impairment (9,589) (6,350) (787) (5,962) (22,688)
Net carrying amount REFE 425 268 29 255 977
Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ2022F3831H
LEE
Opening net carrying amount FNREFE 425 268 29 255 977
Depreciation nE (394) (232) @7) (235) (888)
Provision for impairment (Note 15(b)(i)) 7518 18 (i & 15(0)(i) (16) (13) - () (36)
Closing net carrying amount ERREFE 15 23 2 13 53
At 31 March 2022 R2022%3 831 H
Cost AR 7,834 5,326 599 4,936 18,695
Accumulated depreciation and ZEHMERE
impairment (7,819) (5,303) (597 (4,923) (18,642)
Net carrying amount FEFE 15 23 2 13 53
Year ended 31 March 2023 BZ2023F3A831H
LEE
Opening net carrying amount FONREFE 15 23 2 13 53
Additions NE 680 144 13 19 856
Depreciation e (146) (40) 12 ) (206)
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries & B K EEHT B 2 A
(Note 33(b)) (H5E33(b)) - - 20 - 20
Closing net carrying amount ERREFE 549 127 23 24 723
At 31 March 2023 MW2023%3A31H
Cost AR 4,138 2,174 210 1,605 8,127
Accumulated depreciation and 2 MERRE
impairment (3,589) (2,047) (187) (1,581) (7,404)
Net carrying amount REFE 549 127 23 24 723

RERIFHERER AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z202343 /31 H 1 F/Z

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES

(@) AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the

15. FHERERHERARK

(a) REFREMBRRREIZEHE

HEMBRARBREBEEZER

following amounts relating to the leases: R
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHTT
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
At 1 April 4 H18 9,997 13,251
Lease modification (Note (i) TE & () 7,319 9,889
Depreciation e (9,355) (12,337)
Provision for impairment VERIERE S - (806)
At 31 March R3A31A 7,961 9,997
Lease liabilities HESE
At 1 April n4A18 14,363 22,365
Lease modification (Note (i) THE &2k (M FE ) 7,319 9,889
Payments BN (18,352) (18,424)
Interest expenses FERX 274 533
At 31 March M3 H31H 8,604 14,363
Of which are: Hep s
Current lease liabilities mBHEERE 6,101 9,875
Non-current lease liabilities FERHEEARE 2,503 4,488
8,604 14,363
Note: B &E -

(i) The amount represents the renewal of contract periods for three
stores from restaurant business.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023

0 ZEREEEEBREB=RERNE
HHR °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT
OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

15. FRHESERIESE& R @

(b)

REeBRERkEMEZEKER

BRAZEHE

meBalkEMtrmEERBTARH

comprehensive income shows the following amounts MEZSRBEWOT :
relating to the leases:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FH& T
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  f P& EIr & 9,355 12,337
Impairment losses on right-of-use {5 F3 # & EE s (B &5 18 (BT 5 (ii))
assets (Note (i) - 806
Interest expenses FERX 274 533
Expenses relating to short-term EHREHEE R
leases 2,933 89
Rental concession related to 2019 AMm B im 2 HE R E
COVID-19 (Note (i) (B EE () (638) (511)
Notes: it

)

(i

The amount represents the rental concession granted by the
landlord to the Group in relation to COVID-19.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, in view of the continuous
decrease in restaurant business’s revenue as well as the
continuous adverse impact to the restaurant business among
from the COVID-19 epidemic related prevention measures, the
management considered that there were indications that the
assets may be impaired. The Group recognised each restaurant
as a separate identifiable cash-generating unit and carried out an
impairment assessment for the assets of individual restaurants,
including property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
Recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets were determined by value in use (“VIU”) calculation
using cash flow projections based on the financial budgets
covered for the remaining lease period of restaurants. Pre-tax
discount rate of 13% has been applied to the VIU calculation.
As a result of the impairment assessment, impairment loss of
HK$36,000 and HK$806,000 has been recognised on property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets respectively.

(i

ZEREEEEIH2019BRBEETHE T
REBRTESIRE ©

HZE202243831BILEE  ERNE
BB ZE TS B MR A S5 48 T P2 DA I 20197 itk
RERBEENLEERSEHERE
BEETHZE EEERBEET
RERREDR - A5BEEREE
HRAEBAHAINIRSEELEN
I 3 B B RE Y B EE T RE T
BIENE BERRBUAREAEER
E-WE BERIEUARERES
ENTRESENEAERERS
THBEOMEEENIE S RETEAIG
EnEAEE(ERAEEDEE - F
BEAETETEANBGRBAEERA
13% - MEFEOER WX BE
BEAREREEED BIERRE
/518 36,000% 7T & 806,000/% T °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

16. GOODWILL 16. B
HK$°000
F&T

Cost R AR
At 1 April 2022 MR2022F 4 H1H -
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33(b)) TR B U BT B A 7] (K 7E33(0) 9,026
Exchange difference HNE Z= B8 (219)
At 31 March 2023 R 202343 A31H 8,807
Accumulated impairment losses 2R EEE
At 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 R2022%F 4 H1HX2023F3 H31H -
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 March 2023 7K 20234 3 A31H 8,807

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs”) that are
expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying
amount of goodwill had been allocated to Context Image Group.

In addition to goodwill, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets that generate cash flows together with the
related goodwill are also included in the respective CGU for the
purpose of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amount of Context Image Group CGU has been
determined on the basis of their value in use using discounted
cash flow method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash
flow method are those regarding the discount rates and growth
rates during the period. The Group estimates discount rate using
pre-tax rate of 23.4% that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU. The
growth rates are based on past experience adjusted for strategic
decisions made in respect of the CGU.

The Group prepares Context Image Group CGU cash flow
forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets
approved by the directors for the next five years with the residual
period using the growth rate of 3%. This rate does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the relevant market.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ERRME
For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z220234#3/31H I F/Z
16. GOODWILL (continued) 16. &2 (@)
The following unfavorable change in key assumptions (individually THEZHRENTFES (@R RRFE
and while holding others unchanged) would remove the i B2 5% 1~ ) #5 )8 Bk Context Image Group
headroom such that the carrying amount of Context Image Group ReELEBMNMEREEERLWESER
CGU would exceed the recoverable amounts: B -
2023
2023 F
Revenue growth rate Decrease of growth rate by 3.6% for all years across the forecast period
e R TEORHARI AT A F 08 R X/ 4 3.6%
Pre-tax discount rate Increase of discount rate by 3%
BRELATRL IR = B35 =2 101 3%
Management believes that any reasonably possible change in EIEE R A + Context Image Group iR & &=
the key assumptions on which Context Image Group CGU’s ABM AW ESREAKIENEZ/REMNT
recoverable amount is based would not cause the CGU’s carrying MEEAEES T SERR S EEEN
amount to exceed its recoverable amount. The headroom, HAREE A E IO £ 58 o 2L £ 2023 F
expressed as a percentage of the CGU’s recoverable amount, is 3A3THE BEHHUABRSEEEMAK
approximately 17% as at 31 March 2023. EeEADLERR  HR17%°

REaIRHERER A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. ML E &

Non-
compete
Trademark IT Platform agreement Total
BB
5k TE FBRFHRH At
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT T FHETT FHT
Cost AR AR
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 R2021F481H -
and 1 April 2022 2022F 3 A31 B &
2022F 4 A1 H 25 - - 25
Arising on acquisition of IR B W B A 7
subsidiaries (Note 33(b)) (P 7E33(b)) - 3,514 3,749 7,263
Exchange difference HNE ZE — (85) (91) (176)
At 31 March 2023 202343 A31H 25 3,429 3,658 7,112
Accumulated amortisation BEtE
At 1 April 2021 R2021%F4H1H 22 - - 22
Amortisation for the year F N 2 - - 2
At 31 March 2022 R 202243 A31H 24 - - 24
Amortisation for the year F A # 1 508 543 1,052
Exchange difference SNEEFE - 6 6 12
At 31 March 2023 MR2028%F3 A31H 25 514 549 1,088
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 March 2023 MR2028%F3 H31H - 2,915 3,109 6,024

At 31 March 2022

R20229F3 A31H

Intangible assets, including IT Platform and non-compete
agreement, were arisen from the business combination of Context
Image. Details of the impairment assessment are set out in Note

16.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A BEANE
For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E
18. ASSOCIATES 18. B E LT
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FEIT
Investments in associates KB RN BRI E 71,268 61,627
Notional goodwill and intangible assets HEBENETEE 28,230 29,793
99,498 91,420
Loan to an associate (Note (ii)) m— A E R FREER
(B =% (i) 15,000 15,000
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 FF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FHEIT
Movements in the investments in REFE R AR EZ BT -
associates are as follows:
At the beginning of the year R E A) 91,420 90,051
AddItIOI’]S ;/J\\ E o 1 ,440
Share of post-tax profit of associates D AEEEE R R 2 R & R A 12,437 8,940
Dividend declared net of tax (Note (ii)) SRR S (BRBE1&) (B (i) - (8,878)
Share of other comprehensive income of 2 (b B & A &) 2 Hith 2 i a
associates (4,359) (133)
At the end of the year NG 99,498 91,420
Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 March VAT # 5l 7 2023 FF K% 2022 3 A 31 H#Y
2023 and 2022. The associate as listed below has share capital AREBEEE QA o T X FTH B E QD F A AR
consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the TNEBEEBER AASEEERFS &
Group; the country of incorporation or registration is also their Az S M ETE B IR A & E v b B o

principal place of business.

REaIRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

18. ASSOCIATES (Continued)

18. BHE 2% (m)

Place of Particulars Interest held directly at
incorporation/ of issued 31 March Interest held
Name operation share capital directly at 31 March Principal activity
AL/
£ ReEwH ERITRAHE R3A3 RERREHER TREHED
2023 2022
2023 F 20226
TRRASRETERERAR Providing
(Beijing Minshang ZhiHui E-commerce e-commerce
Co., Limited") (‘Minshang Zhihui") related service in
(Note (i) The PRC RMB50,000,000 50% 50%  the PRC
IRRAREEFEBERAA R B
(TREEE)) (M) h AR #50,000,0007C ETHEEBRY
MSCT Investment Holdings Limited
(‘MSCT Investment’) BVI US$10,000 46.67% 46.67% Investment holding
MSCT Investment Holdings Limited
(TMSCT Investment]) KERNES 10,000% 7T RERR

*

English name is translated for identification purpose only.

Notes:

(i) Minshang Zhihui is principally engaged in technology and e-commerce
related business with a focus on its scenario marketing system and
supply chain management capability to provide various banks, financial
institutions and sizable corporations with e-commerce.

The Group holds 50% equity interest in Minshang Zhihui and is entitled
to appoint two out of four directors in Minshang Zhihui. Voting decisions
of the board are made by a simple majority. The Group is not able to
exercise more than half of the voting power and it cannot control any
board decisions. Therefore, Minshang Zhihui is not a subsidiary of the
Group. However, since the Group can demonstrate significant influence
over Minshang Zhihui, the investment in Minshang Zhihui is recognised
as an investment in associate.

(ii) The Group granted a loan amounting to HK$15,000,000 to Minshang
Zhihui on 16 May 2019 with an expiry date of 15 May 2021. The
loan is unsecured and interest-bearing at a rate of 8% per annum,
with contractual settlement of the loan’s interest annually. On 14 May
2021 and 11 May 2023, the Group entered into two supplemental
agreements with Minshang Zhihui respectively for extending the loan
expiry date to 14 May 2023 and further to 14 May 2026.

On 12 June 2023, the Group entered into a new shareholder’s loan
agreement with Minshang Zhihui in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$11,000,000. The loan is unsecured and interest-bearing at a rate
of 8% per annum. The loan term is 12 months from the drawdown
date and subject to an extension for a further term of 12 months upon
service of a written notice.

(iii) Minshang Zhihui declared dividend of RMB16,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$19,729,000) to its shareholders on 25 June
2021. The Group holds 50% equity interest in Minshang Zhihui and is
entitled to RMB7,200,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$8,878,000)
of dividend, which is net of withholding tax. As at 29 June 2023, the
dividend has not been received.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ERRME
For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E
18. ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. B E 7 (m)
(a) SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (@) EXRBEATZBENKER
FOR MATERIAL ASSOCIATE
The table below provides summarised financial information TRIEHESRREASEMEBEE
for Minshang Zhihui that, in the opinion of director, is AZEREBZHMENBER  HE
material to the Group and is accounted for using the equity REmZEAR -
method.
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$000
FER FHEIT
Current TE
Total current assets MENEERLE 389,238 458,209
Total current liabilities BB EERE (284,454) (381,728)
Non-current IEFRE
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 37,752 44,499
Total non-current liabilities EMBE(ELRRE = (606)
Net assets BEFE 142,536 120,374
Opening net assets FUEEFE 120,374 117,331
Profit for the year F A A 30,860 21,221
Dividends declared EEIRRE - (19,730)
Currency translation difference NS = = (8,698) 1,552
Closing net assets FREEFE 142,536 120,374
Direct equity interest held Fiisha 2 B R 50% 50%
Share of net asset value held by NEBEHEZEEFRENDSE
Group 71,268 60,227
Intangible assets and notional B EAENBEEE
goodwill 28,230 29,793
Carrying amount IREE 99,498 90,020
Revenue W == 502,865 593,597
Profit for the year F A5 A 30,860 21,221
Other comprehensive income Ht 2wl (8,698) 1,552
Total comprehensive income 2 W s 258 22,162 22,773
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the A EERRBREEE ZEGRE I EH
consolidated financial statements of Minshang Zhihui (and 2%z 258 (IR eI BHER
not Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited’s share ERARDGEHESEZRY)  H
of those amounts) adjusted for differences in accounting ERASEEZE S A T BURZ
policies between the Group and the associate. EEEHFARE -

REaIRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

18. ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
FOR MATERIAL ASSOCIATE (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the bank and cash balances of
Minshang Zhihui denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB8,230,000 (2022: RMB42,443,000). The conversion of
the Renminbi denominated balance into foreign currencies
is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.

SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
FOR IMMATERIAL ASSOCIATE

The table below provides summarised financial information
for MSCT Investment that, in the opinion of director, is
immaterial to the Group and is accounted for using the
equity method.

18

. BB AT @)

(a)

(b)

BEABMERRAZHBEMBEN
(4)

HE202343A31H  REEAEMN
ARBTENRTEBESESR B A
R #8,230,0007T (20224 : A R¥&
42,443,0007T) ° A R ETE K 4 &4
BME BINER - BB ST BEETES
SN B 5l 37 Al R 6451

IERBEQNTRZBENKE
*Sl
T & 12 MSCT Investment H 1% 2 Bt
HER BEEREEUAREBILTE
K WERAHERAETALR -

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T

Carrying amount of interest A EBREE - 1,430
Loss for the year/period F HREE (3,588) (7)
Other comprehensive income H b 2 W= - -
Total comprehensive income eI Gt kL (3,588) 27)

The Group has not recognised loss for the year ended 31
March 2023 amounting to approximately HK$245,000
(2022: Nil). As at 31 March 2023, the accumulated losses
not recognised were HK$245,000 (2022: Nil).
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20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

INVENTORIES 19. &8
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHE T
Food and consumables B i K& H 44 111
Finished goods BUPK i 2,797 -
2,841 111
TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. BB RIA
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx T T
Trade receivables =) 1 E ] 28,597 1,572
Less: loss allowance B IR = (1,233)
28,597 339
Trade receivables mainly represent receivables from restaurant BORWAKBEETEREREELE  ES
operations, trading and IT solution businesses. The credit period REMBREBRLT REBMSHE T
granted to trade customers was within 1-30 days. The aging BH9RFNEEHARIENRAN - ZFE
analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date was as WHRIBE R EZE R M RRSTT ¢
follows:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx T T
Less than 30 days LHR30K 1,271 273
31 to 60 days 31 £ 60X 594 -
61 to 90 days 61 290K - 66
Over 90 days HBiEI0K 26,732 1,233
28,597 1,572

REaIRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The table below reconciles the loss allowance of trade

20. ¥ HEWKHRIAE @)

TRYUEZRRFIRZ B EREEETHER:

receivables:
2023 2022
2023 2022 FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T T
At the beginning of the year REH] 1,233 1,186
Provision for impairment VKRR = 47
Written-off it 55 (1,233) -
At the end of the year RER - 1,233
The carrying amount of trade receivables approximates to its R20234F K 2022F3 A31H ' B FEI

fair value as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 and is denominated in

RENFREEEAREBERE  TUAR

RMB. WEET{E -
21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21. AFRIRIE - REREMEBRKHR
RECEIVABLES ]
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH& T
Prepayments TR FRIE 1,231 7,307
Rental and utilities deposits MeEk ABEEZS 8,545 9,156
Other tax recoverable (Note (i) IR BNz A ())) 6,656 16,291
Other receivables (Note (ii)) H i e sk I8 (B 3 (i) 1,244 5,183
Dividend receivable (Note 18(ii) JE U B B, (Bf 5 18 ) 8,230 8,878
Value added tax receivable JE U 1 (B AR 898 797
26,804 47,612
Less: non-current portion B - FEENEAEE
— Rental and utilities deposits - e AREERS (2,546) (2,730)
Current portion BIERER 2 24,258 44,882

180 Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ERRME
For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E
ey
21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21. AFIRIE -EBERHEMBURR
RECEIVABLES (Continued) I8 (1)
Notes: B o
(i As at 31 March 2023, the other tax recoverable of RMB5,823,000 0} 202343 A31 B « Hh el Y EFiE A R
(equivalent to HK$6,656,000) (2022: RMB13,209,000 (equivalent to 5,823,000 7T (18 & 14 6,656,000/ 7T) (2022
HK$16,291,000)) represented the tax refund receivables from export F : AR¥ 13,209,000 7T (48 & R 16,291,000
sales of the trading business. Subsequent to the year end and up BIL)) RESEBE OEENRUBGRT - F
to the date of this report, no tax refund has been received (2022: RZBEARRE B H - WEWEIRE (2022
RMBS5,731,000 (equivalent to HK$7,068,000)). F: AR #¥5,731,0007T (#6 & 1 7,068,000
BIT)) ©

(ii) As at 31 March 20283, other receivable included interest receivable of (ii) M 20234F 3 A31 B  HAMhfEWRIE B IE R —
HK$1,057,000 (2022: HK$1,057,000) from the loan to an associate. i B 2 X A 12 44 B K A0 B Mk 21,057,000

7T (2022 4 ¢ 1,057,000 7C) ©

The table below reconciles the loss allowance of deposits and TR A7 3 N H b & U R IE HY 5 18 B 1
other receivables: B
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
At the beginning of the year R H) 214 86
(Reversal of provision)/provision for WA (B EED) B
impairment (75) 128
At the end of the year RER 139 214
The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other MR 2023 F K 2022F3 31 H » FBNFIE -
receivables approximate to their fair values as at 31 March 2023 ReREMERZTIENEEEREERAAE
and 2022 and are denominated in the following currencies: BERGEIL AL TEEEE :
2023 2022
2023 2022 FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
HK$ BIT 6,728 10,681
RMB AR 20,076 36,931
26,804 47,612

REaIRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ma

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

BARE R R RE

22. LOANS TO AN INTERMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY AND A RELATED COMPANY

23.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited

22. [A—FEPREE 2 F R —HR
BAFRMEER

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Current
RUNMING International Limited B EBE AR A A (M)
(ESEBIR B R A F]) (Note () 8,281 10,204
YR E S B RSB R A 7] (Note (i) FYNRESRREERA A
(B =2 (i) 9,878 =

Notes:

(i) The balance represents an unsecured loan to an intermediate holding
company of the Company. The loan bears interest at 8% per annum
and has no fixed repayment term but shall be repaid no later than 7

October 2024.

(ii) The balance represents an unsecured loan to a related company of the
Company. The loan bears interest at 8% per annum and has no fixed

repayment term but shall be repaid no later than 7 October 2024.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries with major operations as

at 31 March 2023 and 2022 are shown as follows:

B -

(i)

EERIE R AR A R IR IR A Rl HE A A 3 1R
ER - ZEFRIRFENE8%T R EEEE
FHARR - HETBER2024E10A7HER °

EERIE M AR A B —E B HE A B HE A A0 K R
BR - ZERIRFEN L% L BEEEE
FHR - HETNBIER2024F 10 A7 HEK »

23. BT

R20234F K 2022F3 A31H  EEE
NAIZFIBEREZERWOT :

Place of incorporation and Date of Registered Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity incorporation capital  Effective interest held place of operation
RATEEREN ITEEDR
£ AL A& AR BERER REw
2023 2022
028%F 2022%
Directly held subsidiaries:
ERNANKELR
Prosperity One Limited British Virgin Islands, limited liabiity 15 March 2016 US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
Prosperty One Limited REELHS AREMLA  2016F3A158 100X RE R
MSCT Management Limited  Hong Kong, limited liability company 3 October 2018 HK$1 100% 100%  Provision of management
service in Hong Kong
REAMERARLAA & BRECAF 201810/ 3R 18T ERBREEERY
MSCT Investment Limited ~ British Virgin Islands, limited liability 5 October 2018 USS1 100% 100%  Investment holding
MSCT Investment Limted ~ EBRZEHE  EREELR 2018%10A5H 1%7 RERRK

Annual Report 2023



23. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

23. B 2T @)

Place of incorporation and Date of Registered Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity incorporation capital  Effective interest held place of operation
HMKLEER RATEEREN ITEEBR
£ ERERER AL A & E R ERER REm
2023 2022
028%F  2022%
MSC-Tech Investment British Virgin Islands, limited liabity 8 October 2018 US§1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited company
MSC-Tech Investment AERLHS AREMLA  2018F10A8H 1% RARRK
Holdings Limited
MSC-Tech Investment British Virgin Islands, limited liabiity 8 October 2018 USS1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited company
MSC-Tech Investment EBRAHS AREARAE  2018610A8H 1%7T RERRK
Limited
Indirectly held subsidiaries:
BEEENHEBAR
333 Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 7 May 2004 HK$100 100% 100%  Ownership of trademark
3BERAA & BRAMLA 200455A78 10077 REER
Goody Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 5 June 2003 HK$100 100% 100% anership of trademark
ERER AT &8 BREARA 200356 A5H 10087 #EHER
111 Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 29 November 2005 HK$1,000 100% 100%  Provision of catering
management service in
Hong Kong
M ARAH B BRAELA 2005411 A29A 1,000 ERBRUEREERY
Unlimit Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 15 March 2007 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong
ERARAF & BRAMLA 2007¥3R 158 10,0007 ERBREEE
Dotco Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 20 September 2006 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong
SYBRAT % BRAELA 2006698208 10,0007 ERELEER
Hotex Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 27 June 2003 HK$100 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong
CRERAT &8 BREALA 200356 A 27 H 1007 EERAEEE
Sydney Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 18 January 2007 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong
SHARALA] & BRAMLA 2007%1A 18R 10,000/ 7T ERBREEE
Printech Corporation Limited  Hong Kong, limited liability company 24 January 2008 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Restaurants operationin
Hong Kong
migARAT] & BRAARA 20085 1R 248 10,0007 EEBBEER

REaIRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

23. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

23. B 2T @)

Place of incorporation and Date of Registered Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity incorporation capital  Effective interest held place of operation
HMKLEER RATEEREN TEEBR
£ ERERER AL L A Ef R BEREL BEhY
2023 2022
028F  2022F
Tri-pros Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 24 February 2009 HK$300,000 100% 100%  Restaurants operationin
Hong Kong
ZHAERAH B BEREALA 200952 A24 8 300,000/ 7 HERAEER
555 Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 7 May 2004 HK$100 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in
Hong Kong
556 AR A B BREARA 200455 A7H 10087 HERAEER
MSEC Investment (HK) Hong Kong, limited liability company 30 October 2018 HK$1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
MSEC Investment (HK) &8 BEREALA 2018%10A30A 1,000/87 REAR
Limited
REERHER)EFHEH  The PRC (imited liabiity company 21 May 2019 RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Trading business in the
BRAR under the law of the PRC) PRC
REAR(ER)ETEE +HBETEZECEREE  2019F5A21H AR TEESER
BRAF NS} 50,000,0007C
REAM(ER)EE The PRC (imited liability company 24 June 2019 RMB2,000,000 70% 70%  Trading business in the
BRAF under the law of the PRC) PRC
REAIR(ZR)BE HE(BEPEEECEREE 201956 A24A ARE HEES X
ARAT ) 2,000,0007C
SEMABBEBBRAA  The PRC (imited liabiity company 29 November 2019 RMB20,000,000 N/A 100%  Trading business in the
under the law of the PRC) PRC
cEMAABEERAR HEBBTEEEZEREE 201911 A29A ARE TER HEE 5%
NG)) 20,000,007t
AERBEENETAE  The PRC (imited liabilty company 23 December 2020 RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Service business in the
(RN ERAH under the law of the PRC) PRC
AIEREENETHE rEMBEBETEERCERRE  2020F12423A ARE B RS 7
(R ERAH ) 50,000,000
Context Image Holdings Cayman Islands, limited liability 6 August 2021 US$50,000 100% N/A~ Investment holding
Limited company
Context Image Holdngs ~ F2#5  BREF AR 202158 f6H 50,000%7T TER  REER
Limited
BRER IR BR The PRC (imited liability company 23 November 2015~ RMB3,000,000 100% N/A T solution services in the
BRAH under the law of the PRC) PRC
FRER (LR BHR RE(RETEZEZERES 2015511 A23H AE% TER  REEANRBRAARR
BRAF NS) 3,000,0007C %

* S EEME HE E AR AR was dissolved on 25 May 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A IS HRME
For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E
24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24 HIERBAEEFERDY
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHER FHET
Cash on hand FHEE® 230 208
Cash at banks RTINS 9,506 23,582
Total et 9,736 23,790
At 31 March 2023, the maximum exposure to credit risk of 20233 A31H - AEEHEHBEN &S
the Group is cash at banks, amounting to approximately 1= B [k & F4 499,506,000 7% 7T (2022 4F :
HK$9,506,000 (2022: HK$23,582,000). 23,582,000 7) HER1TIH & o
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT T T
Cash and cash equivalents T3 E®ETENRS R
denominated in: REEEY :
HK$ BIT 3,793 17,626
RVMB AR¥E 5,943 6,164
9,736 23,790
As at 31 March 2023, cash and cash equivalents of R2023F3A31H  AEEMNRE R
approximately HK$5,925,000 (2022: HK$6,145,000) of the Group IR & £ E ¥ 45,925,000/ 7t (2022 F :
were denominated in Renminbi and deposited with banks in the 6,145,000/ 70) T3 A A R B EHE I T R
PRC. The conversion of the Renminbi denominated balance into FEZIRIT  HIRMARBELEHBINEG
foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign JRE PR BT AR M R I NE E 45 B AR E ©
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no RITHEB DTN EEEZEHMHEERED

recent history of default. SCERHYERTT ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

25. TRADE PAYABLES

An aging analysis of the trade payables at the end of the reporting

25. BRHEARR

RBEMRNEZENFEERER A

period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HARER DITEAT -
2023 2022
2023 2022 &
HK$’000 HK$ 000
TRT FHEIT
Less than 30 days DR 30K - 577
31 to 60 days 31 260X 514 -
61 to 90 days 612 90K - -
Over 90 days 90 KM 21,382 -
21,896 577

The trade payables are non-interest bearing with payment terms

BIRNFTERTTRE BN —KRE

of 30 days in general. 30K °

The carrying amounts of the trade payables approximate to their B EMNFIEZREEEE A EERS

fair values and are denominated in the following currencies: WA TN EHEEETE -
2023 2022
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHETT
HK$ BTT 600 577
RMB AR 21,296 -
21,896 577

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

26. HtuERRKREEA

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Accrued employee benefit expenses st E EmFIRA 1,615 1,459
Accrued audit fees JERT AT E A 1,300 3,030
Provision for long service payment REIRTE 2 B 515 845
Provision for unutilised annual leave REVAFBREME 282 228
Provision for reinstatement costs (Note (i) 18 & & & #& (M () 564 1,553
Amount due to a former executive director FEN — & A H1TE = 7IE
(Note (ii)) CBfF 52 (ii)) 2,008 5,752
Amount due to an immediate holding e —EEHEER A B3IA
company (Note (i) (B = (i) 5 5
Provision for the CIT and penalty on RS R REEZ
transfer of equity (Note (iv)) SR (BT (v) 4,882 =
Other tax payable H b e FIE - 6
Others Hfth 2,615 1,478
13,786 14,356
Less: non-current portion  : FERNEREE
— Provision for reinstatement costs —BERERAEE (300) (573)
Current portion BNEREB 75 13,486 13,783
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z202343 /31 H 1 F/Z

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of the other payables and accruals balance
approximate to their fair values and are denominated in the
following currencies:

26. HfthFEMRIRREHERA @

H Al AR R ERT & A AR R E E R
HARBENEE  YRATERE

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FET
HKS$ BT 5,906 14,003
RMB ARHE 7,880 353
13,786 14,356
Notes: M =
(i) Provision for reinstatement costs 0] ERERAEE

Movements in the Group’s provision for reinstatement costs are as

AEENERERBRENEHOT

follows:
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHBT
At the beginning of the year REH 1,553 2,010
Actual costs paid ENEREAR (989) (457)
At the end of the year RER 564 1,553

(ii) Amount due to a former executive director
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
(iii) Amount due to an immediate holding company

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

Notes: (cont’d)

(v)

Provision for the CIT and penalty on transfer of equity interest

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest in Context Image Group, leading to an indirect acquisition of %
S8R (UtR) BHE AR A 7 (Changjing Wanxiang (Beijing) Technology
Co., Ltd., “Changjing Wanxiang”), a subsidiary of Context Image in the
PRC. According to Public Notice [2015] No. 7 promulgated by the State
Taxation Administration (the “STA”), this arrangement is considered
an indirect transfer of equity interest of a PRC resident and any related
capital gain derived therein shall be subject to the CIT. Therefore, in
this event, the Group shall act as an CIT withholding agent and report
the indirect equity transfer (and settle the CIT, if applicable) to the PRC
tax authority within 30 days after the conclusion of the equity transfer
agreement.

If the Group fails to fulfill its withholding obligation and the Vendor has
not paid the CIT, the PRC tax authority would demand the Vendor for
the payment of CIT and impose a penalty ranging from 50% to 3 times
of the unpaid CIT on the Group. However, the penalty may be relieved if
the Group voluntarily reports the indirect equity transfer to the PRC tax
authority.

According to the sale and purchase agreement dated 24 December
2021 entered into among the Group, through one of its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, four independent third parties (the “Vendors”) and
two guarantors, namely Guarantor W and Guarantor Z (collectively
referred as the “Vendors’ Guarantors”), the Vendors are responsible
for filing and settling the CIT arising from the indirect equity transfer
in accordance with the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The
Vendors’ Guarantors have irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed
the Vendor’s due and prompt performance and compliance with their
obligations under the sale and purchase agreement.

The directors of the Company are of the view that no cash consideration
was involved in the aforesaid acquisition, as well as the indirect equity
transfer, and therefore no money should be withheld at the initial stage.
Under these circumstances, it is the responsibility of the Vendors to
report and pay the CIT. As at 31 March 2023, the Group has not yet
reported the transaction and the Vendor has not yet paid the CIT to the
PRC tax authority. Accordingly, a provision of HK$4,882,000 for the
non-withheld portion and the relevant maximum penalty was recognised
based on the management’s best estimation.

FfeE

(v)

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

26. HfttFEMRIRREHERA @

(%)
P 8 8 1) 0 R P AS AN BT SR HO B A

HZE2023F3A31HIEEE  AEBEWE
Context Image Group #J 100% A% #& - & 2 [
# W B8 Context Image EH EIKI B A R H £ B
R AR BEARAR ([HRER]) - RIE
BERHEER (BXRBFERF ) B [2015]
FETHRAE  ZERHEREGEATEERRED
M EE - B E ST AR E AR A
M ERSR - Ft  EZBERT - &
SEEERCEMGHRBEARBA  RIEKX
S 42 8 o3 177 % 14 30 K 1A 1) B i 745 L P R 45
MRz R (WA EMSEHE - EA) -

HAREREETEBHAEEREIAREX
NEERER  PERBEEREERETX
NERAEN - AAAKERAN F R
EMSHE0% E3FMET R - AW - HAE
158 £ [ 1) P B8 754 765 444 R R e P PR A B 0
A0 AT R %R

BIEAREENR2021F12 A24 B NEE
i ERHE—HMEEWBAR  WABYL
F=F(ER]) RMBERA  BHERAW
MERAZ(GEAEERERA BEHE
ERBEABREREEERERBERREE
MERESEMEENCENSH -EHE
RAE AT RS b, B S AR (R R B B 5 R B
BITRETEEHEE THEME -

RAGEERA - LilkiE & EERESE
BEESS K IE & R(E - B IR ¥ R B e
BAEMMKIE - ERBERT  BHREIF0E
FIfSTMEEERE S 1202833 A31H -
REBERAZHRZR S MEHAHARATEH
MEREATNEEMSH Al BEER
BH&EM - BIEEHLD KEEES S
TR R B 4,882,000 4 TT ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR
For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z202343 /31 H 1 F/Z
27. OTHER BORROWINGS 27. HfthfE =
2023 2022
2023 2022 &
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FHE T
IREEREREER AR I REEREREER AR - 111
The loan was denominated in RMB and borrowed by & &l (22 EFAAREEE  WHARQFKNEBA A
) EFE AR A A, a subsidiary of the Company, from b REasl(BR) EFEBKERARMAR
RERBBERRE AR AT, a felow subsidiary of the Company. AREMBRARIERREREREERA
Such loan is repayable on demand, bears interest at 7.5% per AIfEAN ZEEREARERERE  EEF
annum. The outstanding balance was fully repaid during the year. KT75%FE - REELEHRERFANBHIE
2% o
28. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 28. [EEFRRIR
2023 2022
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT T T
Deferred income tax assets BEETSMEE 24 -
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEMEMEE (6,781) (3,8993)
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during FRNREEFAEHEERABNEFSHOT
the year is as follows:
DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS BELEFEHRERE
Allowance for
trade receivables
BEZREWRERE
HK$°000
T T
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R2021F4 18 20223831 B &
20224 A1 H -
Credited to profit or loss for the year FTAFANER 24
At 31 March 2023 R20234F3 A31H 24
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

28. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

28. BRIEFR1R IR (@)

DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES BELEFEHEaRE
Undistributed
profits of the
PRC Assets
associate revaluation Total
i
i —ENE I
RAOMERN EEEHMHE A5t
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$ 000
THT THT T T
At 1 April 2021 R2021%4H1H 3,094 - 3,094
Charged to profit or loss for the year 18 4 A EzE 799 - 799
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R20229F3 A31 B &
2022F 4 A1 H 3,893 - 3,893
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries W& B A &l E £
(Note 33(b)) (B$3E33(0)) - 1,816 1,816
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss for 18/ (5t A) F A E%
the year 1,382 (263) 1,119
Exchange difference [ =58 - (47) (47)
At 31 March 2023 R 20234F3 A31H 5,275 1,506 6,781

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The
Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$128,966,000 (2022:
HK$111,027,000) that can be carried forward against future
taxable income. These tax losses have not been recognised due
to uncertainty of future realisation. Such tax losses have no expiry

BEMSHEEDNRELE 2 HEERE
TR - MELA B A 8245 1B 7R oK JE 2R 5t i I 2
REBHIENZ AR - ANEBEG ] &E U
WA RERT WA KR ERHIEEIE
128,966,000 7% T (20224 : 111,027,000
PSTT) o AR IR EIE T M - s
HRZEHIEEE HEATEEENERE
date. v B R o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations
resulting from technology solution services contracts, software
customisation services contracts and trading contracts.

20. SNAIR

TREREMERDRRBELH - HHE
HRBENRESANELEZHREITZ
BHEME -

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
Contract liabilities relating to trading HEZGEBHEEcaNAE
business 40 -
Contract liabilities relating to technology B2 AlTER R 75 2 IR 7% & 49AR R 2
solution services contracts EHEE 1,061 5,168
Contract liabilities relating to software BB EFIRE S LEE 2
customisation services contracts AEHNEE - 768
Total contract liabilities X BIERE 1,101 5,936

Contract liabilities mainly represent advance payments received
from customers related to trading business, technology solution
services contracts and software customisation services contracts

BHNABEZEIRTEZIESES &
AR IR 77 2 AR TS & #0 S B TE Il AR 75 & 49
A& P Y 2 B K

in the PRC.
30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. &%
Number of Nominal
shares value
RHEE HE
HK$’000
FET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each HMMEE0.0025 %8 T Ay B A%
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, R2021F4 A1 H -
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 2022% 3 A31H *
2022%F 4 A1 B K&
202343 A31H 4,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHBE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each &A% 18 0.0025 7 T A X iE A%
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and R2021%F4H18 - 2022 F
1 April 2022 3A31HK2022F4/1H 858,918,182 2,147
Issuance of new shares (Note 33(b)) BT IR (B 7E33(0)) 34,356,728 86
At 31 March 2023 R 202343 A31H 893,274,910 2,233

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023



31.

32.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

OTHER RESERVE 31. Hfthk e
In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable BIREARIINEBE R EZ BT ENES -
to wholly foreign owned enterprises, the PRC subsidiaries are FERBARAR —ETDRBRAMERE
required to appropriate to reserve fund an amount of not less i A10% (IRIB A B g 5 2 A5 &) < 508
than 10% of the profit after income tax, calculated based on the BAREBEES WtREEEECRFTEE
PRC accounting standards. Should the accumulated total of ERBMB AR GEMERZ50% @ AlZE
this reserve fund reach 50% of the registered capital of the PRC MEBARSEEBERR FHEESEDY
subsidiaries, the subsidiaries will not be required to make any RES AR R R & #HEf SR R i 18 A X
further appropriation. The reserve fund can only be used, upon HEFTEIESARNEE -
approval by the shareholders’ meeting or similar authorities, to
offset accumulated losses or increase capital.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, retained earnings of REZE2023F3A31HIEFE  (RE AT
RMB11,000 had been transferred to the statutory reserve (2022: AR 11,000 JiE 8 =% F s (2022 4F -
Nil). As at 31 March 2023, retained earnings comprise statutory T) cR20283F3A31H  REBAF BIE
reserve fund of RMB268,000 (2022: RMB257,000). EEEHEE S A KB 268,000 7T (2022 4 -
AR#257,0007T) °
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. ABARH
(@) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (a) HEBEZXS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial Bira R ERMBPEEIN  NEE
statements, the Group had the following related party RERNZBEE TR ZW0F ¢
transactions during the year:
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$000
FERT FHT
Interest income received/receivables B 42,/ FEUR 51| & 75 K A B
from A
— An associate (Note 18(i) — — B & & | (B &F 184i)) 1,200 1,200
— An intermediate holding —— AR AR A A
company 777 204
— A related company ——fE A7 636 277
Technology service fee charged by a — i B B 72 &) U EX &9 B4
related company ks 2 1,755 =
Consultation fee charged by a 20 NG N e E=
related company 988 -
Purchase of goods from a related ~ #t — M AR EE RS
company 2,680 -

RERIFHERER AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

32. MBEA XS @

(@) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (a) EEEE BRH2RS (#)

(Continued)

Notes: Mt sk -

0] The transactions above were conducted in the normal course of 0] RSB EXEBBEPETR
business and charged at terms mutually agreed by the parties BB BRI A5 HHE #E B IER AR IR
concerned or in accordance with the terms of the underlying TR REAIER (ER) WERER -
agreements, where appropriate.

(M  AEREAIEEFE R ORI AR 2 A, a subsidiary of the i) AEEHRBARNERFAIRNHER
Group, had entered into an agreement with B & FEHE (RII) B ORI AR AR B HEAR R BEGE
AR A7, arelated entity of the Company, for the period from 1 BEEESTHE ORI BR ARG
January 2021 to 31 December 2022. Under the agreement, Al 3 ik HiRR 82021 F1 A1 HERE
HREE TR OFRIYI) B R A Alis alowed to access and use 2022412 A31 8 - BB % AIE
the technology, online platform and databases owned by the REgFRB CRY) BR A REES
counterparty, with service fee waived. The executive director of BERERRZEFHER RN - £
the Company, Mr. Tao Jingyuan, is also the sole owner of the BITaks#BEE  2WREE -AQ
related companies. AMTESHEFRLENABE QR

ZHE—EEA °
(b) OUTSTANDING BALANCES WITH RELATED (b) BEEAEE S 2 M R E B AR
PARTIES
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET AT
Amount due to immediate & B #E AR A Bl IR
holding company 5 5
Loan to an associate F— B E N RREER 15,000 15,000
Interest receivables from loan to an &K Al — & & A RIIE R E R
associate Z A 1,057 1,057
Dividend receivable from an FE i — It & A R 2 AR B
associate 8,230 8,878
Loan to an intermediate holding M\ A R AR A Rl ER R B 5K
company 8,100 10,000
Interest receivables from loan to an  FEU A FF 5 A% A BlHR (1 B 3¢
intermediate holding company ZAE 181 204
Loan to a related company m— R AR REER 9,315 =
Interest receivables from loanto a B4R [ — MR HE A RIIR R E R
related company Z A B 563 =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 32. ABEA X H )

(c) KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION (c) XEEHEEFHM
For the year ended 31 March 2023, key management HE2023F3A31BILFEE £Z
represents the executive directors of the Group (2022: the ERERASBEHNITES (20224F :
executive directors of the Group). Compensation of key AEERTES) ASEXZER
management personnel of the Group, including directors’ ABMEH B (BEGRE BRI
remuneration as disclosed in Note 10 to the consolidated FI1I0FTEENESHM) AT ¢

financial statements, is as follows:

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FH&TT
Salaries, bonus, allowances and e B4l EER R

other benefits in kind H B ¥E A 483 520

Pension costs—defined contribution 3B R & A A — 57 E (2 GT 2
plans 25 28
508 548

REaIRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME
For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z
33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 33. HFEeBERERMPFE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (@) BEFRE (FFTABRE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Ff 5 FHEx T T
Loss before income tax b PTS R Rl E5 18 1,707 (4,715)
Adjustments for: KLAT R :
Impairment losses on property, W - BERZRERE
plant and equipment 18 8 - 36
Impairment losses on right-of-use 1 F 1 & E RUE B 1B
assets 8 - 806
(Reversal of impairment losses)/ @ @& ZE OREEE
impairment losses on financial BE),/REEE
assets (75) 175
Written off of other receivables i1 55 L Ath E W SR IE 763 =
Gain on deemed disposal of a RIEHE —FNBEA
subsidiary Az Was 6 - (1,442)
Depreciation of property, plant Y - BEREREITE
and equipment 8 206 888
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (£ H#E&EEHTE 8 9,355 12,337
Amortisation of intangible assets 2 & E#E S 8 1,052 2
Exchange loss, net SNE 5B 5R 6 360 -
Finance income & WA 7 (2,629) (2,455)
Finance cost BE KA 7 274 911
Share of post-tax profit from DEEEE AT 2
associates BR # 18 Ja ) 18 (12,437) (8,940)
Other provision H s 26(iv) 4,882 =
Operating profit/(loss) before LEESEEAE 2
working capital change reem A, (E8) 381 (2,397)
Changes in working capital: LEECEE)
Change in inventories F & (2,668) 7
Change in trade receivables B EWRIBEEZH (25,628) 333,894
Change in prepayments, deposits ~ J& {5018 ~ 24 K&
and other receivables L {th i U Sk IE £ ) 25,656 18,288
Change in trade payables H ZEMNRIEE S 20,125 (329,986)
Change in other payables and H b e FIE K
accruals EETERE (10,833) (6,958)
Change in contract liabilities BHaESE (4,835) (5,761)
Cash generated from operations & &FT1SHE € 2,198 7,087
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 33. FEAEMERME @)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (b) WEBHKE L F

On 24 December 2021, the Group, through one of
its wholly-owned subsidiaries, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with the Vendors, pursuant to which
the Group agreed to acquire and the Vendors agreed to
sell 100% equity interests in Context Image Group, at a
maximum consideration of HK$114,236,118 which shall
be settled by way of allotment and issue of a maximum of
171,783,636 consideration shares by the Company to the
Vendors in three stages at the issue price of HK$0.665 per
consideration share under the General Mandate.

The allotment and issue of the second stage consideration
shares, amounting to 51,535,090 consideration shares,
and the third stage consideration shares, amounting to
85,891,818 consideration shares, shall be subject to the
following financial guarantees given by the Vendors and the
Vendors’ guarantors with reference to the audited financial
statements of Context Image Group for the financial
years ending 31 December 2022 (the “2022 Financial
Guarantee”) and 31 December 2023 (the “2023 Financial
Guarantee”), respectively:

2022 Financial Guarantee

(1)  the audited consolidated revenue of Context Image
Group (exclude non-recurring income, extraordinary
income and non-operating income) (“Audited
Consolidated Revenue”) for the financial year
ended 31 December 2022 shall be no less than
RMB50,000,000; and

(2)  the audited consolidated net profit of Context Image
Group (after taxation and minority interest and
exclude nonrecurring income, extraordinary income
and non-operating income) (“Audited Consolidated
Net Profit”) for the financial year ended 31 December
2022 shall be no less than RMB5,000,000.

If Context Image Group fails to meet the 2022 Financial
Guarantee, no second stage consideration shares will be
issued to the Vendors.

R2021FE12 8248 A&EE GE B
H-—He2EWNBAR) EEFTVE
B Bt ASEREREmE
77 [ & H & Context Image Group Z
100% I&# - Ze= KB & 114,236,118
BT BARAARRRE —REEIR
FRARBRHK0.6658 L2 %EITE
H=ERBERAEIRERETRS
171,783,636 R ER M 2 A AT °

FE_RERERMD (51,535,090 %
REBRD) RE=ZRBERERKHB
(85,891,818 I X (B B 1) HY Bid 35 A 2%
TEAGEIRBEIREADHNZR
Context Image Group & &= 2022 4 12
A 318 ([2022 F &I IER ) %2023
F12 431 H ([2023 FEI I IER]) 1E
MBRFE 2 8B ZTBHRERMEL 2
YIS ERERITEFAIEE

2022 F B I IR

(1)  Context Image Group & = 2022
FI2A B ILMBFE 2 &KE
Zir Wz (N EEFEL T IR
A BRI T & ZE AN (T 88
BERmeRR])) BT LPRAR
# 50,000,000 7T : &

(2) Context Image Group & = 2022
FI2A B LM BFE 2&E
ZERE LR (HBRFIE R D HAR
RiEZRZ BB EIELETEE
YN NSV PN
([REREZEHAEF]) BT DR
A R#¥5,000,000 7T °

fiti Context Image Group 1~ & &= 2|

2022 F IS HER - BITN @R E 75 &
T —HEERRERD -

RERIFHERER AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

2023 Financial Guarantee

(1)  the Audited Consolidated Revenue for the financial
year ending 31 December 2023 shall be no less than

RMB120,000,000; and

(2) the Audited Consolidated Net Profit for the financial
year ending 31 December 2023 shall be no less than

RMB24,000,000.

If Context Image Group fails to meet the 2023 Financial
Guarantee, no third stage consideration shares will be

issued to the Vendors.

Context Image Group consists of Context Image, CISC (HK)
Holdings Limited and Changjing Wanxiang, and is principally
engaged in the provision and design of SaaS systems and
IT solution services to its customers, including financial
institutions and merchants ranging from the retail, food and
beverage, travel, lifestyle sectors, to build and improve their
direct operation capabilities with their digital users through

membership services.

The directors of the Company consider that the acquisition
of Context Image Group represents a good investment
opportunity for the Company, having considered the growth
potential of the SaaS industry and the business prospect of
Context Image Group leveraging on the experience of the
management team of Context Image Group in the industry.
The directors of the Company believe that the acquisition
of Context Image Group enables the Group to diversify its
income stream, thereby enhance shareholders value in the

long run.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

33. FEHARERME @

(b) WiEHKE AR (@)

2023 F I I IR
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FE 2 REBZEEW=EEN D
A AR 120,000,0007T : K&

@) #HZE2023F12 A31H I8 B
FEZRBZES MG
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 33. IFEB&NERME W

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) (b) WiEHE L F ()

2023 F B IR ()

2023 Financial Guarantee (Continued)

On 22 June 2022, the Company allotted and issued
34,356,728 first stage consideration shares to the Vendors
and the acquisition of Context Image Group was completed
on the same date. Context Image Group becomes the
subsidiaries of the Group since then. The purchase
consideration and the amounts of the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed of Context Image Group

are as follows:

R20226F6A228 - KRR MEH
Pt 3% & 3 1734,356,728 i £ — P& &
RERD - WK F B 78K ¥ Context
Image Group #J 4% - Context Image
Group Bt I AR S B MK E QA -
8 B X B LA & ¥ Context Image Group
B BT LB T 38 B A B R PR HE T A

AMFEENSENT

HK$°000
FExT
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% WE K& 20
Intangible assets mVEE
— IT platform —EMEEFEA 3,514
— Non-compete agreement — PR F & 3,749
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 62
Trade receivables =Y e Q] 2,630
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TR - e R EMmEWFRIE 5,536
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 2,390
Current liabilities REIBE
Trade payables 5 ENFIE (1,194)
Other payables H A E N SR I8 (3,432)
Non-current liabilities FknBERE
Deferred tax liability RIERIARE (1,816)
Total net identifiable assets at fair value BRATEFENFBAFEELE 11,459
Goodwill BkS 9,026
Net assets acquired Fir Y B 5 & e 20,485
Satisfied by: BRUTHAXZ A :
Issue of shares BT 18,209
Equity component of contingent consideration sk AR BREZE I H 2,276
Total purchase consideration (fair value) BERERSE (AYE) 20,485
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition KEBEENRSHRANTE
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FriEReRReFEY 2,390

REaIRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

2023 Financial Guarantee (Continued)

The directors of the Company have engaged AVISTA
Valuation Advisory Limited (“AVISTA”) to assist in
determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities
of Context Image Group in accordance with HKFRS
13 Fair Value Measurement. AVISTA has reviewed the
methodologies, the key valuation parameters and business
assumptions adopted.

The fair value of the 34,356,728 consideration shares was
calculated based on the published market price at HK$0.53
per share of the Company’s ordinary shares as at 22 June
2022. The fair values of contingent consideration payable
as at 22 June 2022 were determined by the directors of the
Company with the assistance of AVISTA using a probability
model. The key unobservable assumptions applied in such
model included the probability of fulfiment of second stage
and third stage conditions.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition is attributable
to the growth and profit potential in the expansion of the
provision and design of SaaS systems and IT solution
business. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to
be deductible for income tax purposes.

The total acquisition-related transaction costs of
approximately HK$2,098,000 have been excluded from
the consideration transferred and charged to other
operating expenses of approximately HK$1,160,000 and
approximately HK$938,000 in the profit and loss during the
year ended 31 March 2022 and 2023, respectively.

For the period from the date of acquisition to 31 March
2023, the acquired business has contributed revenue of
approximate HK$55,828,000 and contributed a profit of
approximately HK$3,611,000 to the Group.

If the acquisition had been taken place as at 1 April 2022,
the revenue and profits of the Group would be increased
by approximately HK$1,775,000 and decreased by
approximately HK$256,000, respectively.

The proforma information is for illustrative purposes only
and is not necessarily an indication of the revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on
1 April 2022, nor is intended to be a projection of future
results.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 33. IFEB&NERME W

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(c) NET DEBT RECONCILIATION (©)

This section sets out an analysis of net cash/(debt) and
the movement in net cash/(debt) for each of the years

SEFEYR

AEHINSERFEZRE(AE)
FRRBRS/(BE)FHREBON -

presented.
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Cash and cash equivalents HeMBESEEY 9,736 23,790
Other borrowing H &5 = (111)
Lease liabilities HEARE (8,604) (14,363)
Net cash REFEE 1,132 9,316
Bank Other Lease
borrowing borrowing liabilities Total
RITIE X E At g 5k HEAE 5t
HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FBT FAET FHETT
For the year ended HE2022F3A31 1
31 March 2022 IEFE
At 1 April 2021 7R2021%F4 A1H 11,819 - 22,365 34,184
Net cash inflows/(outflows) BE&ARACRi)
HEE (12,123) 37 (18,424) (30,510)
Financial expense B & A 304 74 533 911
Other non-cash movements ~ H {thIEIR & B &h
— addition of lease liabilities -ANEHEERE - - 9,889 9,889
At 31 March 2022 R2022F3 A31H - 111 14,363 14,474

RERIFHERER AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

33. FEHARERME @

(c) NET DEBT RECONCILIATION (Continued) (c) BEFEYHER®@
Other Lease
borrowing liabilities Total
HAebh &R HEAE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FET
For the year ended 31 March 2023 # Z2023%3 A 31H
IEFE
At 1 April 2022 R2022F 4 A1 H 111 14,363 14,474
Net cash outflows RE ML FE (111) (13,352) (13,463)
Financial expense B8R - 274 274
Other non-cash movements B e &
— addition of lease liabilities —-ANEHEAE - 7,319 7,319
At 31 March 2023 R20283F3 H31H - 8,604 8,604
(d) NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS d) ¥kBREXRSH

For the year ended 31 March 2023, as set out in Note
33(b), on 22 June 2022, the Company allotted and issued
34,356,728 consideration shares for the acquisition of
Context Image Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, MSCT Investment was
incorporated as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
on 3 October 2018. On 12 July 2021, MSCT Investment
allotted 4,666 shares at USD$1(equivalent to approximately
HK$8) per each share to the Group. On 21 May 2021, the
Group entered into the capital increase agreement (“Capital
Increase Agreement”) with MSCT Investment and an
independent third party (“Subscriber”), pursuant to which
the Subscriber agreed to subscribe for 5,333 new shares
of MSCT Investment for a consideration HK1,600,000,
which represents 53.33% of the enlarged equity interest
of MSCT Investment. The subscription, satisfied by cash,
was completed on 16 August 2021. Upon completion of
the subscription, the Group no longer has control over
the board of MSCT Investment. Thus, MSCT Investment
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group and became an
associate of the Group.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instrument as at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

4. BREAMNBSHEMIA
REREHR SESMTAZREENT

2023 2022
2023 2022 FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Assets included in the consolidated FTARE BRI R CEE
statement of financial position
Financial assets at amortised cost: REHERAFTECSREE -
— Loan to an associate — A —fE#E R RIREER 15,000 15,000
- Loan to an intermediate — A — A A R IR A R IR
holding company B 8,281 10,204
— Loan to a related company —m—EEsAFREER 9,878 -
— Trade receivables — & 5 rEFRIE 28,597 339
— Deposits and other receivables — e K H b fE I FRIE 18,019 23,217
— Cash and cash equivalents —BERBEEEY 9,736 23,790
Total et 89,511 72,550
Liabilities included in the consolidated SAAREMBRAXRZ BE
statement of financial position
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REHEKATEZEREE
— Trade payables — B S ENIEA 21,896 577
— Other payables and accruals — BB KIEREER 5,928 10,228
— Other borrowing —H b fER - 111
— Lease liabilities —HEaE 8,604 14,363
Total HBEt 36,428 25,279

REaIRHER AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY

(a) STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

fifs 82 B

(a) ADFAHBARRRT

35. ZRFMBARR TR F 205 6#

THE COMPANY
2023 2022
2023 2022 &
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F#E T
Assets EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KK A BRRIEE - =
Property, plant and equipment VI WS R 27 15
Deposits e 400 400
Investment in an associate R—REEZE AR E 42 42
Right-of-use asset PHEEE 1,569 2,616
2,038 3,073
Current assets REEE
Prepayments TEf 3B 397 380
Loan to an intermediate holding M — B EIZER A AREER
company 8,281 10,204
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU BB A B RIE 45,545 23,625
Cash and cash equivalents HeEMESEEY 90 9,808
54,313 44,017
Total assets BEE 56,351 47,090
Equity and liabilities EEREE
Equity attributable to shareholders <2 T] B% 3R FE 1k #E 25
of the Company
Share capital A& A 2,233 2,147
Reserves s 49,495 38,425
Total equity MR 51,728 40,572
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals H b RIE KRR E A 2,993 3,772
Lease liabilities HEaFE 1,067 1,078
4,060 4,850
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities HEARE 563 1,668
Total liabilities B E 4,623 6,518
Total equity and liabilities BwERRAR 56,351 47,090
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & 220234331 H 1FF/E

35. FNFMBERARRE L F 6
fili 8 B ()

(b) RXATRHELEE

Equity
component
Share of contingent Accumulated
premium consideration losses Total
RAKEWN
1758 EEEHS RitEB#E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FAET BT
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 1A 152,633 - (35,667) 116,966
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FRNEEN 2 EEIEESE
loss for the year (78,541) (78,541)
At 31 March 2022 and R2022F3A31H K
1 April 2022 2022%4A1H 152,633 - (114,208) 38,425
Issue of shares upon acquisition Uz B Ht B 2 &) B 347 X (0
of subsidiaries (Note 33(0)) (PR E33(0)) 18,123 2,276 - 20,399
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREERZHFHERE
loss for the year - - (9,329) (9,329)
At 31 March 2023 R 20233 31 H 170,756 2,276 (123,537) 49,495

36. EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

@)

On 27 April 2023, the Company entered into a sales
and purchase agreement with a buyer, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to dispose of 100% equity
interest of Prosperity One Limited and its subsidiaries,
which are principally engaged in the Viethnamese-style
restaurant business in Hong Kong, at a consideration
of HK$31,000,000. On 27 April 2023, the Company
has obtained a written shareholder’s approval from its
controlling shareholder, MSEC Holdings Limited, for
approving the disposal. Details of the disposal are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 27 April 2023.

36. HEMRREXAMESR

(@)

MR2023F 4 H27H AR A HE—F
BRFVEE R Bt ARFIRA
= & Prosperity One Limited K £ ¥
BARI00%KE  BEEAREERE
EANFUERAREERXY  REA
31,000,000 JT ° )R 2023 F 4 A 27
B AAEEEBEEZERREMSEC
Holdings Limited A = A% S L - #b
HEZEE - ZHENFRBERRAA A
HE§ 45202344 A27 BRI A o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ~ # 220234331 H1LF/Z

36. EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

(b) On 2 May 2023, the Company and China Tonghai
International Financial Limited (the “Issuer”) entered into
the subscription agreement in relation to the subscription
of bonds by the Company in the principal amount of
HK$10,000,000 issued by the Issuer bearing interest on its
outstanding principal amount from and including the issue
date at the rate of 8.5% per annum, payable on the maturity
date of 30 April 2024. The subscription was completed on
2 May 2023.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in the annual report,
there is no material subsequent event occurs after the date of
statement of financial position.

37. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The comparative figure of “advertising promotion and marketing
expenses” regarding nature of the expenses in amount of
HK$15,753,000 have been reclassified to “cost of IT solution
business” to fairly present the nature of costs incurred and
conform to the current year’s presentation.
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37.

()

R2023F5A2H » AR A A BB
HEEESRARAR ([RTADIZ
REBWHE - NDEBARR B RERET
ANEE1T 2 AN 88 410,000,000 7T 2
BEH  EFRENAEENSTERR
THE (B2iE%E) BIZFFE8.5%
B - AR EIHI B 202444 A30H
T REEIHEE R2023F5 A2 H
SERK °

B EX R FHREMBOMWEEIN - RE
BARRKAPZ R BEETABARE
S

HE#F
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Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the

AFMEGRR

AEBBERTEVRFENRENUNLEE  #

Group for the last five financial years is as follows: mREERENT :
RESULTS KR
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 F 2022 2021 F 2020 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHT T T AT
Revenue Wz 106,589 910,331 1,585,536 1,009,496 171,233
(Loss)/profit before income tax ~ BRFTS T AT (BE)
ik ) (1,370) (4,715) 33,403 (20,542) (38,440)
Income tax (expense)/credit s () & () (1,338) (7,896) (428) (4,496)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(E8R) w5 (1,372) (6,053) 25,507 (20,970)  (42,936)
Exchange differences on REBINETBEED
translation of foreign operation e i =& (6,320) 1,062 2,584 (544) -
Total comprehensive (l0ss)/ FRE2E (BB e
income for the year RS (7,692) (4,991) 28,091 (21,514) (42,936)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: AR AL (B518)
i Al
Shareholders of the Company RAEPRER (1,363) (6,029) 25,550 (20,937) (42,936)
Non-controlling interests JEIE AR M = 9) (24) (43) (33) =
(1,372) (6,053) 25507  (20,970)  (42,936)
Total comprehensive (loss)/ ITATEGERZE
income attributable to: (E518) /W 4858
Shareholders of the Company ZIN/NE] )i (7,691) (4,962) 28,137 (21,481) (42,936)
Non-controlling interests E 1) (29) (46) (33) -
(7,692) (4,991) 28,091 (21,514) (42,936)
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Five-Year Financial Summary

FFBBEHME
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAR
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 2022 2021 4F 2020 4F 20194
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FExT T T TET T T T T
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE 140,583 119,201 111,436 136,044 27,678
Current assets MEEE 83,702 79,437 448,321 106,173 97,268
Total assets BEE 224,285 198,638 559,757 242 217 124,946
Equity and liabilities EakB8E
Total equity ARELS 171,196 158,403 163,394 135,303 92,007
Non-current liabilities ERBAEE 9,584 8,954 9,798 23,546 3,893
Current liabilities mEEE 43,505 31,281 386,565 83,368 29,046
Total liabilities “AEE 53,089 40,235 396,363 106,914 32,939
Total equity and liabilities wE=kEE 224,285 198,638 559,757 = 242,217 124,946
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